





EMERGING TRENDS IN BUSINESS ECONOMICS Towards competitiveness, digitalization and financial innovation

EMERGING TRENDS IN BUSINESS ECONOMICS: TOWARDS COMPETITIVENESS, DIGITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL INNOVATION

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors

Isidora Ljumović Vladimir Simović Darko Marjanović



International scientific conference: EMERGING TRENDS IN BUSINESS ECONOMICS: TOWARDS COMPETITIVENESS, DIGITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL INNOVATION 28-29 October, 2020, Belgrade, Serbia







EMERGING TRENDS IN BUSINESS ECONOMICS: TOWARDS COMPETITIVENESS, DIGITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL INNOVATION

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors

Isidora Ljumović Vladimir Simović Darko Marjanović

International scientific conference: EMERGING TRENDS IN BUSINESS ECONOMICS: TOWARDS COMPETITIVENESS, DIGITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL INNOVATION 28-29 October, 2020, Belgrade, Serbia Publisher: Institute of Economic Sciences Zmaj Jovina 12, Belgrade, Serbia www.ien.bg.ac.rs office@ien.bg.ac.rs

For publisher: Dr. Jovan Zubović, Director

Printed by: Donat Graf, Beograd

Circulation 200

Image on the cover page: "Designed by starline / Freepik"

ISBN 978-86-89465-55-6

This Book of Abstracts is co-financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia.

Copyright© 2020 by Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade. All rights reserved.

SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

Isidora Ljumović, PhD, President of the Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Vladimir Simović, PhD, Vice-President of Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Darko Marjanović, PhD, Vice-President of Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Zoran Janevski, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia **Biljana Angelova**, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Neda Petroska-Angelovska, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Iskra Stančeva-Gigov, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Miroslav Jovanović, PhD, University of Geneva, Global Studies Institute, Switzerland

Mario Holzner, PhD, The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies, Vienna, Austria

Andrea Éltető, PhD, Institute of World Economics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary

Jean Andrei, PhD, Petroleum – Gas University of Ploiesti, Romania

Josef Taušer, PhD, University of Economics in Prague, Faculty of International Relations, Czech Republic

Marko Đogo, PhD, University of East Sarajevo, Faculty of Economics, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Nikola Milović, PhD, University of Montenegro, Faculty of Economics, University of Montenegro, Podgorica, Montenegro

Stefana Maria Dima, PhD, West University of Timișoara, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, România

Nevenka Čučković, PhD, Institute for Development and International Relations, Zagreb, Croatia

Boris Majcen, PhD, Institute for Economic Research, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Ivan Wallan Tertuliano, PhD, Anhembi Morumbi University, Sao Paulo, Brazil **Kivanc Halil Aric**, PhD, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Turkey

Vladan Pavlović, PhD, University of Priština-Kosovska Mitrovica, Faculty of Economics, Serbia

Mladen Čudanov, PhD, University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Marko Vulić, PhD, Information Technology School, Belgrade, Serbia

Dragomir Dimitrijević, PhD, University of Kragujevac, Economic Faculty, Serbia Jadranka Đurović Todorović, PhD, University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia Slobodan Rakić, PhD, Global Association of Risk Professionals, Jersey City, New Jersey, USA

Jovan Zubović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Mirjana Radović-Marković, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Jelena Minović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Slaviša Tasić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Slavica Stevanović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Sonja Djuričin, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Isidora Beraha, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Mihajlo Đukić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Duško Bodroža, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Dejana Pavlović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia Elena Jovičić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia

ORGANIZING COMMITTEE

Đina Ivanović, MA, President of the Organizing Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Nevena Jolović, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade

Valentina Vukmirović, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade

Marija Antonijević, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade

Katerina Hadzi Naumova-Mihajlovska, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Elizabeta Dzambaska, PhD, Economic Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	11
PART 1. COMPETITIVENESS AND GLOBAL GROWTH	13
1.1. HOUSING QUALITY AND HUMAN CAPITAL AVAILABILITY IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES	15
Guilherme Shirazawa, Marta Simões	
1.2. IMPACT OF THE COVID19 OUTBREAK ON MACEDONIAN TRADE FLOWS Iskra Stanceva Gigov	19
1.3. INNOVATION, FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENTS AND ECONOMIC GROWTH: CASE OF SELECTED EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES	22
Jelena Minović, Sandra Jednak	
1.4. ESTIMATION OF THE EFFECT OF LABOUR ON OUTPUT FOR DIFFERENT TECHNOLOGY INTENSIVE SECTORS OF THE MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY IN SERBIA Kosovka Ognjenović	25
1.5. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CO₂ EMISSIONS, ENERGY USE AND ECONOMIC GROWTH IN GERMANY Stephan Schlüter, Petar Mitić, Milena Kresoja	29
1.6. GROWTH AS A SOURCE OF COMPETITIVENESS: COMPARATIVE STUDY Slobodan Marić, Maja Strugar Jelača, Radmila Bjekić, Marijana Rodić	32
1.7. WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES AS AN ATTRACTIVE INVESTMENT DESTINATION	36
Darko Marjanović, Mihajlo Đukić	
1.8. AN ANALYSIS OF BILATERAL TRADE BETWEEN SERBIA AND CHINA: MAJOR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES Elena Jovičić, Danijela Stojanović	39

Т	abl	e of	Content	s
---	-----	------	---------	---

1.9. THE IMPACT OF THE BUDGET AS AN AUTOMATIC STABILIZER ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE INTEGRATED ECONOMIES	42
Brankica Todorović	
1.10. DETERMINATION OF ADAPTED KAIZEN MANAGEMENT MODEL AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION IN SERBIAN MACROENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS	46
Vuk Mirčetić, Darjan Karabašević, Svetlana Vukotić	
1.11. IMPLEMENTATION OF CIRCULARITY INTO TRANSPORT SECTOR THROUGH SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT	49
Snežana Kaplanović, Aleksandar Manojlović, Jelena Trifunović	
1.12. IMPORTANCE OF IDENTIFYING COST MANAGEMENT IN GREEN BUSINESS	52
Katerina Hadzi Naumova-Mihajlovska, Neda Petroska-Angelovska, Marija Takovska	
1.13. ECO-TOURISM AS A STIMULATION FOR TOURISM COMPETITIVENESS OF THE REPUBLIC OF NORTH MACEDONIA	55
Kiril Postolov, Marija Magdinceva Sopova, Verica Postolova	
1.14. MARKETING RESEARCH IN THE FUNCTION OF MARKET-PLACE COMPETITIVENESS	58
Nedeljko Prdić	
1.15. QUALITY OF SERVICES AS A DETERMINANT OF VOLUNTARY PENSION FUNDS COMPETITIVENESS	61
Irena Brajević	
1.16. A COMPARISON OF COMPETITIVENESS OF CEECS	64
Kıvanç Halil Ariç, Sek Siok Kun	
1.17. AGRIBUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS – THE CASE OF FRUIT PROCESSING INDUSTRY IN SERBIA	68
Marija Nikolić	
1.18. FDI CONTRIBUTION TO TECHNICAL EFFICIENCY IN THE SERBIAN MANUFACTURING SECTOR	71
Ivan Nikolić	

Emerging Trends in Business Economics	
1.19. THE IMPACT OF REGIONAL INSTITUTIONS ON FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT FLOWS IN SERBIA 2007-2018	74
Dejan Molnar, Svetozar Tanasković	
1.20. CIRCULAR ECONOMY MEASUREMENT METRICS' INDICATORS (LITERATURE REVIEW)	77
Momir Polenakovikj, Valentina Gecevska	
PART 2.	
TRENDS IN DIGITAL ECONOMY	81
2.1. RISK-SHARING AS A FUNCTION OF FINANCIAL SUPPORT OF INNOVATIO BASED ECONOMY	N- 83
Ivan Rakonjac	00
2.2. USE OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGIES IN EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES – CASE FROM SERBIA	86
Danijela Stojanović, Ivana Domazet	
2.3. COVID-19 CORONAVIRUS AS A TRIGGER: TRANSITION TO DIGITAL ECONOMY IN NORTH MACEDONIA	90
Zoran Janevski, Biljana Angelova	
2.4. EMPLOYEE PERCEPTION ON ENFORCED TELEWORK IN FINANCIAL INDUSTRY: EVIDENCE FROM SERBIA	94
Željko Spasenić, Miloš Milosavljević, Svetlana Savić	
2.5. THE FACTORS AFFECTING THE LEVEL OF DIGITAL ENTREPRENEURIAL COMPETENCES OF UNIVERSITY STUDENTS	97
Vladimir Simović	
2.6. MANAGEMENT EDUCATION USING SOCIAL MEDIA: BRIDGING THE GAP BETWEEN THEORY AND PRACTICE	100
Valentina Vukmirović, Ivana Domazet	
2.7. GAMIFICATION IN EDUCATION – CASE STUDY IN NORTH MACEDONIAN HEIS	104
Saso Josimovski, Lidija Pulevska Ivanovska, Martin Kiselicki, Zanina Kirovska	

Table	of	Contents
-------	----	----------

2.8. DIGITAL PERSPECTIVES OF SOCIAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES	107
Snezana Kostadinoska Miloseska, Vasil Popovski, Elizabeta Djambaska	
2.9. INNOVATION IN GOVERNANCE MECHANISM: CURRENT STATUS OF THE GENDER ASPECT IN THE FINANCIAL SECTOR OF SERBIA	111
Vladan Pavlović, Goranka Knežević	
2.10. DIGITAL LITERACY IN THE GENERATIONS X, Y AND Z IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA	115
Jelena Banović	
2.11. A LONG-RUN RELATION BETWEEN TOURISM AND INTERNATIONAL TRADE: EVIDENCES FROM WESTERN BALKAN	117
Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović, Aleksandar Zdravković	
2.12. ASSESSMENT OF INNOVATIVE CAPACITY OF BUSINESS ENTITIES IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA	120
Sonja Đuričin, Isidora Beraha	
2.13. THE EXPANSION OF FREELANCE WORK IN MONTENEGRO	123
Mirjana Radović Marković, Miloš Vučeković	
2.14. DIGITALIZATION AND THE USE OF DIGITAL MARKETING TOOLS IN THE OLD-SCHOOL TRADITIONAL ANTIQUES AND COLLECTIBLES INDUSTRY: A CASE STUDY	126
Katerina Fotova Čiković	
2.15. IMPACT OF DIGITALIZATION ON THE LABOUR MARKET: THE CASE OF NORTH MACEDONIA	130
Verica Janeska, Aleksandra Lozanoska	
2.16. ICT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY OF OLDER WORKERS IN EUROPE: AN ANALYSIS BASED ON SURVEY FOR HEALTH, AGEING AND RETIREMENT	134
Rui Dang, Ninoslav Marina	
2.17. MODERN ORGANIZATIONAL IDENTITY THROUGH DIGITAL MANAGEMENT	137
Silvana Jovcheska	

2.18. CONSUMER'S BEHAVIOR IN THE PERIOD OF PANDEMIC OF COVID-19 AS A POSSIBILITY FOR FOSTERING DIGITAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN REPUBLIC OF NORTH MACEDONIA	141
Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska, Natasha Daniloska, Diana Boshkovska, Vladimir Petkovski	
2.19. HOW TO GUIDE MSMES THROUGH CHALLENGING TIMES: A SURVEY ON CONSUMER BEHAVIOR HABITS IN COVID-19 CRISIS	144
Tatjana Mamula Nikolić, Karolina Perčić, Mirjana Nećak	
2.20. USING RECURRENT NEURAL NETWORK TO IMPROVE ONLINE LEARNING	149
Darjan Karabašević, Dragiša Stanujkić, Gabrijela Popović	
PART 3.	
FUTURE OF ACCESS TO FINANCE AND FINTECH	153
3.1. DEVIATIONS FROM MARKET EFFICIENCY WITHIN THE MAIN STOCK MARKET INDEXES, DURING CRISES	155
Roxana loan	
3.2. EXPANDING FINANCIAL INCLUSION FOR YOUTH: DOES DIGITALIZATION MATTER?	158
Isidora Ljumović, Dejana Pavlović	
3.3. ANALYSIS OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE IN BANKING AND PUBLIC SECTOR	161
Jelena Vapa Tankosić, Snežana Lekić	
3.4. FINANCIAL STRUCTURE OF INNOVATIVE ORGANIZATIONS IN SERBIA	165
Grozdana Marinković, Slavica Stevanović	
3.5. INTELLIGENT DATA ANALYSIS OF COMMERCIAL BANK CUSTOMERS	168
Hasan Hanić, Sonja D. Radenković, Milica Bugarčić	
3.6. PREFERENCES FOR USING PAYMENT CARDS DURING COVID 19 PANDEMI THE CASE OF NORTH MACEDONIA	C: 172
Fanka Risteska, Aneta Risteska Jankuloska, Marjan Angleski	

Table of Contents

3.7. ADOPTION OF MOBILE BANKING IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA	175
Marija Antonijević, Đina Ivanović	
3.8. CROWDFUNDING: GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION IN SEE REGION	178
Ismail Musabegović, Milena Lazić	
3.9. CONSUMER PROTECTION IN THE AGE OF INSURTECH	181
Klime Poposki, Ksenija Dencic-Mihajlov, Desislav Danov	
3.10. IDENTIFICATION OF THE SUCCESS FACTORS FROM INNOVATIVE FINTECH INITIATIVES TO THE BUSINESS MODELS	184
Dario Gechevski, Klimentina Poposka	
3.11. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE BASED MODEL IN THE PROVISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES	187
Jovanka Damoska Sekuloska, Ninoslav Marina	

PREFACE

Dear readers,

As a result of our first virtual Annual International Scientific Conference, it is our pleasure to present this year's Book of Abstract. As we put the safety and health of our participants first, the decision had been made by the Institute of Economic Sciences from Belgrade, Serbia together with the Institute of Economics from Skopje, North Macedonia to organize the Conference event in a virtual format, due to the coronavirus outbreak.

This year's Conference focused on innovations, digitalization and competitiveness and the specific topic of the Conference was "Emerging Trends in Business Economics: Towards Competitiveness, Digitalization and Financial Innovation". Over 100 participants attended the Conference, submitting 57 papers, including authors from 9 countries.

Our intention was to bring together researchers, scholars, doctoral students and policymakers to present their ideas and work to the community at large, to receive feedback and enjoy great networking opportunities, on the following topics:

- 1. Competitiveness and global growth
- 2. Trends in the digital economy
- 3. Financial innovation and Fintech

The concept of economic growth and improving competitiveness has changed in the 21st century. Physical resources, machines and manpower are no longer crucial as capital, technology and human knowledge have taken over the primacy of major development factors. All things considered, it is clear that knowledge, research, innovations and technology, accelerated by the process of digitalization, form the backbone of economic development, dominant way to create surplus value and tackle social challenges. Knowledge-based economies are already forcing the commercialization of innovation and new technologies as ways to achieve faster economic growth and generate new well-paid jobs in fairer and greener societies. As concerns developing countries, there is a need to create a better business environment, develop adequate infrastructure, as well as raising and disseminating knowledge throughout all segments of the economy. Here, in this Book of

Preface

Abstracts, contributing authors present their view and possible solutions to the chosen issues.

We are grateful to all the authors who contributed to this Book of Abstracts in fulfilment of our joint goal.

Stay safe and healthy through these unusual times!

EDITORS



PART 1.

COMPETITIVENESS AND GLOBAL GROWTH

1.1. HOUSING QUALITY AND HUMAN CAPITAL AVAILABILITY IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

Guilherme Shirazawa¹

University of Coimbra, Faculty of Economics, Coimbra, Portugal

Marta Simões²

University of Coimbra, CeBER, Faculty of Economics, Coimbra, Portugal

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is to analyse the relationship between housing quality and human capital formation in developing countries. The analysis attempts to fill a gap in the current literature regarding the lack of empirical studies that address the impact that living conditions can have on human capital formation and, consequently, on economic growth.

METHODOLOGY

We use cross-sectional data for 52 low and middle-income countries to estimate different regressions considering both a linear and quadratic relationship between human capital in the form of education and housing quality, and include also a set of control variables considered relevant human capital determinants in previous studies. Housing quality is measured as the proportion of the population that lives in sub-standard housing, a variable that aims at capturing housing quality in different countries s in a generalized and easily comparable way. The data comes from the UNESCO Institute for Statistics, which is also our main data source for the control variables (real GDP per capita; government expenditure in education; infant mortality rate; access to the internet). Human capital is measured as average years of schooling of the population aged 15 and above from the Barro and Lee education dataset.

¹ Email address: guilhermef.shirazawa@hotmail.com

² Email address: mcsimoes@fe.uc.pt

RESULTS

The findings indicate that overall there is no statistically significant relationship between the lack of housing quality and human capital although the sign of the respective estimated coefficient in the linear regression is positive, contrary to predictions. The inverted U relationship is also not confirmed by the data and dividing the sample into low income, lower-middle income and upper-middle income countries also does not improve the results. The most robust results are the positive and statistically influence of the level of development, measured as real GDP per capita, on human capital formation and the fact that higher infant mortality rates hamper educational attainment levels, our measure of human capital formation.

IMPLICATIONS

Our results do not endorse investing in access to better quality housing as a means to improve human capital availability in developing countries and in this way promote economic growth. Higher human capital formation can be achieved through lower infant mortality rates and higher income per capita.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of this research lies in the pursuit to fill a gap between the human capital and housing literatures through empirical analysis, in which better housing quality can be perceived as a factor that positively influences the wellbeing of individuals and, in turn, enables those individuals to progress to more advanced levels of education, thus raising their level of human capital.

CONTRIBUTION

The main contribution of this analysis is to show the necessity to gather a larger and more precise amount of data regarding housing quality in the context of developing economies. We found that the poor quality and quantity of this data was one of the main reasons for the lack of robustness of the results.

KEY WORDS

Human capital, education, housing quality, developing countries, cross-sectional analysis

REFERENCES

- 1. Baldacci, E., Clements, B., Gupta, S., & Cui, Q. (2008). Social spending, human capital, and growth in developing countries. *World development*, *36*(8), 1317-1341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2007.08.003
- 2. Becker, G. S. (1962). Investment in human capital: A theoretical analysis. *Journal of political economy*, *70*(5, Part 2), 9-49. https://doi.org/10.1086/258724
- 3. Benhabib, J., & Spiegel, M. M. (1994). The role of human capital in economic development evidence from aggregate cross-country data. *Journal of Monetary economics*, *34*(2), 143-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3932(94)90047-7
- 4. Bradley, R. H., & Putnick, D. L. (2012). Housing quality and access to material and learning resources within the home environment in developing countries. *Child development*, *83*(1), 76-91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01674.x
- Burns, L. S., & Tjioe, B. K. (1968). Housing and Human Resource Development. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 34(6), 396–401. doi:10.1080/01944366808977568
- 6. Hanushek, E. A., & Woessmann, L. (2011). How much do educational outcomes matter in OECD countries?. *Economic policy*, *26*(67), 427-491. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0327.2011.00265.x
- Harris, R., & Arku, G. (2006). Housing and economic development: The evolution of an idea since 1945. *Habitat International*, 30(4), 1007-1017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2005.10.003
- Healy, T., Cote, S., et al. *The Well-Being of Nations: The role of human and social capital*, Centre for Educational Research and Innovation, OECD (2001).https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264189515-sum-es
- 9. Healy, R. G. (1971). Effects of improved housing on worker performance. *Journal of Human Resources*, 297-308. https://doi.org/10.2307/144952
- Housing, C., & Council, P. (2001). Housing and schooling. *The Urban Prospect*, 7(2), 1 Howenstine, E. Jay. (1957). Appraising the Role of Housing in Economic Development.
- 11. Howenstine, E. Jay. (1957). Appraising the Role of Housing in Economic Development. International Labour Review, No.75, pp. 21-33.
- 12. Lee, J. W., & Barro, R. J. (2001). Schooling quality in a cross–section of countries. *Economica*, 68(272), 465-488. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0335.00257
- 13. Lei, J., & Zhao, Y. (2007). Technology uses and student achievement: A longitudinal study. *Computers & Education, 49*(2), 284-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2005.06.013
- 14. Mankiw, N. G., Romer, D., & Weil, D. N. (1992). A contribution to the empirics of economic growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(2), 407-437. https://doi.org/10.2307/2118477
- 15. Terzi, Fatih & Bölen, Fulin. (2008). An Analysis of the Relationship between Housing and Economic Development, presented at 48th European Congress of the Regional Science Association International, Liverpool, 2008, Liverpool, UK.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 16. UN. (2017). Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses, Revision 3. UN. https://doi.org/10.18356/bb3ea73e-en
- 17. Savvides, A., & Stengos, T. (2008). *Human capital and economic growth*. Stanford University Press. https://doi.org/10.11126/stanford/9780804755405.001.0001
- Schultz, Theodore. (1960). Capital Formation by Education. Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 68, No. 6, pp. 571-583. https://doi.org/10.1086/258393
- 19. Tibaijuka, A. (2013). *Building prosperity: Housing and economic development*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781849770040
- 20. World Bank. (1975). Housing Sector Policy Paper. World Bank, Washington, DC.

1.2. IMPACT OF THE COVID19 OUTBREAK ON MACEDONIAN TRADE FLOWS

Iskra Stanceva Gigov¹

Institute of Economics - Skopje, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Reduced demand and the disruptions in value chains, as a result of the coronavirus, are expected to have a significant impact on the external sector, especially in economies such as Macedonian, whose manufacturing sectors are more integrated into global supply chains. Hence, the main purpose of the paper is to see to what extent and in which segments the new conditions have reflected on exports and imports in the Macedonian economy, and to review the measures and activities taken in order to mitigate short-term challenges and facilitate cross-border trade.

METHODOLOGY

The paper analyzes the trend and the changes that occur both on the import and export side, in general, by selected products and by countries. The data generally refer to a period of the last 5 years. For more particular and specific analyzes, they cover the period from January 2019 until May 2020, on a monthly and quarterly basis. The main methods used for research are: method of analysis and synthesis, statistical method, historical method and inductive-deductive method.

RESULTS

The results have shown that the decline in economic activity and demand globally, including in the European Union, and thus in the most important Macedonian export partners, directly affects export sector in the country. Economy also faces serious import problems, especially due to its heavy dependence on materials needed for industrial production processes that are usually imported from the hardest-hit markets in Europe. The trade measures are mainly designed to avoid unnecessary barriers to trade and disruption of global supply chains.

¹ Email address: iskra@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

IMPLICATIONS

The scientific and business community will get a picture of the trade flows in the country in the newly created conditions and based on that they will be able to give their recommendations for overcoming the situation.

The limitations of this paper are seen in the short period of time for analysis, as well as the simplified analysis without more specific correlation with other key variables, which remains a challenge to be achieved in future papers. Another potential for future research is the measurement of the effects of the implemented trade measures in the country.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Given that foreign trade flows in the conditions of coronavirus are completely new and so far little considered, it gives original value to the paper and points to new results and knowledge of the analyzed issues.

CONTRIBUTION

Although it is still early to fully quantify the negative effects of the coronavirus, this paper provides some of the latest insights into the reflection of pandemic conditions on the country's foreign trade flows, as well as points to the newly introduced measures and activities in the country to mitigate conditions.

KEY WORDS

Covid19 outbreak, export, import, Macedonian economy

REFERENCES

- Maliszewska, M., Mattoo, A. & Van der Mensbrugghe, D. (2020). The Potential Impact of COVID-19 on GDP and Trade: A Preliminary Assessment. Policy Research Working Paper 9211. World Bank Group. http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/295991586526445673/pdf/The-Potential-Impact-of-COVID-19-on-GDP-and-Trade-A-Preliminary-Assessment.pdf
- 2. Ministry of Finance of the Republic of North Macedonia. https://finance.gov.mk/en/node/21
- 3. National Bank of the Republic of North Macedonia. https://www.nbrm.mk/pocetnaen.nspx
- 4. OECED (2020). THE COVID-19 CRISIS IN THE WESTERN BALKANS: Economic impact, policy responses, and short-term sustainable solutions. http://www.oecd.org/south-east-europe/COVID-19-Crisis-Response-Western-Balkans.pdf

Iskra Stanceva Gigov

- 5. OECED (2020). THE COVID-19 CRISIS IN NORTH MACEDONIA. https://www.oecd.org/south-east-europe/COVID-19-Crisis-in-North-Macedonia.pdf
- 6. State Statistical Office of the Republic of North Macedonia. http://www.stat.gov.mk/Default_en.aspx
- World Bank Group (2020). The Economic and Social Impact of COVID-19. Western Balkans Outlook. Western Balkans Regular Economic Report. No.17. http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/606131588087679463/pdf/The-Economic-and-Social-Impact-of-COVID-19-Western-Balkans-Outlook.pdf
- 8. World Trade Organization (2020). TRADE STATISTICS AND OUTLOOK. Trade set to plunge as COVID-19 pandemic upends global economy. PRESS/855. https://www.wto.org/english/news_e/pres20_e/pr855_e.htm

1.3. INNOVATION, FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENTS AND ECONOMIC GROWTH: CASE OF SELECTED EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES

Jelena Minović¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Sandra Jednak²

Faculty of Organizational Sciences, University of Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Innovation, investments in research and development (R&D), as well as investments in technology, are a basis for ensuring the competitiveness and progress of some countries, and thus for sustainable economic growth. The aim of this paper is to examine the interdependence of innovations (measured by R&D expenditure), foreign direct investments (FDI) and economic growth (measured by GDP) in the observed period from 2000 to 2017 for selected EU (Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia) and non-EU (North Macedonia, Serbia, Turkey) countries.

METHODOLOGY

The causality analysis between economic growth, innovation and foreign direct investments is based on the panel technique. Granger non-causality test was used to examine causality. Before that, the stationarity of the variables was examined using different unit root tests (Levin, Lin & Chu; Im, Pesaran and Shin; ADF - Fisher Chi-square, and PP - Fisher Chi-square). In order to quantify innovations, we use the so-called Summary Innovation Index, and Research and development expenditure (% of GDP).

RESULTS

Our results reveal that there is a bidirectional relationship between GDP and FDI, GDP and R&D expenditure, and FDI and R&D expenditure (according to Stacked

¹ Email address: jelena.minovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: jednak.sandra@fon.bg.ac.rs

Jelena Minović, Sandra Jednak

Granger causality test). Then, there is a unidirectional relationship between FDI and GDP, between R&D expenditure and GDP, and between FDI and R&D expenditure (according to Dumitrescu Hurlin non-causality test).

IMPLICATIONS

According to the Summary Innovation Index published by the European Commission, in a group of modest innovator countries are Bulgaria, Romania and North Macedonia. In contrast, in a group of moderate innovator are the following countries: Croatia, Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Serbia and Turkey. Thus, countries such as Bulgaria, Romania and North Macedonia should still invest in innovation in order to move from "modest innovator" status to "moderate innovator" status.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first paper that presents that there is the relationship between gross domestic product, foreign direct investments and research and development expenditure for an abovementioned group of countries and no previous study has been conducted using the presented methodology.

CONTRIBUTION

It has been shown that for selected EU and non-EU countries in the observed period, investment in research and development is significant and it has a direct impact on attracting foreign direct investments and consequently on economic growth. Therefore, economic policymakers should pay more attention to investing in research and development as well as investing in innovation in both EU and non-EU countries to ensure the economic development of these countries.

KEY WORDS

Innovation, R&D expenditure, foreign direct investments, economic growth, causality

REFERENCES

- Alfaro, L., & Chauvin, J. (2016). Foreign direct investment, finance, and economic development. Chapter for the Encyclopedia of International Economics and Global Trade, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/88fc/41123677315751a655ae0eda380e49b28e16. pdf
- 2. Bilbao-Osorio, B., & Rodríguez-Pose, A. (2004). From R&D to innovation and economic growth in the EU. *Growth and Change*, *35*(4), 434-455.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 3. Cameron, G. (1996). *Innovation and economic growth* (No. 277). Centre for Economic Performance, London School of Economics and Political Science.
- 4. Cheung, K. Y., & Ping, L. (2004). Spillover effects of FDI on innovation in China: Evidence from the provincial data. *China economic review*, *15*(1), 25-44.
- 5. Chowdhury, A., & Mavrotas, G. (2006). FDI and growth: What causes what?. *World* economy, 29(1), 9-19.
- 6. Dzemyda, I., & Melnikas, B. (2009). Inovations, Research and Development in European Union: Impact on Regional Economy. *Intellectual Economics*, 1(5), 30-38.
- 7. Gerguri, S., & Ramadani, V. (2010). The impact of innovation into the economic growth. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/22270/
- 8. Hasan, I., & Tucci, C. L. (2010). The innovation–economic growth nexus: Global evidence. *Research policy*, *39*(10), 1264-1276.
- 9. Kacprzyk, A., & Doryń, W. (2017). Innovation and economic growth in old and new member states of the European Union. *Economic research-Ekonomska istraživanja*, *30*(1), 1724-1742.
- 10. Khachoo, Q., & Sharma, R. (2016). FDI and innovation: An investigation into intra-and inter-industry effects. *Global Economic Review*, *45*(4), 311-330.
- 11. Maradana, R. P., Pradhan, R. P., Dash, S., Gaurav, K., Jayakumar, M., & Chatterjee, D. (2017). Does innovation promote economic growth? Evidence from European countries. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, *6*(1), 1-23.
- 12. Mencinger, J. (2003). Does foreign direct investment always enhance economic growth?. *Kyklos*, *56*(4), 491-508.
- 13. Pece, A. M., Simona, O. E. O., & Salisteanu, F. (2015). Innovation and economic growth: An empirical analysis for CEE countries. *Procedia Economics and Finance, 26*, 461-467.
- 14. Peleckis, K., Tvaronavičius, V., & Tvaronavičienė, A. (2009). Analysis of Foreign Capital Inflow Impact on Inovative Growth: The Baltic States in the Context of the European Union. *Societal Studies*, 1(1), 245-268.
- 15. Raheem, I. D., & Ogebe, J. O. (2014). External financial flows, policies and growth in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Global and Scientific Issues*, *2*(4), 21-32.
- 16. Sivalogathasan, V., & Wu, X. (2014). The effect of foreign direct investment on innovation in south Asian emerging markets. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 33(3), 63-76.
- 17. Ulku, H. (2004). *R and D, Innovation, and Economic Growth: An Empirical Analysis* (No. 4-185). International Monetary Fund.
- 18. Uppenberg, K. (2009). Innovation and economic growth. *eib Papers*, *14*(1). https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/44901/1/61877890X.pdf
- 19. Veselinova, E., & Gogova Samonikov, M. (2012). SMEs innovation and growth in EU. *Management Journal for Theory and Practice Management*, (64), 87-94.
- 20. Wang, M., & Sunny Wong, M. C. (2009). What drives economic growth? The case of cross-border M&A and greenfield FDI activities. *Kyklos*, *62*(2), 316-330.

1.4. ESTIMATION OF THE EFFECT OF LABOUR ON OUTPUT FOR DIFFERENT TECHNOLOGY INTENSIVE SECTORS OF THE MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY IN SERBIA

Kosovka Ognjenović¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

This paper estimates the effects of employment on output in the manufacturing industry of Serbia. Special emphasis was placed on the manufacturing industry due to the changes it was exposed to during the first and second waves of privatization. The privatization process has led to changes in the structure of production of the manufacturing industry, the importance of branches and the share of the business entities by branches. This had a significant impact on GDP and overall employment.

METHODOLOGY

For the purposes of the analysis in this paper, twenty three branches of the manufacturing industry are aggregated into four groups according to the level of technological complexity: from high technology intensive to low technology intensive sectors of the manufacturing industry. The dependent variable is the output level of the manufacturing industry and the main independent variable is the number of employees. Variables are given on an annual basis by technology intensity in the period 2001-2017. The dependences are estimated by using dynamic panel data estimators.

RESULTS

The real output of the manufacturing industry, especially in low- and medium-low technology intensive sectors, grew faster than the real output of medium-high and high technology intensive sectors. In contrast, the number of employees in the low-performance manufacturing sectors declined steadily until the end of 2000s, and then increased. On the other hand, sectors of high and medium-high technology intensity significantly reduced the number of employees. Although a number of

¹ Email address: kosovka.ognjenovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

companies have been shut down in some industries with low technological performance, due to the requirements of advanced technologies and market adoption, the skills of employees have been substantially improved. Therefore, the estimated relationship between employment and real output is positive and statistically significant.

IMPLICATIONS

This paper has revealed that a significant gap between high and low technology intensive sectors of the manufacturing industry exists. The low share of high- and medium-high technology intensive sectors in the output of the manufacturing industry is an indicator of slow economic development. In addition, the productivity of medium-high technology intensive sectors lags behind the branches of lower technological complexity. These conclusions could provide significant input to decision makers when adopting manufacturing industry development policies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Econometric techniques for dynamic panel data models are used in this paper. The branches of the manufacturing industry are aggregated into four groups depending on the level of technological complexity, in accordance with the methodological recommendations of Eurostat. Most of the studies that dealt with this issue did not use econometric models and determine correlations in the analysis, but were mainly based on descriptive statistical analyzes. This is the first study to use dynamic panel data models in estimating the real output and employment dependencies at this level of sector aggregation.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper presents a contribution to the areas of applied econometric analysis of panel data and sectorial economic analysis. The paper estimates the effects of employment on the real output and ranks their significance depending on the level of technological complexity of the branches of the manufacturing industry.

KEY WORDS

Labor, output, manufacturing, technological change

Kosovka Ognjenović

REFERENCES

- Arellano, M. & Bond, S. (1991). Some tests of specification for panel data: Monte Carlo evidence and an application to employment equations. *Review of Economic Studies* 58 (2): 277–297. https://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2297968
- 2. Barrell, R., Mason, G. & O'Mahoney, M. (Eds.). (2000). *Productivity, Innovation and Economic Performance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 3. Blundell, R. & Bond, S. (1998). Initial conditions and moment restrictions in dynamic panel data models. *Journal of Econometrics* 87 (1): 115–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(98)00009-8
- 4. Damiani, M. & Uvalić, M. (2014). Industrial development in the EU: What lessons for the future Member States? *Croatian Economic Survey* 16 (1): 5-48. https://dx.doi.org/10.15179/ces.16.1.1
- 5. Despotović, D. (2019). Unapređenje inovativnosti privrede Republike Srbije u funkciji evropskih integracija. In Obradović, V. et al. (eds.) *Ekonomski efekti tranzicije i restrukturiranja privrede Srbije u funkciji evropskih integracija* (pp. 121-134). Kragujevac: Faculty of Economics.
- Drašković, B. (2014). Slom industrijskog sektora u Srbiji: postoje li šanse za reindustrijalizaciju. In Drašković, B. (ed.) *Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji: mogućnosti revitalizacije industrijskog sektora* (pp. 107-133). Belgrade: Institute of Economic Sciences.
- Konstantinos Drakos, K. & Kallandranis, C. (2006). Modelling labour demand dynamics beyond the frictionless environment. *Labour* 20(4): 699-720. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9914.2006.00357.x
- 8. Griliches, Z. (1968). Production functions in manufacturing: some additional results. *Southern Economic Journal* 35(2): 151-156. http://dx.doi.org/10.23071056324
- 9. Eurostat. (2009). High-technology and knowledge based services aggregations based on NACE Rev. 2. Annex. epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY_SDDS/Annexes/htec_esms_an3.pdf
- 10. Jovičić, M. & Dragutinović Mitrović, R. (2011). *Ekonometrijski metodi i modeli*. Belgrade: Faculty of Economics.
- 11. Mićić, V. (2019). Obnovljena strategija industrijske politike EU-Poruke za Republiku Srbiju. In Obradović, V. et al. (eds.) *Ekonomski efekti tranzicije i restrukturiranja privrede Srbije u funkciji evropskih integracija* (pp. 135-149). Kragujevac: Faculty of Economics.
- 12. Link, A. & Siegel, D. (2003). *Technological Change and Economic Performance*. London and New York: Routledge.
- 13. Nickell, S. (1984). An investigation of the determinants of manufacturing employment in the United Kingdom. *Review of Economic Studies* 51 (4): 529–558. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2297778
- 14. Vaaler, P.M. & McNamara, G. (2010). Are technology-intensive industries more dynamically competitive? No and yes. *Organization Science* 21 (1): 271–289. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1080.0392

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 15. Veugelers, R. (Ed.). (2013). *Manufacturing Europe's Future*. Brussels: Bruegel Blueprint Series, vol. XXI. Retrieved from http://www.bruegel.org/publications/publication-detail/publication/795-manufacturing-europes-future/
- Vonortas, N.S. (2000). Technology policy in the United States and the European Union: Shifting orientation towards technology users. *Science and Public Policy* 27 (2): 97– 108. http://dx.doi.org/10.3152/147154300781782075
- 17. Windmeijer, F. (2005). A finite sample correction for the variance of linear efficient two-step GMM estimators. *Journal of Econometrics* 126 (1): 25–51. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeconom.2004.02.005

1.5. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CO₂ EMISSIONS, ENERGY USE AND ECONOMIC GROWTH IN GERMANY

Stephan Schlüter¹

Faculty of Mathematics, Natural and Economic Sciences, University of Applied Sciences Ulm, Ulm, Germany

Petar Mitić²

Milena Kresoja³ Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The relationship between increasing environmental degradation and different economic and social activities has been in the focus of scientific research. The degradation of the environment is one of the most significant problems of modern societies where GHG, including CO_2 emissions as the most important, are highly influential factors of environmental degradation. The main objective of this paper is to determine what are the main causes of CO_2 emissions in Germany for the period 1970-2015.

METHODOLOGY

In this paper, we set up a multivariate linear model that allows for the investigation of trends, outliers, and autocorrelation. We use CO_2 emissions per capita as a dependent variable and various indicators such as GDP per capita, foreign direct investments, or trade openness as explanatory variables. For the analysis of cross-effects and directions of causality, we use the Granger test. The model itself is calibrated using the least squares optimization technique.

¹ Email address: stephan.schlueter@thu.de

² Email address: petar.mitic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ Email address: milena.kresoja@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Results show that one can describe Germany's annual CO_2 emissions per capita fairly adequate using a multivariate linear model with six input parameters (GDP per capita, foreign direct investment, trade openness, and energy use, number of urban and rural population). All input parameters are significant, and the overall standard deviation of the error is approximately 1.6% of the average CO_2 emissions. Furthermore, we are able to show which factors have positive and negative effects.

IMPLICATIONS

Germany, as a developed country, acts in accordance with the majority of regional and global policy incentives and measures aimed at decreasing CO₂ emissions. It has developed economic instruments such as emission-trading scheme and environmental taxation, but additional efforts have to be made with regards to decreasing fossil fuel use (government and regional authorities agreed on a plan to terminate coal power stations by 2038) and accepting circular economy postulates.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

As far as we know, there is no other research investigating this phenomenon for Germany for this period. Majority of studies that include Germany, do it in a panel setting – examining these economy-environment interrelations within the context of G7, EU, or OECD.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the existing literature in several ways. It provides up to date input on the state of the environment-economy nexus in Germany. Furthermore, it provides policymakers, academia, and all interested parties with a quantitative overview of interconnections between the selected variables and opens additional research questions. We must point out that these results do not explain all underlying factors of relationships presented here.

KEYWORDS

CO₂ emissions, economic growth, environmental quality, Germany

REFERENCES

- 1. Andreoni, V., & Galmarini, S. (2016). Drivers in CO₂ emissions variation: A decomposition analysis for 33 world countries. *Energy*, *103*, 27-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.02.096
- Blesl, M., Das, A., Fahl, U., & Remme, U. (2007). Role of energy efficiency standards in reducing CO2 emissions in Germany: An assessment with TIMES. *Energy policy*, 35(2), 772-785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.05.013
- 3. Burda, M., & Wyplosz, C. (2013). *Macroeconomics: a European text*. Oxford university press.
- Cai, Y., Sam, C. Y., & Chang, T. (2018). Nexus between clean energy consumption, economic growth and CO₂ emissions. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 182, 1001-1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.035
- Earth.Org. (2020, July 6). Germany to Phase Out Coal by 2038- A Done Deal? Earth.Org
 Past | Present | Future. https://earth.org/germany-to-phase-out-coal-by-2038-adone-deal/
- Mitić, P., Kresoja M., & Minović J. (2019). A Literature Survey of the Environmental Kuznets Curve. *Economic Analysis*, 52(1): 109-127. https://doi.org/10.28934/ea.19.52.12.pp109-127
- Pao, H. T., & Tsai, C. M. (2011). Multivariate Granger causality between CO2 emissions, energy consumption, FDI (foreign direct investment) and GDP (gross domestic product): evidence from a panel of BRIC (Brazil, Russian Federation, India, and China) countries. *Energy*, *36*(1), 685-693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2010.09.041
- Petrović-Ranđelović, M., Mitić, P., Zdravković, A., Cvetanović, D., & Cvetanović, S. (2020). Economic growth and carbon emissions: evidence from CIVETS countries. *Applied Economics*, 52(16), 1806-1815. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2019.1679343
- 9. Proops, J. L., Faber, M., & Wagenhals, G. (2012). *Reducing CO*₂ *Emissions: A Comparative Input-output-study for Germany and the UK*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 10. Tietenberg, T. H., & Lewis, L. (2016). *Environmental and natural resource economics*. Routledge.
- 11. Wang, S., Li, Q., Fang, C., & Zhou, C. (2016). The relationship between economic growth, energy consumption, and CO₂ emissions: Empirical evidence from China. *Science of the Total Environment*, 542, 360-371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.10.027

1.6. GROWTH AS A SOURCE OF COMPETITIVENESS: COMPARATIVE STUDY

Slobodan Marić¹ Maja Strugar Jelača² Radmila Bjekić³ Marijana Rodić⁴

University of Novi Sad, The Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Porter (1998) argues that the only meaningful concept of competitiveness is national productivity. The World Economic Forum (WEF) used Porter's (1998) definition to derive the Global Competitiveness Index (GCI), which is recognized as the measure of international competitiveness. This paper seeks to consider economic growth as a potential source of competitiveness, thus ensuring economic development as a whole. Economic development plays a significant role in these characteristics, since the conditions of competitiveness are different at each level of economic development of the observed methodology. In addition to the analysis of the impact of economic growth on the level of competitiveness, other development indicators such as exports and employment rates will be observed.

METHODOLOGY

Competitiveness as well as economic growth are conditioned by the degree of economic development. For this reason, a sample of 141 countries will be analyzed divided into three subsamples in relation to the degree of development according to the methodology of the World Economic Forum with the formation of another group of countries by the authors: group 1- factor driven economies (to 3000 \$ GDP per capita), group 2 efficiency driven post - transitional economies (up to \$ 17,000 GDP per capita), group 3 efficiency driven other countries (up to \$ 17,000 GDP per capita).

¹ Email address: marics@ef.uns.ac.rs

² Email address: m.strugar.jelaca@ef.uns.ac.rs

³ Email address: rstojanovic@ef.uns.ac.rs

⁴ Email address: rodic.marijana@gmail.com

Slobodan Marić, Maja Strugar Jelača, Radmila Bjekić, Marijana Rodić

capita) and group 4 innovation driven economies (from \$ 17,000 GDP per capita). For the purposes of checking the research assumptions, parametric quantitative procedures will be used both for the purpose of determining the differences between the mentioned subsamples and for the purposes of examining the correlation of the observed characteristics.

RESULTS

The results confirm the credibility of previous research in the defined area. Different levels of economic development observed within defined groups of countries show different conditions for economic growth and thus international competitiveness.

IMPLICATIONS

The main implications in this paper are related to the analysis of the observed characteristics, primarily economic growth and competitiveness, at different levels of economic development that is specific to each group of countries in the sample. In this way, one comes to the realization of each feature that has distinct specifics and mutual causal links at different levels of economic development.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The special contribution of this research work is reflected predominantly in defining the research space which has been changed in relation to the known methodology by separating the group of post - transition countries as a special part of the research space and determining its specifics in relation to the observed features.

CONTRIBUTION

The results of this study can be helpful in government policymaking to stimulate economic activity and performance. In addition, by knowing countries' competitive advantage, businessman can choose and develop their businesses more effectively.

KEY WORDS

Growth, economic development, competitiveness, GCI

REFERENCES

- 1. Bogliacino, F., Pianta, M. (2011). "Engines of growth. Innovation and productivity in industry groups", *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics* 22, pp. 41-53.
- 2. Capello, R., Caragliu, A., & Fratesi, U. (2017). Modeling regional growth between competitiveness and austerity measures: The MASST3 model. *International Regional Science Review*, 40(1), 38-74.
- 3. Carvalho, L., Di Serio, L. & Vasconcellos, M. (2012). Competitiveness of Nations: Review of the Metric Used by the World Economic Forum. *Revista de Administração de Empresas*, 52(4).
- 4. Caseiro, C., & Simões, M. C. (2019). Business Sector Innovation and Economic Growth a Comparative Analysis Between EU Countries. *Economic Analysis*, *52*(1), 1-22.
- 5. Charles, I.J. (1995). "R & D-based models of economic growth", *Journal of Political Economy* 103, No. 4.
- 6. Diaz Sanchez, J. L., & Varoudakis, A. (2013). Growth and competitiveness as factors of Eurozone external imbalances: evidence and policy implications. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, (6732).
- 7. Domazet, I., Zubović, J., & Lazić, M. (2018). Driving Factors of Serbian Competitiveness–Digital Economy and ICT. *Strategic management: international journal of strategic management and decision support systems in strategic management*, 23(1), 20-28.
- 8. Freudenberg, M. (2003). Composite Indicators of Country Performance: A Critical Assessment, OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers, 2003/16.
- 9. Harris, R. G. (2011) "Models of regional growth: Past, present and future", *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 25, pp. 913-951.
- 10. Huggins, R. and Izushi, H. (eds) (2011) *Competition, Competitive Advantage, and Clusters: The Ideas of Michael Porter*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 11. Kordalska, A., & Olczyk, M. (2016). Global Competitiveness and Economic Growth: A One-Way or Two-Way Relationship?. *Equilibrium. Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*, 11(1), pp. 121-142.
- 12. Lucas, R.E. (1988). "On mechanisms of economic development", *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 22, pp. 3-42.
- 13. Mansfield, E., (1972). "Contribution of Research and Development to Economic Growth of the United States", *Papers and Proceedings of a Colloquim on Research and Development and Economic Growth Productivity*, National Science Foundation, Washington, DC.
- 14. Petrariu, I. R., Bumbac, R., & Ciobanu, R. (2013). Innovation: a path to competitiveness and economic growth. The case of CEE countries. *Theoretical and Applied Economics*, 20(5 (582)), 15–26.
- 15. Rodriguez, F., & Rodrik, D. (2000). Trade policy and economic growth: a skeptic's guide to the cross-national evidence. *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, *15*, 261–325.
- 16. Rodríguez-Pose, A. (1998). "Dynamics of regional growth in Europe", *Social and political factors*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Slobodan Marić, Maja Strugar Jelača, Radmila Bjekić, Marijana Rodić

- 17. Romer, P. (1986). "Increasing returns and long-run growth", *Journal of Political Economy*, 94, pp. 1002-1037.
- 18. Solow, R.M. (1956). "A contribution to the theory of economic growth", *Quarterly Journal of Economics,* 70, pp. 65-94.
- 19. World Economic Forum, (2019). *The Global Competitiveness Report 2018–2019*. Geneva.
1.7. WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES AS AN ATTRACTIVE INVESTMENT DESTINATION

Darko Marjanović¹ Mihajlo Đukić² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Foreign direct investments are very important for each country as they could significantly contribute to its economic development. The importance of foreign direct investments reflects in their ability to contribute to development of comparative advantages and competitiveness. The aim of this paper is to analyze characteristics of the inflow of foreign direct investments in the Western Balkans (WB) countries, as well as the impact they might have on their economic growth and development.

METHODOLOGY

In order to determine the amount of foreign direct investments, but also the position, ie. competitiveness of each of the observed countries, there have been used secondary data from official UNCTAD reports. The paper will also present an analysis of the greenfield investments for selected economies, as very important type of foreign investments that probably have the largest positive spillovers. The time period covered by this research was from 2010 to 2019.

RESULTS

In the last 20 years, WB countries have tried to attract as many foreign investors as possible using various policy incentives. Foreign direct investment inflows followed the pace economic transformation and reforms towards a market economy, leading to economic growth. The results of the conducted research indicate that Serbia is the most attractive investment destination, considering that in the observed

¹ Email address: darko.marjanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: mihajlo.djukic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Darko Marjanović, Mihajlo Đukić

period, more than 60% of the total amount of foreign direct investments that were directed to the countries of the Western Balkans ended up on its territory.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this research can be important for the economic policy makers, but also to all other stakeholders, whether they participate in creating a business environment for foreign investors or deal with the promotion of the country as an investment destination. Based on the conducted analysis, it will be possible to analyze the competitive position of each of the Western Balkan countries, its comparative advantages and disadvantages, which could be a solid basis for development of the future investment policies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Foreign direct investments are still very relevant topic that is often discussed in the literature, especially in terms of their impact on the development of national economies, both in developed countries and developing countries. However, so far there have not been many papers analyzing foreign direct investment focusing particulary on the differences between WB countries.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the understanding of the importance of foreign direct investments and their impact on the development of the WB countries. Countries that, through their overall policy, ensure stable business environment will certainly attract larger amount of foreign direct investment of greater quality. Therefore, it is very important to consider all aspects of attracting foreign investments, propose adequate system solutions and create appropriate policies that will attractiveness of the WB economies as investment destinations.

KEY WORDS

Foreign direct investments, Western Balkans, investors, economic development

REFERENCES

1. Andersen, M., Kett, B., & Uexkull, E. (2018). Corporate Tax Incentives and FDI in Developing Countries. *International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank*, 73-99.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 2. Bekmurodova, G. (2020). Theoretical Features of FDI (Foreign Direct Investment) and its Influence to Economic Growth. *International Journal of Management Science and Business Administration*, 6(2), 33-39.
- 3. Bolivar, L.M., Casanueva, C., & Castro, I. (2019). Global Foreign Direct Investment: A network perspective. *International Business Review*, 28(4), 696-712.
- 4. Cazzavillan, G., & Olszewski, K. (2012). Interaction between foreign financial services and foreign direct investment in Transition Economies: An empirical analysis with focus on the manufacturing sector. *Research in Economics*, *66*(4), 305–319.
- Domazet, I., & Marjanović, D. (2018). FDI as a Factor of Improving the Competitiveness of Developing Countries: FDI and Competitiveness. In: Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) and Opportunities for Developing Economies in the World Market / Editors V. Malepati, C. Mangala. Hershey, PA: *Business Science Reference*, 82-104.
- 6. Domazet I., & Marjanović, D. (2017). Foreign direct investment in the function of economic development: Example of selected countries in the Western Balkan. *International Letters of Social and Humanistic Sciences*, 79, 1-15.
- 7. Kirkegaard, J.F. (2020). Chines Investment in the US and the EU is Declining-for Similar Reasons. *China & World Economy*, 28(2), 59-83.
- 8. Li, C., & Tanna, S. (2019). The impact of foreign direct investment on productivity: New evidence for developing countries. *Economic Modelling*, 80, 453-466.
- 9. Marjanović, D. (2018). Competitiveness of the Serbian Economy Through the Prism of Tax Incentives for Foreign Investors. *Economic Analysis*, 51(3-4), 95-104.
- Marjanović, D., & Domazet, I. (2018). Unapređenje makro konkurentnosti fiskalni aspekti [Improving macro competitiveness - fiscal aspects]. Belgrade: Institute of Economic Sciences.
- 11. Meunier, S. (2017). Integration by Stealth: How the European Union Gained Competence over Foreign Direct Investment. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 55(3), 593-610.
- 12. Olney, W.W. (2013). A race to the bottom? Employment protection and foreign direct investment. *Journal of International Economics*, 91(2), 191-203.
- 13. Paul, J., & Jadhav, P. (2019). Institutional determinants of foreign direct investments inflows: evidence from emerging markets. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, 15(2), 245-261.
- 14. Stošić, I., Nikolić, D., & Đukić, M. (2011). Attractiveness of Serbia for foreign direct investments: tendencies, obstacles and perspectives. In: Serbia and the European Union: economic lessons from the new member states. Coimbra: *Facultade de economia Universidade de Coimbra*, 47-60.
- 15. Vuković, V., & Domazet, I. (2013). Non-performing loans and systemic risk: Comparative analysis of Serbia and countries in transition CESEE. *Industrija*, *41*(4), 59-73.
- 16. Zdravković, A., Đukić, M., & Bradić-Martinović, A. (2017). Impact on unemployment in transition countries: Panel cointegration approach. *Industrija*, 45(1), 161-174.
- 17. Zeneli, V. (2015). Corruption, Foreign Direct Investment, and International Marketing in the Western Balkans. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 58(3), 277-291.

1.8. AN ANALYSIS OF BILATERAL TRADE BETWEEN SERBIA AND CHINA: MAJOR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Elena Jovičić¹ Danijela Stojanović² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Considering the growing presence of China in Serbia and deepening the overall bilateral relations, the main objective of the paper is to analyze the major trends and changes in the bilateral merchandise trade between both countries. The paper also focuses on exploring the main challenges as well as determinants for enhancement of trade relationships in the upcoming period.

METHODOLOGY

The conducted analysis is descriptive and based on secondary data. The period from 2010 to 2019 is observed, although on several occasions references to first half of 2020 are made. Data on merchandise trade by the Standard International Trade Classification (SITC) are collected from the Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. Data are in current U.S. dollars.

RESULTS

The total trade between Serbia and China has been steadily growing over the last decade. The value of total trade in 2019 compared to 2010 is increased by almost twice, the value of imported and exported goods grew by 1,5 times and almost 15 times, respectively.

Despite the rapid growth, there are some obstacles in trade relations between Serbia and China. One of the main challenges stems from the fact that China shares its influence in Serbia using investments rather than trade. On the other side, Serbia doesn't have enough capacity to meet Chines market demand.

¹ Email address: elena.baranenko@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: danijela.stojanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

IMPLICATIONS

The research, based on the conducting of comprehensive analysis of bilateral trade flows, would enable a better understanding of the development of the trade relations between Serbia and China and more appropriate planning of the future steps towards improving the current situation and eliminating main obstacles.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of this paper lies in the detailed analysis of the bilateral trade between Serbia and China, including examining main trends and mapping the main changes in the trade structure and the factors which have contributed the changes over the last decade. Besides, the paper also discerns the main obstacles and identifies key strength and enhancement opportunities.

CONTRIBUTION

Paper brings in focus highly topical and relevant issue – trade relations between Serbia and China in light of China's growing presence and the deepening mutual economic interdependence. Bearing in mind that there is relatively scarce research on this topic, the paper could contribute to the literature by widening the existing knowledge.

KEY WORDS

Bilateral trade, exports, imports, Serbia, China

- Andrijauskas, K., Bachulska, A., Bērziņa-Čerenkova, U. A., Karásková, I., Karindi, L., & Szunomár, Á. (2020). Empty shell no more: China's growing footprint in Central and Eastern Europe.
- 2. Babić, B. (2016). New silk road China's new deal in: Dimitrijević, D (ed.) Danube and the new silk road, 45.
- 3. Baranenko, E., & Đukić, M. (2012). Ways for enhancement of export activities. *Managing structural changes: trends and requirements*. 520-536
- 4. Bloom, N., Draca, M., & Van Reenen, J. (2016). Trade induced technical change? The impact of Chinese imports on innovation, IT and productivity. *The review of economic studies*, *83*(1), 87-117. https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdv039
- 5. Bugarčić, F. Ž., Jurevičienė, D., & Janković, N. (2020). The new "Silk Road": global aspect, EU position and economic role of Serbia. In *11th International Scientific Conference "Business and Management 2020 "*.

Elena Jovičić, Danijela Stojanović

- 6. Chen, X., & Yang, C. (2016). *An Quantitative Analysis on China-CEEC Economic and Trade Cooperation* (Vol. 10, No. 5). Working Paper Series on European Studies. Institute of European Studies, Chinese Academy of Social Science.
- 7. Chen, X., & Yang, C. (2016). Serbian industrial competitiveness and China-Serbia cooperation. *Danube and the new silk road*, 289.
- 8. Cheng, L. K. (2016). Three questions on China's "belt and road initiative". *China Economic Review*, 40, 309-313.
- 9. Edmonds, C., & Li, Y. (2010). A new perspective on China trade growth: Application of a new index of bilateral trade intensity. *Honolulu: University of Hawaii at Manoa, Department of Economics, Working Papers, 201025.*
- 10. Egger, P., & Larch, M. (2008). *The bilateral and multilateral trade effects of road and railway transport infrastructure*. Ifo Institute for Economic Research. Ludwig-Maximilian University of Munich
- 11. Jacimovic, D., Dragutinović Mitrović, R., Bjelić, P., Tianping, K. and Rajkovic, M., 2018. The role of Chinese investments in the bilateral exports of new EU member states and Western Balkan countries. *Economic research-Ekonomska istraživanja*, *31*(1), pp.1185-1197.
- 12. Jelisavac Trošić, S., Stojanović-Višić, B., & Petrović, V. (2018). New opportunities for further improvement of economic cooperation between Serbia and China. *The Review of International Affairs*, 69, 21-35.
- 13. Jojić, S. (2017). *How Serbia perceives "The Belt and the Road" Initiative and 16+ 1 Cooperation*. China–CEE Institute Working Paper, (9).
- Li, J., & Huang, Z. (2019). On the way to the Silk Road: trade, investment, and finance in emerging economies. *Journal Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 55(14), 3131– 3133. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496X.2019.1644104
- 15. Li, Y., & Schmerer, H. J. (2017). Trade and the New Silk Road: opportunities, challenges, and solutions. *Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies*, 15(3), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/14765284.2017.1347473
- 16. Marić, B. (2017). Novi "put svile". *Anali poslovne ekonomije*, 9(17), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.7251/APE1717037M
- 17. Marjanovic, V., & Marjanović, M. (2019). Using comparative advantage of the Republic of Serbia in the function of the export effects. *TEME*, 489-510.
- 18. Obradović, S., & Lojanica, N. (2019). Export-LED growth: Evidence from postcommunist Serbia. *Romanian Journal of Economic Forecasting*, *22*(2), 131.
- 19. Perić, M., & Filipović, S. (2018). Impact of export determinants on the export sector in Republic of Serbia. *Industrija*, *46*(2), 151-171.
- 20. Trošić, S. J. (2020). New Opportunities for Further Improvement of Economic Cooperation between Serbia and China. *China Belt and Road Initiative Journal: Research Analysis and Perspectives*, *3*(1), 110-119.

1.9. THE IMPACT OF THE BUDGET AS AN AUTOMATIC STABILIZER ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE INTEGRATED ECONOMIES

Brankica Todorović¹

School of Economics, Uzice, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The budget is an important stabilizer of fiscal economic policy as it affects the economic strength of the state and the public sector. The developed public sector increases the stability of the economy, especially, in the conditions of cyclical fluctuations in the economy. The analysis of the sustainability of a budget deficit lies in the assumption that the government's budget deficit can absorb negative shocks without compromising overall stability. The main goal is emphasizing the role of fiscal policies which will have to adapt to country circumstances, balancing need to protect people, stabilize demand and facilitate recovery.

METHODOLOGY

In order to achieve the main objective of the paper it will be used specific the empirical analysis will be carried out for understanding the role of budget as automatic stabilizer of fiscal economic policy and the role of ECB in this process. The analysis will consist in specific indicators and variables (Fiscal Balance and Gross Debt from 2018 to 2020) which will be combined in order to describe a statistical analysis the tendency of the budget deficit in the EU countries from 2007 to 2017. In addition, countercyclical economic policy in the theory and practice will be analyzed, especially from the aspect of budget as an automatic stabilizer.

RESULTS

The results of the research are in the context of the fact that as early as 2007 the global financial crisis showed that only the Central Bank has the necessary capacity to influence financial stability through the use of certain instruments. Therefore, in maintaining the budget deficit, it is important to respect the regulations of the CB

¹ Email address: brankicatodorovic77@gmail.com

Brankica Todorović

member states, as well as, the candidate countries for EU accession. In the process of joining the EU, Serbia, in addition to fulfilling numerous international obligations in the segment of financial and monetary policy, also contributes to maintaining financial stability in the long run. The paper will also present the mechanisms used for budget sustainability in the conditions of the Corona virus pandemic. Countries need to reorient revenue and spending to increase productive investment making some provisions of social protection, programs more long-lasting can enhance automatic stabilizers and help tackle rising poverty and inequality.

IMPLICATIONS

Existence of the budget deficit has led to the defining and implementing regulations of the budget deficit. The problem with the rules was on the size of the budget deficit and debts relates to the implementation of rules. A budget deficit is one of a problem in the modern economies regardless of the degree of their development. Maintenance of the budget in the short and medium term should ensure the functioning of the economy. The existence of a budget deficit can be the result of cyclical economic trends or temporarily increased government expenditures. However, a continuous high budget deficit leads to the growth of public debt as a consequence. Modern fiscal policy has accepted the philosophy that the budget is becoming less a means of necessary social functions of the state, and more is becoming a means of development and stabilization policy.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The main goal of the paper is to contribute to the understanding of logic and experience that are the basis of modern research on the budget deficit and its impact as an automatic stabilizer in the context of countercyclical economic policy. Taking into account previous research in this area, the aim of the research is to present the budget deficit systematically, with possible subsystems and links, especially from the aspect of fiscal policy, to analyze the practice of budget deficit from the aspect of compliance with budget regulations and new mechanisms which are used in the conditions of development of national economies due to the presence of Coronavirus.

CONTRIBUTION

Determination of the rules and procedures regarding the budget deficit and public debt can contribute to the strengthening of financial discipline. The EU seeks to contribute to a stronger financial stability and sustainability in the long run by harmonization of regulations in this field. Therefore, the role of the ECB and the

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

EMU, as well as, national regulations and mechanisms for controlling budget spending are particularly important. These rules also usage for EU candidate countries from which are expected to reform fiscal policy and to maintain budget deficits at the projected level. Maintaining the stability of the budget contributes to the sustainability of the economy but with the usage of measures that are appropriate to the observed development problems. The pandemic remains acute and stringent lockdowns continue, fiscal policies should accommodate heath care services to save lives.

KEY WORDS

Budget, stabilizer, sustainable finance, ECB

- 1. Allen, A., Wood, G. (2005). Defining and achieving financial stability. London School of Economics-Financial Markets Group, Special Paper No 160.
- 2. Bank for International Settlements. (2013). Status of adoption of Basel III (capital) regulations. http://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs/b3prog_rep_table.pdf
- 3. Bank for International Settlements. (2017). Basel III: international regulatory framework for banks. http://www.bis.org/bcbs/basel3.htm.
- 4. Blinder, A.S. (2010). How Central Should the Central Bank Be? *Journal of Economic Literature*, 48(1): 123-133.
- 5. Bronack, T. (2009). *Basel II Overview*, Data Center Assistance Group. http://www.dcag.com/images/Basel_II_Overview.pdf.
- Caruana, J. (2010). Basel III: Prema sigurnijem finansijskom sistemu, Bankarstvo br 9-10, UBS.
- Cotis, J-P., Coopel, J. (2005). Business Cycle Dynamics in OECD Countries: Evidences, Causes and Policy Implications, Reserve Bank of Australia Economic Conference, http: //www.rba.gov.au/publications/confs/2005/cotis-coppel.pdf
- 8. De Grauwe, P. (2003). Economics of Monetary Union, Fifth Edition, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- 9. European Central Bank (2010). Banking supervision, https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/home/html/index.en.html?itm_medium =media_objects_links
- 10. European Commission (2018). Economic Reform Programs of Albania, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, Turkey, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Kosovo, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/economyfinance/ip085_en.pdf
- 11. Feldstein M. (2002). The Role for Discretionary Fiscal Policy in a Low Interest Rate Environment, NBER Working Paper 9203, http://www.nber.org/papers/w9203.pdf
- 12. Goodhart, C.A.E., Hartmann, P., Llewellyn, D., Rojas-Suarez, L., Weisbrod, S. (2013). Financial regulation: Why, how and where now. London-New York, Routledge.

Brankica Todorović

- 13. International Monetary Fund (2008). Structural Reforms and Economic Performance in Advanced and Developing Countries, Research Department http://www.imf.org/external/np/res/docs/2008/pdf/061008.pdf
- 14. IMF (2015). Fiscal Monitor Now is the time: Fiscal policies for sustainable growth, https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/\$/fm/2015/01/pdf/fmc2.pdf
- 15. Lane, P. (2003). Business Cycles and Macroeconomic Policy in Emerging Market Economies. International Finance 6, pp. 89 108.
- 16. OECD (2010). Counter-cyclical economic policy, Paris: Organization for Economic Development and Cooperation, http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/displaydocumentpdf/?cote=eco/wkp%2820 10%2916&doclanguage=en
- 17. Restoy, P. (2016). The organisation of financial supervision, https://www.bis.org/review/r160126b.pdf
- Schoenmaker, D. (2013). Financial supervision in the EU. u: Caprio G. [ur.] Handbook of Safeguarding Global Financial Stability, Political, Social, Cultural and Economic Theories and Models, Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, pp. 355-369.
- 19. World Bank (2020). Global Financial Stability Report Update, June 2020.
- 20. World Bank (2020). World Economic Outlook Update, June 2020: A Crisis Like No Other, An Uncertain Recovery General Government. Global Economic Prospects.

1.10. DETERMINATION OF ADAPTED KAIZEN MANAGEMENT MODEL AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION IN SERBIAN MACROENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

Vuk Mirčetić¹ Darjan Karabašević² Svetlana Vukotić³

Faculty of Applied Management, Economics and Finance, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Hyper-connectivity, various innovations and rapid changes are influencing macro environmental conditions of every country, as well as Serbia. Kaizen management is considered as very effective and efficient in diverse business environments. The motivation for this paper arises from the idea to analyze Kaizen management and Japanese business philosophy and adjust it to Serbian macro environmental conditions.

METHODOLOGY

A conducted research used data obtained by a comprehensive review of articles from the leading journals, state-of-art research and groundbreaking researches. Qualitative analysis was applied to the gathered data, and Serbian macro environmental conditions were examined to understand, embrace and incorporate similarities and differences between Japanese and Serbian macro environment and people, and also contemporary situational factors and complexity of Kaizen management.

RESULTS

Analysis of a comprehensive literature review gives a clear insight into Kaizen management theory. Examining the Serbian macro environment shows current macro environmental conditions in Serbia, specificities and differences to Japanese

¹ Email address: vuk.mircetic@mef.edu.rs

² Email address: darjan.karabasevic@mef.edu.rs

³ Email address: svetlana.vukotic@mef.edu.rs

Vuk Mirčetić, Darjan Karabašević, Svetlana Vukotić

macro environment. The intersection of obtained data and information provides the proper methods of adjusting the Kaizen management model to the present Serbian conditions and propose adapted Kaizen management model for Serbian macro environmental conditions.

IMPLICATIONS

Implementation of the research findings can be beneficial for Serbian decision makers and therefore used as a practical tool to assist Serbia to be the leading country in Western Balkan, and Western Balkan to be leading.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

In the contemporary economy, the advantage is increasingly gained through knowledge. The state, companies and their policies and practices of human resources management, but also each person individually are responsible for the successful improvement of knowledge and skills. Conjointly, this contributes to constant growth, which is one of the main features of Kaizen management. The connection with Serbian macro environment and implementation in domestic conditions represent originality value.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the management theory by proposing the adapted Kaizen management model that is adjusted for Serbian macro environment. The adapted Kaizen management model is designed as a practical tool to assist Serbian decision makers to be more effective and efficient in developing Serbia and making it the leading country.

KEY WORDS

Kaizen management, adaptation, practical tool, development, Serbian macro environment

- 1. Antonakis, J., & House, R.J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational–transactional leadership theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *25*(4), 746–771.
- 2. Bolden, R. (2004). *What is Leadership?* UK: Center for Leadership Studies University of Exeter.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 3. Boxall, P., & Purcell, J. (2008). *Strategy and Human Resource Management*, 2nd edition. Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke.
- 4. Nielsen, J. E., Babić, V., Stojanović-Aleksić, V., & Nikolić, J. (2019). Driving Forces of Employees' Entrepreneurial Intentions-Leadership Style and Organizational Structure. *Management: Journal of Sustainable Business & Management Solutions in Emerging Economies*, 24(3), 59-71.
- 5. Janjić, V., Todorović, M., & Jovanović, D. (2020). Key Success Factors and Benefits of Kaizen Implementation. *Engineering Management Journal*, *32*(2), 98-106.
- 6. Jaško, O, Ţudanov, M., Jevtić, M., & Krivokapić, J. (2017). Organizacioni dizajn pristupi, metode i modeli. Beograd, Srbija: Fakultet organizacionih nauka.
- Mirčetić, V., Janošik, M. & Malešević, A. (2019). Determinisanje liderstva i komparacija teorijskih pristupa. Zbornik radova sa međunarodne naučno-stručne konferencije MEFkon, Fakultet za primenjeni menadžment, ekonomiju i finansije, Beograd, Srbija, 146-155.
- 8. Mirčetić, V. (2018). Razvoj liderstva i determinisanje modernog pristupa liderstvu. *FBIM Transactions, 6*(2). 90-97.
- 9. Northouse, P. (2019). *Leadership: Theory and Practice*. California: Sage publication.
- 10. Spasojević-Brkić, V., Tomić, B., Perišić, M., & Brkić, A. (2020). Kaizen implementation context and performance. *Journal of Engineering Management and Competitiveness*, *10*(1), 31-37.
- 11. Cvijanović, D., Mirčetić, V. & Vukotić, S. (2018). Situaciono liderstvo: Primena odgovarajućeg stila u zavisnosti od razvojnog nivoa sledbenika. *Zbornik radova 8. međunarodnog simpozijuma o upravljanju prirodnim resursima ISNRM 2018*, Fakultet za menadžment Zaječar, Megatrend Univerzitet Beograd, Zaječar, Srbija, 59-65.
- 12. Stanujkić, D., Zavadskas, E. K., Karabašević, D., Turskis, Z., & Keršulienė, V. (2017). New group decision-making ARCAS approach based on the integration of the SWARA and the ARAS methods adapted for negotiations. *Journal of Business Economics and Management*, 18(4), 599-618.
- 13. Suárez Barraza, M. F., & Ramis-Pujol, J. & Kerbache, L. (2011). Thoughts on Kaizen and its Evolution: Three Different Perspectives and Guiding Principles. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, *2*, 288-308.
- 14. Zehnder, C., Herz, H., & Bonardi, J. -P. (2017). A productive clash of cultures: Injecting economics into leadership research. *The Leadership Quarterly, 28*(1), 65–85.

1.11. IMPLEMENTATION OF CIRCULARITY INTO TRANSPORT SECTOR THROUGH SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT

Snežana Kaplanović¹ Aleksandar Manojlović² Jelena Trifunović³

University of Belgrade - Faculty of Transport and Traffic Engineering, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is to support the transition from a linear to a circular economy. It focuses on the implementation of circularity in the transport sector. Public procurement, which has recently been recognized in most countries as a powerful but underused tool, is being used to promote this transition.

METHODOLOGY

The research presented in this paper is based on analysis of scientific literature in the area of circular economy. Special attention is also devoted to the analysis of the relevant EU legal documentation and recommendations. A comparative method is used to compare different ways to implement circularity into the transport sector through sustainable and green public procurement. Finally, the methodology for calculating operational lifecycle costs of road vehicle, which is implemented in sustainable public procurement procedures when renewing fleets, is presented.

RESULTS

This research identifies key opportunities for the circular economy that could significantly reshape Serbia's transport sector, as well as the difficulties and challenges for its introduction. The results of the conducted research reveal that public procurement plays an important role in transforming the linear into a circular economy, as well as that transport sector has great potential for circular procurement which is, unfortunately, underutilized in Serbia. Finally, this research

¹ Email address: s.kaplanovic@sf.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: a.manojlovic@sf.bg.ac.rs

³ Email address: j.trifunovic@sf.bg.ac.rs

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

shows to what extent sustainable and green criteria are currently included in tender procedure.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this research are important both for scientific community and public procurers and policy makers. More precisely, the obtained results make up a good basis for further scientific research in this field. On the other hand, this research reveals good practices and key activities and measures undertaken in the EU and highlighted public procurement opportunities to promote and foster transition towards the circular economy. As such, it can serve as a roadmap for public policy makers as well as for business leaders to introduce circularity and improve the sustainable performance of the transport sector and the Serbian economy in general.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of this research lies in the attempt to provide, for the first time in the domestic framework, a comprehensive overview of the relevant literature, to promote the use of public procurement as a powerful tool for accelerating the transition towards more sustainable transport and to generate recommendation for further research and policy discussion.

CONTRIBUTION

Recently, significant attention has been paid to the circular economy and the possibilities of its application in Serbia. However, some issues are still poorly researched. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first paper that in such a comprehensive way tries to point out the necessity and possibilities of applying the concept of circular economy in the transport sector and the role of sustainable and green public procurement in this process as well as the EU's efforts to ensure greater integration of circular economy principles in public procurement.

KEY WORDS

Circular economy, transport sector, public procurement

REFERENCES

 Aldenius, M., & Khan, J. (2017). Strategic use of green public procurement in the bus sector: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 164*, 250-257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.06.196

Snežana Kaplanović, Aleksandar Manojlović, Jelena Trifunović

- 2. Alhola, K., Ryding, S.-O., Salmenperä, H., & Busch, N. J. (2019). Exploiting the Potential of Public Procurement: Opportunities for Circular Economy. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 23(1), 96-109. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12770
- 3. Alhola, K., Salmenperä, H., Ryding, S.-O., & Busch, N. J. (2017). *Circular Public Procurement in the Nordic Countries*. TemaNord 2017:512. Nordic Council of Ministers. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-512
- Čokorilo, O., Ivković, I., & Kaplanović, S. (2019). Prediction of Exhaust Emission Costs in Air and Road Transportation. *Sustainability*, *11*(17), 4688. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174688
- European Commission. (2015). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. *Closing the loop - An EU action plan for the Circular Economy.* COM(2015) 614 final. https://eurlex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:8a8ef5e8-99a0-11e5-b3b7-01aa75ed71a1.0012.02/DOC_1&format=PDF
- European Commission. (2016). Buying Green! A Handbook on Green Public Procurement (3rd ed.). Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. doi: 10. 2779/246106
- European Commission. (2019). Commission staff working document: EU green public procurement criteria for road transport. SWD(2019) 2 final. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/gpp/pdf/criteria/transport.pdf
- Ivković, I., Čokorilo, O., & Kaplanović, S. (2018). The estimation of GHG emission costs in road and air transport sector: case study of Serbia", *Transport, 33*(1), 260-267. https://doi.org/10.3846/16484142.2016.1169557
- Manojlović, A. V., Papić, V. D., Filipović, S. M., & Jovanović, V. D. (2011). Fleet renewal: An approach to achieve sustainable road transport. *Thermal Science*, 15(4), 1223-1236. https://doi.org/10.2298/TSCI110504111M
- Neubauer, C., Jones, M., Motevecchi, F., Neubauer, C., Schreiber, H., Tisch, A., & Walter, B. (2017). Green Public Procurement and the EU Action Plan for the Circular Economy. Study for the ENVI Committee. IP/A/ENVI/2016-16. PE 602.065. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2017/602065/IPOL_STU(20 17)602065_EN.pdf
- Paradowska, M. (2017). Grounds and Challenges for Implementing a Circular Economy in the European Road Transport Sector. In M. Suchanek (Ed.), Sustainable Transport Development, Innovation and Technology. TranSopot 2016. Springer Proceedings in Business and Economics. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51427-7_21
- 12. Sönnichsen, S.D., & Clement, J. (2020). Review of green and sustainable public procurement: Towards circular public procurement. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 245, 118901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118901
- 13. United Nations Environment Programme. (2018). Building circularity into our economies though sustainable procurement.

1.12. IMPORTANCE OF IDENTIFYING COST MANAGEMENT IN GREEN BUSINESS

Katerina Hadzi Naumova-Mihajlovska¹

Ss. Cyril & Methodius University in Skopje, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Neda Petroska-Angelovska²

Institute of Economics, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Marija Takovska³

Ss. Cyril & Methodius University in Skopje, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Green business can be defined as business committed to the principles of environmental protection within their activities, while striving to use renewable energy sources. Identifying their costs is important because it provides a realistic assessment of the economic and environmental impact of business on the environment. The main purpose of the paper is based on the analysis of the activities of green businesses to identify the main characteristic of their cost management.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology is based on an analysis of the literature on relevant concepts and theories in the field of green businesses and cost management. The descriptive method will be used to describe the data and key terms; the method of induction and deduction to reach concrete conclusions; method of analysis for analyzing the literature and the method of synthesis for connecting information, facts and data into a whole that will be logical and obtained through the methods of deduction and analysis.

¹ Email address: katerina@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² Email address: neda@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ Email address: marija@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

Katerina Hadzi Naumova-Mihajlovska, Neda Petroska-Angelovska, Marija Takovska

RESULTS

Through an extensive review of the literature on green business and their cost management, this paper identify that the main cost of green business are related to protection and prevention of environment). Additionally, environmental accounting can define and measures cost in green business i.e. provides clear picture of the cost material, energy, external and internal impact on the environment.

IMPLICATIONS

The paper has theoretical implications since it identifies the main characteristic of cost management in green business and contributes to framework development for further research. Research about identify green business cost management is very important because it provides a realistic assessment of the economic and environmental impact of business on the environment.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The intention of this paper is to feel the exiting gap and provide some preliminary findings in identifying of cost management of green business.

CONTRIBUTION

Identifying the costs of green businesses helps to take advantage of sustainable income opportunities, while protecting the value of business against increasing energy costs, the costs of meeting regulatory requirements, changes in the way customers perceive brands and products, and the volatile price of resources.

KEY WORDS

Cost management, green business, environmental accounting

- 1. Berber, N., Dordevic, M., (2011) Cost management in function of environmental protection, Skola biznisa br.2, p. 76-89,
- Duman H., Yilmaz Icerli M., Yucenursen M., Apak I., (2013) Enviromental cost management within sustainable business, TOJSAT: The on-line journal of Science and Technology, vol.3, issue 2, p. 86-95, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/54a7/de2cc3e2ec1831b2a3bf82687233afb3136d.p df

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- Elias Ezanee M., Nadarajan S., Norlila M., (December, 2013) Green business management and green supply chain practises: a case study in a manufacturing organization, Journal of technology management volume 8. no. 1, p. 1-19 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/283467941_GREEN_BUSINESS_MANAGE MENT_AND_GREEN_SUPPLY_CHAIN_PRACTISES_A_CASE_STUDY_IN_A_MANUFACT URING_ORGANIZATION
- 4. Gajic LJ, Medved I., Rac L., (2010) Obračun troškova i ekologija novi pristupi unapređenju poslovanja, Škola biznisa, Br. 4, p. 76-85, http://www.vps.ns.ac.rs/SB/2010/4.9.pdf
- 5. Jovanovic D., Ljubisavljevic S., (2017), Ekološko računovodstvo i revizija kao alati upravljanja zaštitom životne sredine, In P. Veselinovic, N. Makojevic, M. Slavkovic, (Ed), Uticaj globalizacije na poslovno upravljanje i ekonomski razvoj Šumadije i Pomoravlja, (521-530) Kragujevac, Ekonomski fakultet, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318420996_EKOLOSKO_RACUNOVODSTV O_I_REVIZIJA_KAO_ALATI_UPRAVLJANJA_ZASTITOM_ZIVOTNE_SREDINE
- 6. Jugovic J., (juni 2019), Environmental cost management used for improving competitiveness of companies, Ekonomske ideje I praksa, br.33, p.43-59
- 7. Mohd S., Kumar Kaushal V., Green Finance: (Jan-Jun 2018) A Step towards Sustainable Development, MUDRA: Journal of Finance and Accounting, Volume 5, Issue1,p.59-74 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326738586_Green_Finance_A_Step_tow ards_Sustainable_Development
- Karagülle A., (December 2012). Green business for sustainable development and competitiveness: an overview of Turkish logistics industry. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, n.41, p.456–460. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/257715771_Green_business_for_sustain able_development_and_competitiveness_an_overview_of_Turkish_logistics_industry y
- Črnjar M., Črnjar K., (2009) Menadzment odrzivog razvoja Ekonomija- ekologija- zastita okolisa, Rijeka, Fakultet za menadzment u turizmu I ugostiteljstvu u Opatiji, Sveucilista u Rieci Glosa
- 10. Črnjar M., (2002) Ekonomika I politika zastite okolisa, Riejka, Ekonomski fakultet

1.13. ECO-TOURISM AS A STIMULATION FOR TOURISM COMPETITIVENESS OF THE REPUBLIC OF NORTH MACEDONIA

Kiril Postolov¹

Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Faculty of Economics, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Marija Magdinceva Sopova²

University Goce Delcev Stip, Faculty of Tourism and Business logistics, Gevgelija, Republic of North Macedonia

Verica Postolova³

State Statistical Office, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The theoretical objective of this research is focused on studying the concept of ecotourism as an alternative form of tourism development and its specific supply and demand features.

From a practical point of view, we assessed the problem from the aspect of the development of the eco-tourism in order to confirm the hypothesis that the representation of small and medium enterprises in the eco-tourism sector is a developmental concept that enables achieving sustainable economic development.

METHODOLOGY

A survey questionnaire consisting of 15 questions was conducted in 70 small enterprises that carried out certain tourist activities in the period from 1.1.2020 until 18.2.2020.

In order to determine if the small enterprises are capable of and are willing to provide the necessary service, activities and financing in the field of eco-tourism

¹ Email address: kiril.postolov@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

² Email address: marijamagdincevasopova@ugd.edu.mk

³ Email address: verica.postolova@stat.gov.mk

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

while implementing the training programs for employees and also protecting the environment and local culture, we conducted a survey.

RESULTS

The majority of the enterprises that we obtained in the survey are willing to invest in the eco-tourism sector. Unfortunately, they feel that they do not have the needed information and knowledge for this kind of opportunities, nor institutional support.

It is considered among the small enterprises that they are not familiar with the investment capacities in the eco-tourism sector, even though considered as the carriers of the eco-tourism development.

IMPLICATIONS

Eco-tourism has the potential for rapid, sustainable economic development.

The results obtained during the practical research allows us to draw a conclusion and a guideline that can imply particular behavior and activities contributing to the development of eco-tourism and using opportunities for achieving sustainable economic development. The entrepreneurs need conditions in which the technological, economic, political, social or demographic changes can bring to the creation of something new.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The original value of this study is confirmed through the obtained results. Confirmed the fact that eco-tourism as an alternative form for tourism development and concept for achieving sustainable development contributes to achieving significant economic benefits, strengthening the economy at the local level (maintenance of biodiversity, benefits for the local population, a high level of responsibility of tourism enterprises, encouraging the development of green economy, green jobs and environmental protection).

CONTRIBUTION

The scientific contribution of this research paper is perceived with the need of emphasizing eco-tourism as a type of tourism in the Republic of Northern Macedonia, the eco-tourism introduction and problems in it, in order to achieve sustainable development.

Kiril Postolov, Marija Magdinceva Sopova, Verica Postolova

The results of the research can be used both theoretically and practically. The main focus of this paper has not been researched in the Republic of Macedonia. That makes this paper a pioneering paper in this field in our country.

KEY WORDS

Eco-tourism, small and medium enterprises, nature, sustainable economic development, tourist's needs

- 1. Anđelković, Ž., Dragin, A., & Božić, S. (2017). Emotional Exhaustion and Job Satisfaction of Tour, *Economics of Agriculture*, 64(1), pp. 11-26.
- Carić, H. & Boranić, Živoder, S. (2010). Role of Eco Labeling in Tourism Destination Sustainable Development. ICITE 2010, International conference on tourism and environment, Proceedings (pp. 337-388). Sarajevo: International university "Philip Noel-Baker".
- 3. Chan, R., & Kishan, D.B. (2013). Ecotourism Planning and Sustainable Community Development: Theoretical Perspectives for Nepal, *SAJTH*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 69-96.
- 4. Coria, J., & Calfucura, E. (2012). Ecotourism and the development of indigenous communities: the good, the bad, and the ugly *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 73, pp. 47-55.
- Coronado Martínez, Y., Rosas Baños, M. & Cerón Monroy, H. (2018). Ecotourism as a path to sustainable development in an isolated Magic Town: The case study of La Trampa, Mexico, *Journal of Tourism Analysis: Revista de Análisis Turístico*, Vol. 25 No. 1, pp. 23-38.
- 6. David, L. (2011). Tourism ecology: towards the responsible, sustainable tourism future. *Journal of Worldwide Hospitality dan Tourism Themes*, 3(2), 210-216.
- 7. Ghanian, M., Ghoochani, O.M., & Crotts, J.C. (2014). An application of European Performance Satisfaction Index towards rural tourism: The case of western Iran. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 11: 77–82.
- 8. Lu, W., & Stepchenkova, S. (2012). Eco-tourism experiences reported online: Classification of satisfaction attributes. *Tourism Management* 33(3): 702-712.
- 9. Norajlin, J., Robat, M., Nazrin Aris Anuar, A., & Jamaluddin, E.,R. (2019). The Identification of Criteria for Ecotourism Practice in Peninsular Malaysia, *Journal of Hotel and Business Management*, Vol.8, Issue 1, No.190, pp. 1-6.
- 10. Roy, B.J. & Vijayan, P.K. (2018). Positive and negative Impacts of Eco-tourism: A Case study of Ponmudi in Thiruvananthapuram District, Kerala, *International Journal of Research in Humanities, Arts and Literature* Vol. 6, Issue 5, pp. 405-410.
- 11. Stronza, A., Hunt, C.A., & Fitzgerald, L.A. (2019). Eco-tourism for Conservation, Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 44, pp. 229-253.
- 12. Suarez, F. & Lanzolla, G. (2005). The Half-Truth of First-Mover Advantage, *Harvard Business Review*, No. 83(4), pp.121-134.

1.14. MARKETING RESEARCH IN THE FUNCTION OF MARKET-PLACE COMPETITIVENESS

Nedeljko Prdić¹

JKP Tržnica, Novi Sad, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this work paper is to define development and competitiveness strategy of market places using innovations and service provision, on the bases of theoretical attitudes analysis and research results.

METHODOLOGY

Performed researches are based on implementation of special methods of cognition and marketing research. Special methods used in this work paper are analysis and synthesis, logical deduction and statistics methods. Examination method i.e. field investigation is used to gather and analyse qualitative information and data.

RESULTS

Research results show that market places are very efficient instrument of achieving economic and communications aims on the market. By treating supply of products as investment through influence on consumers' interest, it is possible to influence on purchase to certain level. It is established that sales men on market places by conducting concrete and precise strategies of marketing communications, may achieve their aims in relations to competition and in purpose of costumers' satisfaction.

IMPLICATIONS

Presented researches make solid foundation for investments by market places through innovations in business, and that increase competitiveness of market places. It is necessary to confirm certain researches in some scientific and empirical researches this research is considered a good start in that direction.

¹ Email address: ekonomistdoo@sbb.rs

Nedeljko Prdić

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Theoretical and practical value of research enables wide spectrum of implementation not only on presented market - place but on the other market—places too, in order to improve competitiveness and satisfaction of consumers.

CONTRIBUTION

Contribution of this work paper on theoretical aspect is perception of role and significance of market places from historical and global market instrument with special aspect of innovation implementation. The conclusion is that informatics achievements development and technology implementation create possibility to control volume of scales and increase compliance of market places based on respect of customers' attitudes.

KEY WORDS

Marketing research, innovations, investments, competitiveness, market-places

- 1. Biais, B., Bisière, C., & Pouget, S. (2014). Equilibrium Discovery and Preopening Mechanisms in an Experimental Market, Management Science, 60, 753-769.
- 2. Boiko, V., Kwilinski, A., Misiuk, M., & Boiko, L. (2019). Competitive advantages of wholesale markets of agricultural products as a type of entrepreneurial activity: the experience of Ukraine and Poland, Economic Annals-XXI,1-2, 68-72.
- 3. Camilleri, S.J. (2015). The Impact of Stock Market Structure on Volatility: Evidence from a Call Auction Suspension, International Journal of Financial Research, 2, 44-53.
- 4. Domazet, I., & Stošić, I. (2013). Strengthening the Competitiveness of Serbian Economy and the Corporate Market Restructuring, Economic Analysis, 3-4, 108-124.
- 5. Duvnjak, S. (2013). Pravci razvoja pijačne delatnosti u republici Srbiji. Beograd: Poslovno udruženje Pijace Srbije.
- 6. Dželetović, M., Milošević, M., & Čičić, S. (2017). Venture Capital Generator of Growth of SME Investment Activities, Industrija, 3, 7-22.
- 7. Grubor, A. (2012). Segmentacija, targetiranje i pozicioniranje u globalnom marketingu. Anali ekonomskog fakulteta, 28, 123-131.
- 8. JKP Tržnica, O pijaci, preuzeto 13.05.2020, sa http://www.nstrznica.co.rs./riblja-pijaca.
- 9. Lapshina, K., Bakaeva, N., & Sotnikova, O. (2017). Economic Efficiency of Implementation of the Concept of Sustainable Development of the Sustainable Development of the Urbanized Territories in Russia, Economic Analysis, 3-4, 9-19.
- 10. Lovreta, S. (2008). Strategija i politika razvoja trgovine republike Srbije. Beograd: Centar za izdavačku delatnost Ekonomskog fakulteta u Beogradu.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 11. Marjanović, D., Ahmetagić, D., & Beraha, I. (2019). Comparative Analysis of High Technology Exports and SELECTED Innovation Indicators for Serbia and CEE Countries, Economic Analysis, 2, 93-103.
- 12. Prdić, N. (2014). Istraživanje stavova potrošača o kupovini na pijacama. Agroekonomika, 63-64, 145-153.
- 13. Prdić, N. (2017). Competition of Fairs on the Basis of the Composition Distribution, Industrija, 3, 23-37.
- 14. World Union of Wholesale Markets. (2011). Preuzeto 13.6.2016, sa http://www.wuwm.org/4lh/news/wuwm-definition-of-a-retail-market.html
- Zarić, V., Kovačević, D., Jovanović, V. (2016). Direktni marketing poljoprivrednih proizvoda u republici Srbiji – Mogućnosti i ograničenja. Ekonomske ideje i praksa, 21, 59-76.
- 16. Zubović, J. (2008). Personality Model in Human Resources Management, Economic Analysis, 1-2, 3-9.

1.15. QUALITY OF SERVICES AS A DETERMINANT OF VOLUNTARY PENSION FUNDS COMPETITIVENESS

Irena Brajević¹

The Eighth Belgrade High School, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The successful operation of voluntary pension funds is closely related to the quality of services they provide to their members. Considering the growing importance of services and their large share in national economies, the quality of services is set as a priority for organizations that want to differentiate their services in a highly competitive environment. The aim of this paper is to define indicators as starting points for developing instruments for measuring the attitudes of voluntary pension funds members on their satisfaction with the quality of services provided, which, consequently, improves the market competitiveness of these funds.

METHODOLOGY

A structured questionnaire was used to examine the attitudes of clients about their satisfaction with the quality of the services provided by the voluntary pension fund, while the basic sample in the research consisted of 150 members of the "Dunav dobrovoljni penzijski fond" (Danube Voluntary Pension Fund) company. The matrix was processed by the principal components method, using the Kaiser-Guttman criterion.

RESULTS

The results of the conducted empirical research indicate that it is possible to establish indicators as a starting point for identifying the factors of satisfaction of voluntary pension funds members with the quality of services provided. It is also possible to predict the defined factors based on the assumed social characteristics of clients.

¹ Email address: irena.brajevic@gmail.com

IMPLICATIONS

Through the research itself, a large number of empirical data were obtained, which in a hierarchical sense have different significance for concluding on the quality of services provided as determinants of satisfaction of members of voluntary pension funds. In order to explain some other aspects it is desirable to consider the predictive values and other characteristics of members of voluntary pension funds - demographic and social origin, migration characteristics, marital status, type of education, etc.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The need to research the quality of services of voluntary pension funds is very pronounced, since there is a deficit of pension financing in Serbia. Having in mind the importance of the quality of pension insurance services, there are valid reasons to focus scientific research attention on the voluntary pension funds quality of business. The originality of the work is reflected in the application of a new empirical research procedure in studying the quality of services provided to members of voluntary pension funds, which aim to ensure customer satisfaction, and consequently improve the competitiveness of the funds themselves.

CONTRIBUTION

The contribution of the work is reflected in the improvement of customer relationship management in voluntary pension funds, in order to meet the needs and desires of their clients, while achieving profitable operations of the funds. It would be very useful, primarily for practical reasons, to define an evaluation model based on the results of this empirical research as a starting premise, which would improve and facilitate the evaluation of the quality of services provided as one of the essential prerequisites for successful operation of voluntary pension funds.

KEY WORDS

Voluntary pension funds, competitiveness, quality management, measuring attitudes, customer satisfaction

REFERENCES

1. Altiparmakov, N., & Matković, G. (2018). The development of private pensions in Serbia: caught between a generic blueprint and an unconducive local environment. *European Review of Labour and Research*, 24(1), 57-71.

Irena Brajević

- Anghel, M.G., & Hasegan, D.A. (2020). The voluntary pension funds viable solution to supplement the pensioners incomes. *Theoretical and Applied Economics*, 2(623), 51-64.
- 3. Bejaković, P., & Mrnjavac, Ž. (2020). Fully funded pension system in six non-EU Balkan countries. *Ekonomska misao i praksa*, 29(1), 101-121.
- 4. Berk, A. (2009). Contemporary Issues and Challenges in a Supplementary Pension System: The Case of Slovenia. In: R. Holzmann, L. MacKellar & J. Repansek (Eds.), *Pension Reform in Southeastern Europe Linking to Labor and Financial Market Reforms* (pp. 209-225). Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- 5. Đekić, M., Nikolić, M., & Vesić, T. (2019). Challenges and Perspectives of Development of Private Pension Funds in Serbia. *Economic analysis*, 52(1), 69-80.
- Domazet, I., & Marjanović, D. (2017). Tax incentives as a factor of economic growth. In: M. Malović & K. Roy (Eds.), *The state and the market in economic development* (pp. 93-107). Brisbane, Australia: The International Institute for Development Studies.
- 7. Domazet, I., & Marjanović, D. (2018). Attractiveness of the domicile economy through tax incentives, *Ekonomika preduzeća*, 65(7/8), 434-445.
- 8. Domazet, I., & Marjanović, D. (2018). FDI as a Factor of Improving the Competitiveness of Developing Countries: FDI and Competitiveness. In: V. Malepati & C. Mangala (Eds.), *Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) and Opportunities for Developing Economies in the World Market* (pp. 82-104). Hershey, PA, Business Science Reference.
- 9. Kotler, P., Adam, S., Denize, S., & Armstrong, G. (2009). *Principles of Marketing*. Sydney: The Marketing Metrics Edition, Pearson Education Australia.
- 10. Marjanović, D., & Domazet, I. (2018). *Unapređenje makro konkurentnosti fiskalni aspekti*. Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka.
- 11. Oliva, R., & Kallenberg, R. (2003). Managing the transition from products to services. *International Journal of Service*, 14 (2), 160-172.
- 12. Piljan, I., Piljan, T. & Cogoljević, D. (2019). Analiza poslovanja dobrovoljnih penzionih fondova u Republici Srbiji. *Vojno delo*, 71(1), 194-210.
- 13. Pjanić, M., & Marjanović, D. (2014). *Integrisanost institucionalnih investitora Srbije u funkciji ekonomske efikasnosti*. 19th International Conference: Strategic Management and Decision Support System in Strategic Management. Subotica: Ekonomski fakultet.
- 14. Reid, R., & Bojanic, D. (2006). *Hospitality Marketing Management (4th ed.)*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- 15. Vuković, V., & Domazet, I. (2013). Non-performing loans and systemic risk: Comparative analysis of Serbia and countries in transition CESEE. *Industrija*, *41*(4), 59-73.
- 16. Zeithaml, V.A., Bitner, M., & Gremler, D. (2006). *Services Marketing iIntegrating customer focus across the firm (4th ed.)*. Boston: MeGraw-Hill/Irwin.

1.16. A COMPARISON OF COMPETITIVENESS OF CEECS

Kıvanç Halil Ariç¹

Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, Department of International Trade and Logistics, Sivas, Turkey

Sek Siok Kun²

Universiti Sains Malaysia, School of Mathematical Sciences, Minden, Penang, Malaysia

OBJECTIVES

In the Diamond Model, Porter point out that four main parameter effects on competitiveness of a countries' industries. In this study we investigate the competitive advantage conditions of Central and Eastern European Countries (CEECs) in the respect of Porter's Diamond Model. We compare the competitive advantages of CEECs by using cluster analyze for the years of 2008 and 2019.

METHODOLOGY

In the clustering process firstly each statistical object is taking into consideration as an individual cluster, after then objects are grouped to upper clusters which are again grouped in the respect of the distance between them. Objects are grouped together which have smallest distance. After the superior level of clustering, objects are joined into one cluster. Euclidian distance is used to measure the distance between the objects.

RESULTS

According to the analysis results in 2008, Central European countries are mostly in the first cluster, and the Eastern European countries are in the second cluster. Results for the 2019, it is seen that all CEECs countries except Macedonia, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Albania take in the first cluster. It can be said that in the period from 2008 to 2019, Eastern European countries brought their competitiveness level to the level of Central European countries by improving it.

¹ Email address: halilaric@gmail.com

² Email address: sksek@usm.my





IMPLICATIONS





ORIGINALITY VALUE

Most of the competitiveness studies in the literature reveal the competitiveness levels of countries by using competitiveness indexes such as Balassa and Vollrath. However, studies on the similarities of countries' competitiveness are very limited in the literature. With this study, the competitiveness of CEECs countries will be approached from a different perspective through the use of cluster analysis.

CONTRIBUTION

In the literature, cluster analysis studies in European countries mainly examined the similarities of countries across variables such as innovation, human capital, socioeconomic. This study, which deals with the competitiveness of CEECs countries through similarities, is expected to contribute to the literature.

KEY WORDS

Competitiveness, CEECs, cluster analyze, diamond model

- Ambec S., Cohen M. A., Elgie S., and Lanoie, P. (2011). The Porter Hypothesis at 20: Can Environmental Regulation Enhance Innovation and Competitiveness? Discussion Paper. RFF DP 11-01: 1-28.
- Atik H., K. H. Arıç (2009). Information Society and the European Union: A Statistical Analyze. 7th Knowledge, Economy & Management Congress Proceedings. 30-31 October, 1 November 2009: 722-732.
- Coban, O., Coban, S. (2004). Measurement of Turkey's Competitiveness by Globalization Index: A Comparison with EU Countries. Manas University Journal of Social Sciences, 10: 163-175.
- 4. Davies, H., Ellis, P. D. (2000). Porter's Competitive Advantage of Nations: Time for a final judgement?. Journal of Management Studies. 37(8):1189-1213.
- 5. Drescher, K., Oswin, M. (1999). Competitiveness in the European Dairy Industries. Agribusiness, 15(2): 163-177.
- 6. Drescher, Klaus ve Oswin Maurer, (1999). "Competitiveness in the European Dairy Industries", Agribusiness, Vol. 15, No. 2, ss.163-177.
- Erkekoğlu, H. and Arıç K. H. (2013). "Statistical Analysis of the EU Countries and Turkey's Competitiveness Dynamics and Some Assessments", International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, Issue 109: 88-99.
- 8. Grupp, H. (1995). Science, High Technology and the Competitiveness of EU Countries. Cambridge Journal of Economics, 19: 209-223.
- 9. Jakobsen, K. (2007). First Mover Advantages in Central and Eastern Europe. Journal of East_West Business, 13(1): 35-61.
- 10. Ketels, C. (2016). Review of Competitiveness Frameworks: An Analysis Conducted for the Irish National Competitiveness Council. National Competitiveness Council. Dublin.
- 11. Lee, J. and Karpova E. (2018). Revisiting the Competitiveness Theory in the New Global Environment: Review and Analysis of the Competitiveness Definition. Int. J. Competitiveness, Vol.1, No.3: 189-205.
- 12. Porter, M. E. (1998). The Competitive Advantage of Nations. New Edition, Published by Palgrave, 855p.

Kıvanç Halil Ariç, Sek Siok Kun

- 13. Radosevic, S. (2009). Research and Development, Competitiveness and European Integration of South Eastern Europe, Europe_Asia Studies, 61(4), June: 621-650.
- 14. Smit A. J. (2010). The Competitive Advantage of Nations: Is Porter's Diamond Framework a New Theory That Explains the International Competitiveness of Countries?. Southern African Business Review. 14(1): 105-130.
- Voinescu, R. and Moisoiu C. (2014). Competitiveness, Theoretical and Policy Approaches. Towards a more Competitive EU. 2nd International Conference 'Economic Scientific Research-Theoretical, Empirical and Practical Approaches', ESPERA 2014, 13-14 November 2014, Bucharest, Romania.
- 16. World Economic Forum (2008). Global Competitiveness Report. Editor: Klaus Schwab, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 17. World Economic Forum (2019). Global Competitiveness Report. Editor: Klaus Schwab, Geneva, Switzerland.

1.17. AGRIBUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS – THE CASE OF FRUIT PROCESSING INDUSTRY IN SERBIA

Marija Nikolić¹

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Agriculture, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The application of the marketing concept contributes to business competitiveness and success of a company. Companies that apply marketing concept are more efficient than the competition in creating and delivering added value to consumers (Kotler & Keller, 2012). In this paper, competitiveness is examined through the prism of market orientation of companies, which, in addition to competitor orientation, also includes customer orientation and interfunctional coordination. The aim of this paper is to examine the extent to which fruit juice producers are competitor oriented, and to evaluate if market orientation of these companies contributes to strengthening their competitive position in the domestic market.

METHODOLOGY

The research included 13 companies, or 21% of registered capacities of the production of fruit and vegetable juices (according to the data from the Serbian Business Registers Agency from 2015) in the Republic of Serbia². The research was conducted in early 2016. A modified MKTOR scale (Narver & Slater, 1990) was used to measure the market orientation. The competitive position of company is measured by the intensity of competition, the market share of the company and its ability to conquer new markets and consumers. The correlation between the market orientation of the company and competitive position was examined by applying the Pearson correlation coefficient.

¹ Email address: mnikolic@agrif.bg.ac.rs

² The research was conducted for the purpose of preparing a doctoral dissertation at the Faculty of Economics, University of Niš.

RESULTS

The market orientation of the fruit juice producers was evaluated with an average score of 4.06 on a five-point scale, where a score 5 was the highest. Competitor orientation was rated with an average score of 3.84, which is lower than the average score for consumer orientation (3.95) and interfunctional coordination (4.44). This indicates that competitor orientation is the weakest of the three "pillars" of market orientation. There is a strong positive correlation between the market orientation and the derived indicator of the competitive position of the company r(13) = .74, p = .004. This implies that the strong market orientation is connected with a strong competitive position in the domestic market.

IMPLICATIONS

Practical implications of this paper are related to the possibility of improving the business practice of companies included in research, which would lead to better market position of these companies and enable them to provide higher values to their consumers. Theoretical implications arise from the implementation of MKTOR scale in evaluation of market orientation of companies in agribusiness in Serbia.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper presents the research results on the application of the market orientation of companies engaged in the production of fruit and vegetable juices. Special attention is paid to the competitor orientation of these companies and their competitive position in domestic market. Furthermore, paper shows that although juice producers collect information about their competitors, they react slowly to their activities, and that there is no practice of connecting and building networks with other stakeholders.

CONTRIBUTION

Empirical research on the market orientation of companies in Serbia in the posttransition period is modest and sporadic. This is even more pronounced when it comes to the agribusiness sector. Previous research has shown that the agrarian sector has revealed comparative advantages (RCA) in the global market, but also that fruit and vegetable juices are characterized by lower values of RCA (Božić and Nikolić, 2017). There is a strong link between national and competitiveness of companies (Porter, 1998; Bankova, 2015), which would imply that there is a link between the competitive position of fruit juice processors and agribusiness sector as a whole.

KEY WORDS

Fruit-juice producers, competitiveness, marketing orientation, Serbia

- Bankova, Y. (2015). Critical success factors of national competitiveness. In: *Challenges in business and economics: growth, competitiveness and innovations,* Faculty of Economics, University of Niš, 16 October 2015, pp. 113-125, Retrieved September 16th, 2017 from http://isc2015.ekonomskifakultet.rs/ISCpdfs/ISC2015-10.pdf
- Božić, D., & Nikolić, M. (2017). Spoljnotrgovinska razmena Srbije i značaj agrarnog sektora. *Teme*, 41(3), 711–730. DOI: 10.22190/TEME1703711B
- 3. Kotler, P. and Keller, K. L. (2012). *Marketing Management*, 14th edition, Pearson Education, Pearson Prentice Hall.
- 4. Narver, J., & Slater, S. (1990). The Effect of a Market Orientation on Business Profitability. *Journal of Marketing*, 54, 20–35.
- Nikolić, M. (2018). Marketing orijentacija kao determinanta konkurentnosti proizvođača voća i voćnih sokova u Republici Srbiji. Doktorska disertacija, Ekonomski fakultet, Univerzitet u Nišu.
- 6. Porter, M. (1998). *Competitive Strategy, Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors*. First edition in 1980, The Free Press, A Division of Simon & Schuster Inc, New York.

1.18. FDI CONTRIBUTION TO TECHNICAL EFFICIENCY IN THE SERBIAN MANUFACTURING SECTOR

Ivan Nikolić¹

Economics Institute, Belgrade, Republic of Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The contribution of foreign direct investment (FDI) to the developing economies has been examined by a large body of theoretical and empirical studies. The key objective of this paper was to match the quantification of technical inefficiency with the high inflow of FDI that has been characteristic of Serbia in recent years and determine how FDI affects a firm's technical efficiency improvement as well as its technical progress in a stochastic frontier (SF) model.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology is based on SF analysis - within that, 'true' random effects model - TRE (Greene, 2005). Empirical analysis utilizes the balanced panel data on a sample of 92 Groups of Section C 'Manufacturing', spread over 10 years period 2010-2019. The data source is the Business Register of Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. The SF model estimates a firm's production frontier given a set of production inputs. The deviation of a firm's actual output level from its maximum level of output is defined as technical inefficiency. The variable FDI (share of foreign ownership) was used as a covariate.

RESULTS

Regarding the effect of foreign ownership variable (FDI), the value of the *z* ratio varies from -5,98 to -5,71, depending on the model specifications and are smaller than *z* table at the 1% significance level. This means that the presence of FDI affects the level of manufacturing technical efficiency. The existence of a negative coefficient (-0.03) indicates that foreign ownership reduces technical inefficiency or in other words a positive effect on the industrial technical efficiency in Serbia.

¹ Email address: ivan.nikolic@ecinst.org.rs
IMPLICATIONS

Over the last decade, many measures have been adopted by Serbian policy-makers to attract FDI spurred on by the belief that this inflow will stimulate export-led growth, increase employment, enhance productivity, and accelerate growth. The above results shows that presence of foreign firms in Serbia has a positive impact on improving the technical efficiency of the domestic industry, in general. But we have to be careful, since the effects of FDI can be different across industries a "onesize-fits-all" investment promotion policy is not recommended.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The relationship between FDI and productivity/efficiency has been much debated in a literature. Many endogenous growth models supported the idea that FDI enhances TFP and consequently stimulates economic growth. However, to the knowledge of the author of this paper, up to 2020 there was no papers that analyze the FDI effect on technical efficiency of manufacturing sector in Serbia. From that aspect, this paper can certainly be considered original.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper contributes to the understanding of potential effects on foreign invested enterprises on domestic economy in general and local enterprises performance in particular. Thus it importantly assists policy making by the government of developing countries, where FDI is believed to create technical spillovers on domestic industry.

KEY WORDS

Technical efficiency, foreign direct investment, stochastic frontier model, Serbian manufacturing

- 1. Aigner, D.J., Lovell, C.A.K., & Sehmidt, P. (1977). Formulation and estimation of stochastic frontier production function models. *Journal of Econometrics* 6(1), 21-37.
- Battese, George E., & Coelli, Timothy. (1988). Prediction of firm-level technical efficiencies with a generalized frontier production function and panel data. *Journal of Econometrics*, 38 (3), 387-399.
- 3. Battese, George E., & Corra, G.S. (1977). Estimation of a production frontier model: With application to the pastoral zone of Eastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Economics* 21(3), 169-179.

Ivan Nikolić

- 4. Belotti, F., Daidone, S., Ilardi, G., & Atell, V. (2012). Stochastic frontier analysis using Stata. *CEIS Tor Vergata*, 10(12), pp. 719-758.
- 5. Cardarelli, R, & L Lusinyan (2015). U.S. Total Factor Productivity Slowdown: Evidence from the U.S. States. *IMF Working Paper* no. 15/116. p. 24.
- 6. Carroll, J., Newman C., & Thorne, F. (2011). A Comparison of Stochastic Frontier Approaches for Estimating Technical Inefficiency and Total Factor Productivity. *Applied Economics*, 43(27), 4007-4019.
- 7. Greene, W.H. (2005a). Fixed and Random Effects in Stochastic Frontier Models. *Journal of Productivity Analysis*, 23, 7–32.
- 8. Greene, W.H. (2005b). Reconsidering heterogeneity in panel data estimators of the stochastic frontier model. *Journal of Econometrics* 126, 269–303
- 9. Jondrow et al. (1982). On The Estimation of Technical Inefficiency in The Stochastic Frontier Production Function Model. *Journal of Econometrics* 19(2-3),233-238.
- 10. Kumbhakar, & Lovell. (2000). Stochastic Frontier Analysis. Cambridge UK: *Cambridge University Press*, pp. 343
- 11. Kumbhakar, S.C., Denny, M., & Fuss, M. (2000). Estimation and decomposition of productivity change when production is not efficient: a panel data approach. *Econometric Reviews*, 19(4), 312–320.
- 12. Kumbhakar, Wang, & Horncastle. (2015). A Practitioner's Guide to Stochastic Frontier Analysis Using Stata, *Cambridge University Press*, pp. 556.
- 13. Meeusen, W., & Van den Broeck, J. (1977). Efficiency estimation from Cobb-Douglas production functions with composed error. *International Economic Review* 18(2), 435-444.
- 14. Nikolić, I. (2019). Osvrt na tehnološke promene prerađivačke industrije 2010-2018. *MAT-Makroekonomske analize i trendovi,* Ekonomski institut, br. 299, str. 21-25.
- 15. Nikolić, I., & Zoroja, M. (2018). What Has Been Driving the Rapid Growth of Serbian Manufacturing Since 2014 Why Does Technology Matter?. *BH ECONOMIC FORUM*, Zenica, december, 2018., no. 9 5-203.
- 16. Pires, J. O., & Garcia, F. (2012). Productivity of nations: A stochastic frontier approach to TFP decomposition. *Economics Research International*, vol. 2012, p. 19, http://downloads.hindawi.com/archive/2012/584869.pdf.
- 17. Pitt, M., & Lee, L. (1981). Measurement and Sources of Technical Efficiency in the Indonesian Weaving Industry, *Journal of Development Economics*, 9, 43-64.
- Sur, A., & Nandy, A. (2018). FDI, technical efficiency and spillovers: Evidence from Indian automobile industry, *Cogent Economics & Finance. Cogent Economics & Finance*, 6(1), 1-18,
- 19. Svedin, D., & Stage, J. (2016). Impacts of foreign direct investment on efficiency in Swedish manufacturing. *SpringerPlus* 5(1), 614.
- 20. Zhou, Y. (2014). FDI and Technical Efficiency in Manufacturing Firms: A Stochastic Frontier Approach. *Master's Theses*, The University of San Francisco. p 27.

1.19. THE IMPACT OF REGIONAL INSTITUTIONS ON FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT FLOWS IN SERBIA 2007-2018

Dejan Molnar¹ Svetozar Tanasković²

University of Belgrade - Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The subject of the paper is to examine the impact of the existence of regional institutions on the regional distribution of greenfield foreign direct investment (FDI) in Serbia during the period 2007-2018. Namely, there is an asymmetric regionalization in Serbia, in the sense that in the area of the two northern NUTS 2 regions (Belgrade and Vojvodina) there are appropriate regional institutions, while in the remaining two southern regions (Sumadija and Western Serbia and Southern and Eastern Serbia) such institutions do not exist.

METHODOLOGY

An appropriate database in the form of a panel (four-year continuous averages) was formed for the following variables: absolute value of FDI (dependent variable), and four explanatory variables - GVA per capita, existence of regional institutions, passage of Corridor X through the NUTS 3 district, amount of financial subsidies. The observation unit is the district level (NUTS 3) during the period 2007-2018. The parameters were estimated using panel methods with corrected standard errors due to confirmed presence of heteroskedasticity and cross-sectional dependence in the model.

RESULTS

We examined whether NUTS 3 level districts belonging to regions with regional institutions (Serbia-North) had more success in attracting greenfield FDI than those districts located in the area (Serbia-South). Preliminary results indicate that the value of greenfield FDI projects was higher in those districts (NUTS 3) that were less developed (had a lower level of GVA per capita), where the financial incentive to

¹ Email address: dejan.molnar@ekof.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: svetozar.tanaskovic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

Dejan Molnar, Svetozar Tanasković

attract FDI was higher, then in those districts belonging to NUTS 2 regions where regional institutions exist, while the passage of road Corridor X has not been shown to have a positive impact on FDI levels.

IMPLICATIONS

The findings of the research suggest that in the observed time interval, the territorial distribution of Greenfield FDI projects was primarily influenced by the level of development of the area, the amount of subsidies and the existence of regional institutions. The results showed that the creators of economic policy in Serbia with financial incentives during 2007-2018 favoured less developed areas in the distribution of FDI, but also that the presence of regional institutions had a positive impact on the level of FDI.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

It was determined that subsidies granted by the state to foreign investors significantly affected the territorial distribution of FDI in the period 2007-2018. In addition, FDI was higher in those sub-regions belonging to NUTS 2 regions where there are regional institutions (bodies, secretariats, etc.) that aim to define and implement appropriate development strategies in the NUTS 2 region. Belgrade and Vojvodina have little more success in attracting new greenfield FDI projects than the regions of Sumadija and Western Serbia and Southern and Eastern Serbia.

CONTRIBUTION

The conducted analysis confirmed the initial hypothesis that the value of greenfield FDI is higher in those areas where appropriate regional institutions are present. Namely, we have proved econometrically that the existence of regional institutions and bodies has a statistically significant and positive effect on the amount of FDI, most likely because they have a positive effect on the functioning of regional administration, building a favourable business environment, adopting and implementing regional development strategy, etc.

KEY WORDS

Regional distribution of FDI, regional institutions, subsidies, infrastructure, NUTS 3

REFERENCES

1. Baltagi, B. (2008). *Econometric analysis of panel data*. John Wiley & Sons.

PART 1. Competitiveness and Global Growth

- 2. Barrios, M. C., Jandrić, M., Molnar, D., & Tanasković, S. (2020). Convergence clubs in different regions of Serbia. Applied Economics Letters, 1-5.
- Molnar, D. & Tanasković, S. (2019). Uticaj kvaliteta institucionalnog okvira na tokove stranih direktnih investicija: EU i Zapadni Balkan. u Miomir Jakšić (ured.) PERSPEKTIVE ODRŽIVOG MAKROEKONOMSKOG RAZVOJA REPUBLIKE SRBIJE (str. 291-315), Ekonomksi fakultet u Beogradu, CID, Beograd
- 4. Molnar, D. (2016). Regionalne nejednakosti i privredni rast: teorijska i empirijska analiza, CID & Asocijacija "Banat-info", Ekonomski fakultet u Beogradu, Beograd.
- 5. Razvojna agencija Srbije (2020). Uredba o stranim direktnim investicijama.
- 6. Republički zavod za statistiku. (2011-2020). Regionalni bruto domaći proizvod, Regioni i oblasti Republike Srbije, Beograd.
- Rikalović, G., Molnar, D. (2018). Nužnost reafirmacije regionalne politike u Srbiji. u: Praščević, A. (ured.) (2018). EKONOMSKA POLITIKA SRBIJE u 2018. godini: Kvalitet institucija i ekonomski rast (str. 251-263), Beograd: NDES sa AEN i Ekonomski fakultet u Beogradu, CID, Beograd.
- 8. Wooldridge, J. M. (2010). Econometric analysis of cross section and panel data. MIT press.

1.20. CIRCULAR ECONOMY MEASUREMENT METRICS' INDICATORS (LITERATURE REVIEW)

Momir Polenakovikj¹ Valentina Gecevska²

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Ss. Cyril and Methodius, University in Skopje, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The circular economy (CE) has seen a significant increase in interest over the past few years. For this reason, implementers of CE are in a need for tools to support practitioners, decision-makers & policy-makers to drive circular economy, as well as to measure the effects of CE adoption. Authors proposes a brief overview of CE definition and goals as a concept, and elaborate selection of indicators that can be used for evaluation of CE implementation.

METHODOLOGY

This paper consists of literature review of peer-reviewed journals articles, conferences papers and on grey literature. A screening of the literature using key words (indicators, circular economy, micro, meso and macro) has been performed during the research by reading the abstracts and discarding the documents where circular economy metrics has not been the main topic. Basic research showed ~ 23,300 articles. Top 100 articles sorted by relevance are comprehensively checked in relation to the three levels of CE implementation.

RESULTS

Brief analysis showed that most used indicators in various methodologies and frameworks are macro level indicators that focus on the flows between economies. Another important conclusion that can be drawn is that the key obstacles between indicators all three levels (macro, meso and micro) are lacking data (from macro to micro) and time and effort constraints (from micro to macro).

¹ Email address: polenakovikmomir2@gmail.com

² Email address: valentina.gecevska@mf.edu.mk

IMPLICATIONS

In order to be able to empirically asses the effects of a circular economy in terms of profitability, job creation, and environmental impacts, using these Circularity metrics is essential. Many researchers question the measurement of circularity, such as: how to measure the progress of the transition towards a CE?; Right selection of indicators for circularity metrics is the key for successful implementation of the CE.

ORIGINAL VALUE

Sustainability indicators are many and varied. The perennial search for appropriate metrics for the circular economy indicates that measurements currently used to assess resource productivity and resource efficiency are not fully satisfactory in the CE context. Approach used in this paper is not novel in the research area, however it is for the first time applied on the level of the Republic of North Macedonia and it is correlated to the availability of data and information for the country

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes in the field of research of mapping the indicators used to evaluate the implementation of Circular Economy. These indicators are key to find universal way of measuring the successful implementation of CE as well as its contributions. In depth literature research lead to identification of vast number of indicators, however, the key issue is to have right data and information on right time in order to act timely and to use indicator on right manner.

KEY WORDS

Circular economy (CE), metrics, CE level of implementation, CE indicators

- 1. European Commision. (2014). Towards a circular economy: A zero waste programme for Europe.
- 2. Parchomenko, A., Nelen, D., Gillabel, J., & Rechberger, H. (2018). Measuring the circular economy A Multiple Correspondence Analysis of 63 metrics. Journal of Cleaner Production.
 - 3. Linder, M. S. (2017). A Metric for Quantifying Product-Level Circularity. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 545–558.
 - 4. Potting, J. H. (2016). Circular Economy: Measuring innovation in product chains. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.

Momir Polenakovikj, Valentina Gecevska

- Acampora, A. P. (2017). Environmental Management Systems in the Wine Industry: Identification of Best Practices toward a Circular Economy. 23rd International Sustainable Development Research Society Conference. Colombia.
- 6. Ellen Macarthur Foundation. (2015). Circularity Indicators: An approach to measuring circularity.
- 7. Moraga, G. H. (2019). Circular economy indicators: What do they measure? Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 146, 452-461.
- 8. Sacchi Homrich, A. G. (2018). The circular economy umbrella: Trends and gaps on. Journal of Cleaner Production, 525-543.
- 9. Valerio Elia, M. G. (2017). Measuring circular economy strategies through index methods: A critial review. Journal of Cleaner Production 142, 2741 2751.
- 10. Vercalsteren, A. C. (2018). Indicators for Circular Economy. Research report of the Policy Centre Circular Economy.
- 11. Winans, K. K. (2017). The history and current applications of the circular economy concept. Renewable and, 825-833.
- 12. Wisse, E. (2016). Assessment of indicators for Circular Economy: The case for the Metropole Region of Amsterdam. Faculty of Geosciences Theses, Utrecht University.
- 13. Saidani, M., Yannou, B., Leroy, Y., Cluzel, F., & Kendall, A. (2018). A Taxonomy of Circular Economy Indicators. Journal of Cleaner Productio.



2.1. RISK-SHARING AS A FUNCTION OF FINANCIAL SUPPORT OF INNOVATION-BASED ECONOMY

Ivan Rakonjac¹

University of Belgrade – Faculty of Security Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The goal of this paper is to examine the role of the state support of innovative companies throughout their life cycle. The question being raised is which is the most efficient way for the state to intervene and in which way it should secure the financing of innovative companies. In the early stages of innovation development in transition countries, the state is often the only source of external financing due to the lack of private investments.

METHODOLOGY

This paper is based on a quantitative analysis of companies that have participated in programs of the Serbian Innovation Fund. Throughout three programs, 192 supported companies have been observed, with a focus on companies in the early development stage (120 start-ups). The companies were examined through the following indicators: revenue, the number of employees, profit, commercialization of innovative product(s) created through the supported program and the survival rate of the company.

RESULTS

The Innovation Fund supports the development of innovation through programs that target companies of a certain size, age and cooperation with scientific research organizations. Research shows that existing mechanisms are designed to meet the needs of the stakeholders. Taking on the risk with an investment of EUR 26 million, representing 69% of the innovation development value, has resulted in increased revenues and number of employees of the supported companies, with a survival rate of 33%.

¹ Email address: ivan.rakonjac@gmail.com

IMPLICATIONS

The role of the state is of significance in the development of the innovation-based economy, especially by offering mechanisms for providing the funds and by building an environment with access to the various financing sources. As the nature of innovation financing involves risk-taking, the role of the state is to share this risk in order to encourage the development of innovation, but through a carefully created mechanisms, which must respond to the expressed needs of the innovation ecosystem.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This paper is based on the analysis of the state's role in the innovation ecosystem interpreted through the prism of a country in transition, whose past is characterized by an exceptional fruitful scientific sector and a low level of private entrepreneurship. The development of the innovation ecosystem in Serbia, as it is known in developed countries, comes with the strengthening of the SME sector and with the realization that growth requires investment in R&D, which entailed state support.

CONTRIBUTION

The contribution of this paper is reflected in confirming the justification for the state's interventions in the sector of innovation financing, as well as in concluding that it is necessary to secure larger investments and design new financing instruments. Research shows that further development of the innovation ecosystem in Serbia requires larger public investments, which at the same time requires obtaining additional sources for financing public investments (such as the European Union).

KEY WORDS

Start-up, innovation ecosystem, risk management, public grants, R&D

- 1. Ali-Yrkkö, J., Pajarinen, M., & Ylhäinen, I. (2019). Business Angel Investment, Public Innovation Funding and Firm Growth (No. 97). The Research Institute of the Finnish Economy.
- Cornell University, INSEAD, and the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO). Global Innovation Index Report 2019

Danijela Stojanović, Ivana Domazet

- 3. Huergo, E., & Moreno, L. (2014). National or international public funding? Subsidies or loans? Evaluating the innovation impact of R&D support programmes.
- 4. Khan, S. S., Timotijevic, L., Newton, R., Coutinho, D., Llerena, J. L., Ortega, S., ... & Urban, C. (2016). The framing of innovation among European research funding actors: Assessing the potential for 'responsible research and innovation'in the food and health domain. Food Policy, 62, 78-87.
- Liu, R., & Rammer, C. (2016). The contribution of different public innovation funding programs to SMEs' export performance. ZEW-Centre for European Economic Research Discussion Paper, (16-078).
- 6. Moagar-Poladian, S., Folea, V., & Paunica, M. (2017). Competitiveness of EU member states in attracting EU funding for research and innovation. ESPERA, 20(2).
- OECD, European Training Foundation, European Union and European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (2019). SME Policy Index: Western Balkans and Turkey 2019
- Rakonjac, I., & Brkić, V. S. (2018). Identifying and Categorizing Risks of New Product Development in a Small Technology-Driven Company. In Technology Entrepreneurship (pp. 71-98). Springer, Cham.
- 9. Sierra, J. (2019). How financial systems and firm strategy impact the choice of innovation funding. European Journal of Innovation Management.
- Soetanto, D., & Van Geenhuizen, M. (2015). Getting the right balance: University networks' influence on spin-offs' attraction of funding for innovation. Technovation, 36, 26-38.
- 11. Taplin, R. (2006). Managing funding for innovative European SMEs. Engineering Management, 16(1), 18-21.
- 12. World Bank. 2010. Innovation Policy: A Guide for Developing Countries. World Bank
- 13. Wang, Y., Li, J., & Furman, J. L. (2017). Firm performance and state innovation funding: Evidence from China's Innofund program. Research Policy, 46(6), 1142-1161.
- 14. Zhu, W., Tian, Y., Hu, X., Ku, Q., & Dai, X. (2019). Research on relationship between government innovation funding and firms value creation using clustering-rough sets. Kybernetes.

2.2. USE OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGIES IN EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES – CASE FROM SERBIA

Danijela Stojanović¹ Ivana Domazet² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Secondary education in developing countries is largely based on obsolete teaching methods and technologies. The aim of this paper is to analyze the use and preferences of mobile technologies for the needs of education among the high school population, with special emphasis on social media. Given that teaching activities based on "chalkboards" cannot provide students with enough new knowledge they need for further education and professional work, the possibility of improving the teaching process by applying modern technologies is being considered.

METHODOLOGY

The research presented in this paper is based on the analysis of questionnaires, on the practice and preferences of using mobile technologies and social media for educational purposes. The research was conducted among the high school population in certain School of Economics in Belgrade. The first research was conducted in the period February-March 2016. In order to get the updated data and to overcome the time distance of four years, the research with the students of the same school was repeated in the period February-March 2020. In both periods, the sample was structured in an identical manner to ensure complete comparability of the results obtained. The research was attended by 120 students of the third and fourth grade of the high school of economics.

¹ Email address: danijela.stojanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: ivana.domazet@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

The obtained results show that the advantages of mobile learning in high school practice are still not sufficiently utilized, since students rarely use the Internet on mobile phones or tablets to acquire new knowledge or information in the educational process. It is noticeable that the trends in the use of information technology in domestic high schools are at approximately the same level as in similar research conducted in other EU countries, as well as that there is room for improving the application of modern information technology in education.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of the research confirm the assumption that there is room for improving the learning process in secondary education by using modern information technologies in the domestic education system. Also, students would be much more interested and motivated for this type of pedagogical-educational innovation if teachers would to a greater extent encourage the use of mobile devices, the Internet and social media for teaching and educational purposes. The authors are aware of the limitations in the presented research because it was conducted in one high school and with a limited number of students in the sample. The intentions of the authors are to include a larger number of schools and students in future research.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The results of the research are important for the organization and implementation of teaching studies of different educational profiles. This research was done on a sample of high school students, and the possibilities of applying this method of work, i.e. mobile learning in high schools of different educational profiles (gymnasiums, vocational schools, etc.) turn out to be logical. Mobile learning is close to the high school population in Serbia. Also application of modern technologies in education and distance learning models can provide high quality and continuity of learning in specific, irregular circumstances and should be developed in such a way that decision makers in the field of education policy accept best performing distance learning models as solutions to ensure continuity of teaching in circumstances that require it.

CONTRIBUTION

A new approach to teaching in secondary schools, based on the application of modern information technologies (smartphones, tablets and *IoT* services) to

PART 2. Trends in Digital Economy

acquire new knowledge or information for educational purposes, can contribute to better vertical integration of the entire educational process, which along with elementary, secondary and higher education, includes the labor market.

KEY WORDS

Information technology, digital media, e-learning, mobile learning, high school education

- 1. Al-Bahrani, A., & Patel, D. (2015). Incorporating Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook in economics classrooms. *Journal of Economic Education*, *46*(1), 56–67.
- 2. Asterhan, C. S., & Rosenberg, H. (2015). The promise, reality and dilemmas of secondary school teacher–student interactions in Facebook: The teacher perspective. *Computers & Education*, *85*, 134–148.
- 3. Bogdanović, Z., Barać, D., Jovanić, B., Popović, S., & Radenković, B. (2014). Evaluation of mobile assessment in a learning management system. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *45*(2), 231–244.
- 4. Czarkowska, M., Gumkowska, A., & Gumkowska, A. (2017). Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Pinterest – nowe perspektywy badawcze. *Adeptus, 0*(10).
- 5. Domazet, I., & Simović, V. (2020). The use of Google Analytics for measuring website performance of non-formal education institution. *In Handbook of Research on Social and Organizational Dynamics in the Digital Era*, 483–498.
- 6. Domazet, I., Zubović, J., & Lazić, M. (2018). Driving factors of Serbian competitiveness: Digital economy and ICT. *Strategic Management*, *23*(2), 20–28.
- Domazet, I., Lazić, M., Simović, V. (2014) Mogućnosti i pretpostavke za razvoj IKT industrije u Srbiji, In: Drašković B. (Ed.) "Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji: mogućnost revitalizacije industrijskog sektora". Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, pp. 619-637.
- 8. European Commission. (2014). Digital Agenda for Europe Rebooting Europe's economy. In *European Commission*.
- Halder, I., Halder, S., & Guha, A. (2015). Undergraduate students use of mobile phones: Exploring use of advanced technological aids for educational purpose. *Journal of Media and Communication Studies*, 7(4), 81–87.
- 10. Karabatzaki, Z. et al. (2018). Mobile Application Tools for Students in Secondary Education. An Evaluation Study. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies (IJIM)*, *12*(2), 142.
- 11. Kuzmanović, D., Pavlović, Z., Popadić, D., & Milosevic, T. (2019). Internet and Digital Technology Use among Children and Youth in Serbia: EU Kids Online Survey Results, 2018. In *Institute of Psychology, Faculty of Philosophy, Belgrade*.

Danijela Stojanović, Ivana Domazet

- 12. Pavlović, D., Vukmirović, V., & Domazet, I. (2020). Uticaj informaciono-komunikacionih tehnologija na tržište rada mladih. XXVI Skup TRENDOVI RAZVOJA: "INOVACIJE U MODERNOM OBRAZOVANJU," 88–91.
- Petrović, L., Stojanović, D., & Labus, A. (2018). Development of an educational game: Augmented reality approach to edutainment. In: XVI International Symposium Doing Business in the Digital Age: Challenges, Approaches and Solutions SymOrg 2018, 96– 107.
- Petrović, L., Stojanović, D., Labus, A., Bogdanović, Z., & Despotović-Zrakić, M. (2017). Harnessing Edutainment in Higher Education: an Example of an IoT Based Game. *The 12th International Conference on Virtual Learning ICVL*, 318–324.
- 15. Petrović, L., Jezdović, I., Stojanović, D., Bogdanović, Z., & Despotović-Zrakić, M. (2017). Development of an educational game based on IoT. *International Journal of Electrical Engineering and Computing*, 1(1), 36–45.
- 16. Smahel, D. et al. (2020). EU Kids Online 2020. *Survey Results from 19 Countries. EU Kids Online*.
- 17. Sølvberg, A. M., & Rismark, M. (2012). Learning spaces in mobile learning environments. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, *13*(1), 23–33.
- 18. Stojanović, D. et al. (2019). An approach to using Instagram in secondary education. *The 14th International Conference on Virtual Learning ICVL*, 247–253.
- 19. Stojanović, D., Bogdanović, Z., & Nedeljković, N. (2016). Upotreba mobilnih tehnologija u srednjoškolskom obrazovanju. *Zbornik Radova XLIII Simpozijum o Operacionim Istraživanjima SYM-OP-IS 2016*, 71–74.
- 20. Wu, W. H., Wu, Y. C. J., Chen, C. Y., Kao, H. Y., Lin, C. H., & Huang, S. H. (2012). Review of trends from mobile learning studies: A meta-analysis. *Computers & Education*, *59*(2), 817–827.
- Министарство просвете науке и технолошког развоја, Завод за унапређење образовања и васпитања, & Завод за вредновање квалитета образовања и васпитања. (2019). Оквир дигиталних компетенција- Наставник за дигитално доба 2019.

2.3. COVID-19 CORONAVIRUS AS A TRIGGER: TRANSITION TO DIGITAL ECONOMY IN NORTH MACEDONIA

Zoran Janevski¹ Biljana Angelova²

"Ss. Cyril and Methodius" University in Skopje, Institute of Economics, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The number of organizations attempting to adopt digital technologies and transform themselves has grown rapidly over the past few years. Digital transformation of organizations is becoming one of the critical sources of competitive advantage and competitiveness, but the Covid-19 crisis has highlighted the importance of going digital even for the existence of businesses, organizations and jobs. The objective of this paper is to highlight the necessity of digitization in all segments of the economy of North Macedonia.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology used in this paper is based on desk research, qualitative interviews, secondary statistics and media analysis. An empirical research (online survey) was conducted from 20 March to 20 May 2020 during the Covid-19 pandemic first wave in Macedonia. The focus was on three sectors: education, retail, and ICT, and data was collected on the effects caused by the pandemic on business models, business results and digital transformation of the organizations.

RESULTS

The results of the research indicate that Covid-19 has a strong impact on the economy of North Macedonia in almost every sector, especially on retail and education. The companies and organizations from these two sectors recognize that their digital transformation should become their ultimate goal for competitive advantage (for 74% of the respondents from retail, and for 68% of the respondents

¹ Email address: zoran.janevski@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² Email address: angelova@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

Zoran Janevski, Biljana Angelova

from education), but because of the Covid-19 crisis, for them it becomes one of the crucial factor for their business existence (for 93% of the respondents from retail, and for 82% of the respondents from education). ICT sector is less affected by the pandemic (only 23% of the respondents stated that the pandemic affected their business processes, but almost 74% stated that their businesses suffer because of the crisis of Macedonian economy caused by the pandemic), and businesses from this sector see this health crisis as a driver of digitalization of the business environment in North Macedonia (69% of all respondents from ICT sector) and a strong potential for the ICT sector growth (77% of all respondents from the ICT sector).

IMPLICATIONS

The research findings are important for policy, practice (especially top managers of businesses and organizations), and subsequent research.

Organizations and business in North Macedonia see the Covid-19 crisis as a trigger to their digital transformation. Ultimately, they need support to implement, manage and optimize the opportunities of new digital technologies which will add incredible value to their performances. This will contribute to the development of digital economy of the country as a whole.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

There is not so much research on digital transformation in North Macedonia, especially in the context of Covid-19 pandemic, and considering the health crisis as a potential trigger for development of digital economy of the country. This research put an emphasis on the pandemic as an opportunity for the Macedonian economy and pointed out the necessity of acceleration of digital transformation and acceptance of new business models based on digital technology.

CONTRIBUTION

This research is among the first that investigate if and how the Covid-19 crisis could be treated as an opportunity for the economy of North Macedonia, and not just as a threat. The online survey of respondents from three important sectors of the economy gives an insight into the issues that businesses, organizations and relevant state agencies should focus on in order to improve their position to better navigate the new reality of a post-Covid world.

KEY WORDS

Digital economy, digital transformation, Covid-19 pandemic, health crisis, economy of North Macedonia

- 1. Baldwin R, di Mauro B.W. (2020). *Economics in the Time of COVID-19*, CEPR Press: London, UK, 2020; pp. 105-109. Available online: www.cepr.org (accessed on 21.3.2020).
- Dannenberg P, Fuchs M, Riedler T, Wiedemann C. (2020). Digital Transition by COVID-19 Pandemic? The German Food Online Retail, *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie (Journal of Economic & Social Geography)*, – 2020, DOI:10.1111/tesg.12453, Vol. 111, No. 3, pp. 543–560. Available online: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/tesg.12453 (accessed 8.5.2020).
- Godnov U, Bojnec S, Angelova B, Janevski Z, Petkovska Mirchevska T, Angeloska-Dichovska M. (2014). Business benefits from government services: case of Slovenia and Macedonia, *Economic Development*, Institute of Economics – Skopje, Vol. 16, No.3(2014): pp. 13-28.
- 4. Janevski Z., Petkovski V. (2017). 'DIGITAL ECONOMY IN SEE-6 COUNTRIES: Analysis', *SEE-6 Economic Outlook*, Vol. 3, No. 1.
- Janevski Z, Petkovski V, Popovski V. (2017). Prospects for digital economy in six countries in Southeast Europe. *Economic Development*, Institute of Economics – Skopje, Vol. 19, No.1-2(2017): pp. 79-98.
- Janevski Z, Davitkovska E, Petkovski V. (2016). Constraints of SMEs in the Republic of Macedonia in the process of Public E-procurement, *Economic Development*, Institute of Economics – Skopje, Vol. 18, No.1-2(2016): pp. 179-194.
- Janevski Z, Bojnec S, Godnov U, Petkovska Mirchevska T, Angelova B, Angeloska-Dichovska M. (2015). Improvements of business competitiveness through developing G2B e-Services in Slovenia and Macedonia. *Horizons: International Scientific Journal*, University "St. Kliment Ohridski" – Bitola, Vol 17, Year 11(2015): pp. 33-44.
- Majovski I, Janevski Z, Petkovski V. (2018). Digital skills readiness of selected Western Balkan countries, *Economic Development*, Institute of Economics – Skopje, Vol. 20, No.3(2018): pp. 41-54.
- 9. Mhlanga D, Moloi T. (2020). COVID-19 and the Digital Transformation of Education: What Are We Learning on 4IR in South Africa?, *Educ. Sci.* 2020, *10*, 180.
- OECD. (2020). The Covid-19 Crisis in North Macedonia, July 2020. Available online: https://www.oecd.org/south-east-europe/COVID-19-Crisis-in-North-Macedonia.pdf (accessed on 31.7.2020).
- 11. OECD. (2016). New Skills for the Digital Economy: Measuring the demand and supply of ICT skills at work, OECD Digital Economy Papers, No. 258, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1787/5jlwnkm2fc9x-en (accessed on 12.4.2020).

Zoran Janevski, Biljana Angelova

- 12. The World Bank Education Global Practice. (2020). *Guidance Note: Remote Learning & COVID-19*; The World Bank: Washington, DC, USA, 2020; pp. 1-4.
- 13. The World Bank. (2020). *Remote Learning, Distance Education and Online Learning During the COVID19 Pandemic: A Resource List by the World Bank's Edtech Team,* The World Bank: Washington, DC, USA, 2020; pp. 1-44.

2.4. EMPLOYEE PERCEPTION ON ENFORCED TELEWORK IN FINANCIAL INDUSTRY: EVIDENCE FROM SERBIA

Željko Spasenić¹ Miloš Milosavljević²

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Svetlana Savić³

Be-terna llc, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The ongoing pandemics has instantaneously changed the way people work – or work at all (Gálvez, Tirado & Alcaraz, 2020). Accordingly, the phenomenon of teleworking has received an immense attention from both scholars and practitioners in last few months (Brynjolfsson et al., 2020). However, concurrent body of knowledge has not been industry specific. The aim of this paper is addressing the issues of teleworking among financial professionals in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

The online survey was distributed internally to the employees of a Serbian financial company. The survey is prepared using Google forms and sent via e-mail by a local HR manager. The respondents were asked to fill the questionnaire with the aim to provide their feedback regarding work from home from different aspects: quantity of work, productivity, working hours, challenges and employees' aspirations regarding telework in the future. The survey design is inspired by the research of Rubin et al. (2020).

RESULTS

The results are based on 55 responses with response rate of 73%. The findings regarding productivity are that 33% of respondents feel more productive while 47% believe that they do the same quantity of work. The survey revealed that the main

¹ Email address: zeljko.spasenic@fon.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: milos.milosavljevic@fon.bg.ac.rs

³ Email address: svetlana.savic@be-terna.com

Željko Spasenić, Miloš Milosavljević, Svetlana Savić

challenge is to find satisfactory work life balance. In addition, lack of human interaction is the main disadvantage of telework. Employees welcome the possibility to work from home and they are willing to accept mobile workplace when come to office.

IMPLICATIONS

The context of this research is created by sudden measures that were expected to play a critical role in preventing the spread of COVID-19. It means that employees were faced not only with new working environment but also with worries regarding their ability to preserve job and to stay healthy during pandemic. The research results should be taken as starting point to create sustainable balance between work from home and conventional office taking into account benefits of teleworking and intrinsic value of commuting.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Teleworking has been a phenomenon vividly discussed in both academia and practice for more than three decades. Nevertheless, an important contribution of this study is the momentum of exploring the attitudes and perceptions of employees in the financial sector. Second important strength of the paper is the focus on financial industry and financial professionals. Hitherto, only a paucity of studies has been industry-specific. Third important strength of the paper is the geographical context.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the better understanding of perceptions of financial professionals in Serbia towards teleworking. Perceptions of financial professionals has not been the adequately exploited topic (i.e. Milosavljevic, Joksimovic & Milanovic, 2019). On the other side, employees in Serbia often see high-performing human resource practices as a burden rather than a driver of positive change (see Radonic & Milosavljevic, 2019).

KEY WORDS

Teleworking, financial industry, Serbia, employee perception

- Brynjolfsson, E., Horton, J. J., Ozimek, A., Rock, D., Sharma, G., & TuYe, H. Y. (2020). Covid-19 and remote work: An early look at us data (No. w27344). National Bureau of Economic Research.)
- Gálvez, A., Tirado, F., & Alcaraz, J. M. (2020). "Oh! Teleworking!" Regimes of engagement and the lived experience of female Spanish teleworkers. Business Ethics: A European Review, 29(1), 180-192.
- 3. Milosavljevic, M., Joksimovic, N. Z., & Milanovic, N. (2019). Blockchain accounting: Trailblazers' response to a changing paradigm. Economics of Digital Transformation, 425-441.
- 4. Radonić, M., & Milosavljević, M. (2019). Human Resource Practices, Failure Management Approaches and Innovations in Serbian Public Administration. Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences, 15(SI), 77-93.
- Rubin, O., Nikolaeva, A., Nello-Deakin, S., & te Brömmelstroet, M., (2020). What can we learn from the COVID-19 pandemic about how people experience working from home and commuting?. Centre for Urban Studies, University of Amsterdam. Available at: https://urbanstudies.uva.nl/content/blog-series/covid-19-pandemic-workingfrom-home-and-commuting.html

2.5. THE FACTORS AFFECTING THE LEVEL OF DIGITAL ENTREPRENEURIAL COMPETENCES OF UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Vladimir Simović¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Digital entrepreneurial competences (DEC) are a specific variation of general digital and entrepreneurial competences. They have become very important with the advance of information technology and the rising number of technology-based enterprises and IT business models. The main objective of this paper is to identify the factors affecting the level of DEC the students acquire during the course of their formal education.

METHODOLOGY

A group of 50 university students from various universities in Serbia covering DEC in their curriculums will participate in this research which will be based on the use of self-assessment questionnaire and real life scenarios in order to provide a realistic assessment of their DEC. The students will be selected using convenience sampling method. The overall intention is to include the students from at least 10 out of 20 universities in Serbia. The collected data will be processed using both qualitative and quantitative methods in order to identify the factors behind various levels of DEC for different students.

RESULTS

The results of the research will provide two sets of useful information for different stakeholders involved in university education in Serbia. The first set of information will refer to the measurement of the actual level of DEC the students acquire during their formal education on universities. The second set of information will provide useful insights in different factors affecting the level of students DEC.

¹ Email address: vladimir.simovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this paper may have significant impact on various stakeholders. The scientific community may benefit from the fact that no similar measurement of students DEC hasn't been conducted in the past. The educational system will benefit from the fact that it will receive the feedback on its efficiency in regards to DEC. The policy recommendations which may result from this research will benefit the policy makers in terms of empirical data driven educational policies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Despite the growing popularity of digital entrepreneurship in global terms and the growing number of academic programs focused on digital entrepreneurship, the academic literature in this field still lacks with the extensive, empirical research on this subject. There is no evidence on research focused on measuring the level of DEC of university students and the factors affecting those levels.

CONTRIBUTION

Considering the fact that this research will be the first of its kind in regards to DEC, it will contribute to the development of completely new scientific area devoted to the measurement of DEC of university students and to the better understanding of the factors affecting the levels of DEC for university students. Its contribution is also evident in providing empirical data which will help universities to better adjust their curriculums with the actual needs of the contemporary market.

KEY WORDS

Digital entrepreneurship, digital entrepreneurial competences, DEC assessment

- Alharbi, S., & Drew, S. (2014). Using the technology acceptance model in understanding academics' behavioural intention to use learning management systems. International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications (IJACSA), 5(1), 143-155.
- Delgado, A. J., Wardlow, L., McKnight, K., & O'Malley, K. (2015). Educational technology: A review of the integration, resources, and effectiveness of technology in K-12 classrooms. Journal of Information Technology Education, 14, 397-416
- 3. Dougherty, K. (2015, 31st. May 1st. April). Factors that influence college faculty to adopt digital technologies in their practice. Paper presented at the Higher Education in Transformation Conference, Dublin, Ireland.

Vladimir Simović

- Geraniou, E., Jankvist, U. T. (2019). Towards a definition of mathematical digital competency. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 102(1), 29-45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649- 019-09893-8
- Fayolle, A., & amp; Gailly, B. (2013). The Impact of Entrepreneurship Education on Entrepreneurial Attitudes and Intention: Hysteresis and Persistence. Journal Of Small Business Management, 53(1), 75-93. doi: 10.1111/jsbm.12065
- López-Meneses, E., Sirignano, F. M., Vázquez-Cano, E., & amp; Ramírez-Hurtado, J. M. (2020). University students' digital competence in three areas of the DigCom 2.1 model: A comparative study at three European universities. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 69-88. doi:10.14742/ajet.5583
- Kuzminska, O. & amp; Mazorchuk, M. & amp; Morze, N. & amp; Pavlenko, V. & amp; Прохоров, A. (2019). Study of Digital Competence of the Students and Teachers in Ukraine: 14th International Conference, ICTERI 2018, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, Revised Selected Papers. 10.1007/978-3-030-13929-2_8.
- Masrom, I. S. (2013). Stages of lecturers' concern in utilizing Learning Management System (LMS) in a higher education institution (Doctoral dissertation, Universiti Teknologi MARA). Retrieved from OhioLINK Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Universiti Teknologi MARA Institutional Repository (UiTM IR).
- Scuotto, V., & Morellato, M. (2013). Entrepreneurial Knowledge and Digital Competence: Keys for a Success of Student Entrepreneurship. Journal Of The Knowledge Economy, 4(3), 293-303. doi: 10.1007/s13132-013-0155-6
- 10. Van Deursen, A.J.A.M., Helsper, E.J. & Eynon, R. (2014). Measuring Digital Skills. From Tangible Digital Skills to Outcomes project report. Available at: www.oii.ox.ac.uk/research/projects/?id=112 (2) (PDF) Measuring Digital skills: From Digital Skills to Tangible Outcomes project Available report. from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267037582 Measuring Digital skills Fro m_Digital_Skills_to_Tangible_Outcomes_project_report [accessed Aug 06 2020].
- Vuorikari, R., Punie, Y., Carretero Gomez S., Van den Brande, G. (2016). DigComp 2.0: The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens. Update Phase 1: The Conceptual Reference Model. Luxembourg Publication Office of the European Union. EUR 27948 EN. doi:10.2791/11517
- 12. The Entrepreneurship 2020 Action Plan Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs - European Commission. (2020). Retrieved 20 July 2020, from https://ec.europa.eu/growth/smes/promoting-entrepreneurship/action-plan_en

2.6. MANAGEMENT EDUCATION USING SOCIAL MEDIA: BRIDGING THE GAP BETWEEN THEORY AND PRACTICE

Valentina Vukmirović¹ Ivana Domazet²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Based on the growing interest for social media introduction to management courses and the need to better understand student motivation for employing social media (hereafter SM) for studying purposes, the objectives of this study were to provide answers to the following research questions:

- 1) Do Management course students find SM to be a valuable tool for studying?
- 2) Is duration of SM presence an indicator of students' propensity towards the use of SM for educational purposes?
- 3) Are there significant differences regarding students' use of SM for educational purposes based on their gender?

METHODOLOGY

For the purposes of this study, 641 undergraduate students of Management at the Faculty of Organizational Sciences, University of Belgrade were invited to participate in research. Students' experiences and attitudes on the use of SM for educative purposes were collected through an online questionnaire. It consisted of demographic questions and characteristics of SM use (presence expressed in years, amount of social media usage in terms of frequency of login, time spent per login and frequency of posting content). The survey also included 18 Likert-scale questions using five-point agreement level from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

¹ Email address: valentina.vukmirovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: ivana.domazet@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Significant findings were revealed. It was found that students perceived SM as a valuable mean of education, where blogs, tutorials, Facebook and LinkedIn were proved to be important sources of educational content. Five-year or longer presence on SM was a strong predictor of students' intention to employ SM for educational purposes, as students who used them for more than five years were more interested in employing them to learn something new. It was found that female students were more prone to search for educational content and additional information on SM than their male peers.

IMPLICATIONS

The scientific contribution of this research was to emphasize benefits of SM implementation in educational practices. Student-aged population uses SM to collect personally relevant information, acquire knowledge that others are not familiar with and achieve self-actualization. On the other hand, most educational practices in Serbia still rely on traditional lecture methods. Therefore, there is a need for bridging the gap between acquiring theoretical knowledge and developing practical skills. Student technological preferences should be taken into consideration when creating course curriculums and educational policies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Based on the review of relevant literature, the need for conducting this kind of research was noted. Similar researches were conducted on the use of SM in the pre-enrollment phase. This study represents a continuation of such researches as it observes students' willingness to use SM during the course of higher education activities.

CONTRIBUTION

This study has investigated the possibilities of implementing SM into learning practices of university students in Management courses. It adds to the existing body of knowledge within the field. This study calls for further investigation of this topic. Moreover, it emphasizes the need to implement SM into educational practices to boost practical skills development among students. The results of the research presented in this study are intended for policy makers and lecturers as well, as they emphasize the need for greater involvement of SM in educational practices.

KEY WORDS

Management education, social media, educative application, theoretical knowledge, practical skills

- 1. Anđelić, S., Brnjas, Z., Domazet, I. (2016). Education and entrepreneurship, In Monograph: "Insights and potential sources of new entrepreneurial growth", Ed: Zanadu L et al. Filodiritto Publisher Inforomatica, Bologna, Italy, pp. 383-393.
- Balakrishnan, V., Gan, C. L. (2016). Students' learning styles and their effects on the use of social media technology for learning. Telematics and Informatics, 33(3), 808– 821. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2015.12.004
- Chawinga, W. D. (2017). Taking social media to a university classroom: teaching and learning using Twitter and blogs. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 14(1). doi:10.1186/s41239-017-0041-6
- 4. Chen, X., Vorvoreanu, M., Madhavan, K. P. C. (2014). Mining social media data for understanding students' learning experiences. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, 7(3), 246–259. doi:10.1109/TLT.2013.2296520
- 5. Domazet, I., & Simović, V. (2020). The use of Google Analytics for measuring website performance of non-formal education institution. *In Handbook of Research on Social and Organizational Dynamics in the Digital Era*, 483–498.
- Domazet, I., Lazić, M. (2017). "Information and communication technologies as a driver of the digital economy", Proceedings from International Scientific Conference "Strategic Management and Decision Support Systems in Strategic Management, Subotica". Faculty of Economics Subotica. 19. May 2017, pp. 11-19.
- Domazet, I., Lazić, M., Simović, V. (2014). Mogućnosti i pretpostavke za razvoj IKT industrije u Srbiji, In: Drašković B. (Ed.) "Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji: mogućnost revitalizacije industrijskog sektora". Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, pp. 619-637.
- Eid, M. I. M., Al-Jabri, I. M. (2016). Social networking, knowledge sharing, and student learning: The case of university students. Computers and Education, 99, 14–27. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2016.04.007
- 9. Fowler, K., Thomas, V. L. (2015). Creating a Professional Blog : The Impact of Student Learning Styles on Perceptions of Learning. doi:10.1177/0273475315585824
- Gan, B., Menkhoff, T., Smith R. (2015). Enhancing students' learning process through interactive digital media: New opportunities for collaborative learning. Computers in Human Behavior, 51, 652–663. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.048
- 11. Khan, M. L. (2017). Social media engagement: What motivates user participation and consumption on YouTube? Computers in Human Behavior, 66, 236–247. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.024
- 12. Menkhoff, T., Chay, Y. W, Bengtsson, M. L., Woodard, C. J., Gan, B. (2015). Incorporating microblogging ("tweeting") in higher education: Lessons learnt in a

Valentina Vukmirović, Ivana Domazet

knowledge management course. Computers in Human Behavior, 51, 1295–1302. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.063

- Rueda, L., Benitez, J., Braojos, J. (2017). From traditional education technologies to student satisfaction in Management education: A theory of the role of social media applications. Information and Management, 54(8), 1059–1071. doi:10.1016/j.im.2017.06.002
- Simović, V. (2017). Which factors drive the learner's readiness to study online? The case of Serbia. Book of Abstracts. Belgrade: Institute of Economic Sciences, pp. 272-274. [COBISS.SR-ID 512480610]
- Simović, V., Radović-Marković, M. (2018). Modern Business Environment and Entrepreneurship Education. in: Domazet, Ivana (ur.), et al. Digital transformation: new challenges and business opportunities. London: Silver and Smith Publishers. pp. 148-169. [COBISS.SR-ID 512540514]
- Tan, E. (2013). Informal learning on YouTube: exploring digital literacy in independent online learning, Learning, Media and Technology, 38(4), 463-477, doi: 10.1080/17439884.2013.783594
- 17. Wu, Y. C. J., Pan, C. I., Yuan, C. H. (2017). Attitudes towards the use of information and communication technology in management education. Behavior and Information Technology, 36(3), 243–254. doi:10.1080/0144929X.2016.1212928

2.7. GAMIFICATION IN EDUCATION – CASE STUDY IN NORTH MACEDONIAN HEIS

Saso Josimovski¹ Lidija Pulevska Ivanovska²

Faculty of Economics – Skopje, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Martin Kiselicki³

Zanina Kirovska⁴

Integrated Business Institute, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The paper focuses on ICT-enabled education and advanced Learning Management Systems (LMS) through introducing the concept of gamification on improving the learning processes of students in Higher Educational Institutions (HEIs) in the Republic of North Macedonia. The main goal of the research is to examine the practical implications of gamified systems on improving student motivation and engagement in distant learning processes.

METHODOLOGY

To research the main topic in detail, a combination of secondary and primary research methods is utilized. Literature review represents the main method for obtaining theoretical and background data through books, scientific papers and articles on connected topics. Primary research is done through implementing a case study method on two North Macedonian HEIs with students from all study years, enforced through quantitative and qualitative data from questionnaires.

¹ Email address: sasojos@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

² Email address: lidija.pulevska@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

³ Email address: martin.kiselicki@fbe.edu.mk

⁴ Email address: zanina.kirovska@fbe.edu.mk

Saso Josimovski, Lidija Pulevska Ivanovska, Martin Kiselicki, Zanina Kirovska

RESULTS

Results are analyzed focusing on several key points regarding improvement of learning processes and educational systems. The baseline is provided by analyzing the current state of the levels of engagement and motivations in students (low to moderate), followed by assessing the improvements by introducing a gamified application. Preliminary data show moderate to significant improvements in productivity, motivation, learning habits and engagement with HEI activities in a distant learning process.

IMPLICATIONS

The research indicates that HEIs can benefit by implementing gamification in their higher educational processes, especially prevalent when LMS are involved. Student motivation is core in improving the student learning experience, which is difficult to monitor and managed remotely in an LMS. By introducing gamified systems and processes, students are engaged in an automated system that constantly guides them in their activities regardless of their location.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The research is a continuation on a series of papers focusing on various aspects of gamification and its implementation in different fields by the authors. In line with other research on the field, this paper brings new data and conclusions applicable for the country of interest, as well as the more expanded Balkan region.

CONTRIBUTION

As the research focuses on primary data through case study and questionnaires, it moves forward the discussion on implementing gamification systems in the learning processes for students at any educational level, with extended focus on HEIs. Data and analysis from the research will enable new evidence and conclusions in the role of gamification in modern LMS.

KEY WORDS

Gamification, learning management systems, distance learning, motivation, learning habits

PART 2. Trends in Digital Economy

- 1. Alsawaier, R. (2017). *The Effect of Gamification on Motivation and Engagement*. International Journal of Information and Learning Technology, vol. 35, no.1, ISSN: 2056-4880
- 2. Bonjour, R. & Reena, B. (2019). *Motivation: Extrinsic and Intrinsic.* Language in India, Strenght for Today and Bright Hope for Tomorrow, vol. 10, 2019
- 3. Chou, Y. K. (2019). *Actionable gamification: Beyond points, badges, and leaderboards*. Packt Publishing Ltd.
- 4. Detering, S. Dixon, D. Khaled, R. Nacke, L. (2011). From Game Design Elements to Gamefulness: Defining "Gamification". MindTrek'11, Tampere, Finland
- 5. Lu, X. & Wu, J. (2013). *Effects of extrinsic and intrinsic motivators on using utilitarian, hedonic, and dual-purposed information systems: A meta analysis.* Journal of the Association for Information Systems, 14(3), 153–191
- Brayshaw, M. & Gordon, M. (2016). Using motivation derived from computer gaming in the context of computer-based instruction. SAI Computing Conference (SAI) pp. 828-832
- 7. Biggs, B. and Justice, R. (2011). *M-learning: The Next Evolution*. Chief Learning Officer, vol. 10(4), pp. 38-41.
- Lopes, R.P. (2014). An award system for gamification in higher education. In 7th International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation (ICERI). Sevilla, Spain. ISBN 978-84-617-2484-0
- 9. Quinn, C. (2012). *The mobile academy: m-learning for higher education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lopes, R.P. & Mesquita, C. (2015). Evaluation of a gamification methodology in higher education. In 7th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies (EDULEARN). Barcelona, Spain
- 11. Pintrich, P.R. (2003). A Motivational Science Perspective on the Role of Student Motivation in Learning and Teaching Contexts. J. Educ. Psychol., vol. 95, no. 4, pp. 667– 686
- 12. Dichev, C., Dicheva, D., & Angelova, G. & Agre, G. (2014). *From gamification to gameful design and gameful experience in learning*. Cybernetics and Information Technologies, Vol. 14: 80–100.

2.8. DIGITAL PERSPECTIVES OF SOCIAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES

Snezana Kostadinoska Miloseska¹ Vasil Popovski² Elizabeta Djambaska³

Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Institute of Economics – Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The main focus of this paper is to increase the awareness of the concept of the Digital Social Entrepreneurship (DSE), as a combination of the social and digital aspects of entrepreneurship. Therefore, the possibilities and obstacles of these process in the Western Balkans countries (WBC) is considered.

The main objectives are to show the growth potential possibilities of both the market and the social impact of the social enterprises, considering the digitalization⁴ of the same.

METHODOLOGY

Methodology consists of the comprehensive analysis of strategic national documents in the field of economics and gathering information to assess opportunities in development of social enterprises. Also, publications by academic institutions and private sector, as well as international organizations are considered.

Therefore, in this paper a several case studies of such business will be presented giving an overview of how social enterprises could get digital dimension.

¹E-Mail address: snezana@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

²E-Mail address: vasil@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³E-Mail address: beti@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

⁴A shared Definition of Digitalisation in Social Services In a general sense, digitalisation can be defined as the massive adoption of digital technologies to generate, process and share information and implement specific tasks via digital devices.
RESULTS

The analysis results in WBC in the field of social enterprises gives overview of the current situation, which is underdeveloped. SEs in the WBC need to bridge the challenges they are facing in the everyday functioning and the digitalization process. Theory and modern practices show that digitalization in these services offer many possibilities and positive effects, including new opportunities for entrepreneurs, new companies/business, new and more productive jobs which leads to sustainable growth.

IMPLICATIONS

DSE will change the business environment and the way of thinking about the importance of social economy and innovation, by strengthening the market competition, encouraging the public-private cooperation and social dialog. It will create new jobs, businesses, better access to social services and economic growth. The main impact will be the new design and delivery of social services. In addition, positive impact with the public expenditures in all WBC is expected.

DSE is the only way for fulfillment the European Pillar of Social Rights obligations.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The issue of digitalization is crucial for social economy enterprises, because the changes offer both challenges and opportunities. Indeed, new digital technologies enable quicker exchanges of best practices and offer tools to support the values of the social economy through new collaborative, short-circuit and circular economic models, on which social economy actors could have a defining influence if they rise up to the task.

This research recognized common issues when it comes to the challenges that countries are facing, and creates recommendations that might benefit social enterprise in their digitalization.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper set out preliminary understanding of digital social entrepreneurship and its potential impact on the social challenges and how can may contribute to smart, sustainable and inclusive growth in the economy. Recommendation and proposing policies address the establishing of the new digital social enterprises, as well as digital transformation of the existing one in the WBC. According to the common

Snezana Kostadinoska Miloseska, Vasil Popovski, Elizabeta Djambaska

business environment especially important is the possibility of social enterprises networking and strategic approach to future development of the DSE in the region.

KEY WORDS

Digitalization, social enterprises, social economy, social impact, case studies

- 1. Alvarez, S., & Manuel, J. (2019). "Handbook of Research on Digital Marketing Innovations in Social Entrepreneurship and Solidarity Economics", IGI Global.
- 2. Banks, K. (2016). "Social Entrepreneurship and Innovation: International Case Studies and Practice", Kogan Page Publishers.
- 3. Battisti, S, (2019). "Digital social entrepreneurs as bridges in public-private partnerships", Taylor & Francis, Journal of Social Entrepreneurship.
- Başar, P. (April 2018). "Social Entrepreneurship: Case Study in Unilever Food Solutions' Trusted Hands Food Safety Online Training Program", INTECh, Open Science, Open Minds, Chapter from the book Entrepreneurship - Trends and Challenges.
- 5. Defourny, J., and Marthe, N. (eds.), (2008). "Social Enterprise in Europe: Introduction to an Update" Social Enterprises in Europe: Recent Trends and Developments, EMES European Research Network, WP 08/01.
- 6. European Commission, OECD, (2016). "Policy Brief on Scaling the Impact of Social Enterprises Policies for social entrepreneurship", Publications Office of the European Union.
- Gregory, D.J. and Anderson, B.B, (2006). "Framing a Theory of Social Entrepreneurship: Building on Two Schools of Practice and Thought", Research on Social Entrepreneurship: Understanding and Contributing to an Emerging Field, Association for Research on Nonprofit Organizations and Voluntary Action (ARNOVA).
- 8. Jitendra, M. (2015). "Social Business Adoption and Digital Transformation", Tata Consultancy Services Limited, India.
- MacMillan, I.C. & Thompson, J.D. (2013). "The Social Entrepreneur's Playbook, Expanded Edition: Pressure Test, Plan, Launch and Scale Your Social Enterprise", Wharton School Press.
- 10. Management Association, Information Resources, (2019). "Social Entrepreneurship: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications", IGI Global.
- 11. Meyer, T.T. (2014). "Social Entrepreneurship: Doing Well While Doing Good", The Rosen Publishing Group, Inc.
- 12. Monzón, L.J., & Chaves, R. (2012). "The Social Economy in the European Union", Report drawn up for the European Economic and Social Committee by the International Centre of Research and Information on the Public, Social and Cooperative Economy (CIRIEC).

- 13. Perrini, F. (2006). "The New Social Entrepreneurship: What Awaits Social Entrepreneurial Ventures?", Edward Elgar Publishing.
- 14. Prodanov, H., (2018). "Social Enterpreneurship And Digital Technologies", Economic Alternatives, Issue 1, pp. 123-138.
- 15. Rosandić, A. (2018). "Social Economy in Eastern Neighborhood and in the Western Balkans", European Commission - Directorate-General for Neighborhood and Enlargement Negotiations (DG NEAR), Synthesis report
- 16. Strategic Study on Social Economy Development in the Context of the South East Europe 2020 Strategy, http://www.emins.org/uploads/useruploads/knjige/RCC_Study-on-SE-in-SEE-Region_-2015-web.pdf.

2.9. INNOVATION IN GOVERNANCE MECHANISM: CURRENT STATUS OF THE GENDER ASPECT IN THE FINANCIAL SECTOR OF SERBIA

Vladan Pavlović¹

University of Pristina-Kosovska Mitrovica, Faculty of Economics, Serbia

Goranka Knežević²

University Singidunum, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The participation of women on company boards has been widely promoted as a gender equality issue, but also as a measure to improve governance. The influence of women on boards of directors has been widely discussed in the dimensions of decisions relating to capital structure, profitability, ethics, earnings quality, risks and disclosure. The aim of this paper is to analyze the EU legal framework, in addition to the gender situation in decision-making bodies of EU central banks, European financial institutions and large EU companies and gender situation in these bodies in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

The EU legal framework on gender issues was analyzed using the description method and the conceptual analysis method, while the women participation in the financial institutions, central bank bodies and large EU companies as well as those Serbian institutions was analyzed using the descriptive statistics on the basis of data provided by Eurostat data.

RESULTS

The elements of the EU gender equality acquis' are shown, and particularly the Commission proposal on the issue of gender balance in company boards. The arguments in favor to the adoption the Directive proposal commonly known as the

¹ Email address: vladan.pavlovic@pr.ac.rs

² Email address: gknezevic@singidunum.ac.rs

'Women on Boards' proposal, as well as the criticism for which that directive proposal has not been adopted are elaborated. We show that in comparison with membership in decision-making bodies of EU central banks, European financial institutions and large EU companies, the gender situation in these bodies in Serbia is still not at the EU level.

IMPLICATIONS

The results could be useful for policy makers as well as for shareholders in order to better understand the process of adoption of the 'Women on Boards' proposal, as well as to comprehend the actions of the different members of the EU on this topic. Bearing in mind that the 'Women on Boards' proposal is relevant again, the analysis of the current situation in Serbia is a first step towards understanding the necessary steps that must be taken if the proposed directive is adopted.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of the research consists of showing the current situation of gender issues on companies 'boards from the perspective of decision-making bodies of Serbian central bank, financial institutions, and large companies compared to the EU entities.

CONTRIBUTION

We have faced arguments for and against the adoption of the 'Women on Boards' proposal and show the discrepancy od women membership in decision-making bodies of the central bank of Serbia, financial institutions, and large companies compared to the EU entities.

KEY WORDS

Corporate governance, gender, board of director, EU regulation

- 1. Buri, S., Prechal, S. (2014). EU Gender Equality Law update 2013, European Commission Directorate for Justice.
- COM (2012). Proposal for a Directive on improving the gender balance among nonexecutive directors on companies listed on stock exchange and related measures, Brussels.
- 3. COM (2012). Impact assessment of cost and benefits of improving the gender balance in the board of companies listed on stock exchanges, Brussels.

Vladan Pavlović, Goranka Knežević

- Dion, M. L., Sumner, J. L., & Mitchell, S. M. (2018). Gendered citation patterns across political science and social science methodology fields. *Political Analysis*, 26(3), 312-327.
- 5. Fagan, C., & Rubery, J. (2018). Advancing gender equality through European employment policy: the impact of the UK's EU membership and the risks of Brexit. *Social Policy and Society*, 17(2), 297-317.
- 6. Guimaraes, G. (2020). Gender theory and gender ideology: scenario of a struggle after 25 years of the IV World Conference on Women, *Tempo e Argumento*, 12(29), UNSP e0107.
- Gutiérrez-Fernández, M., & Fernández-Torres, Y. (2020). Does Gender Diversity Influence Business Efficiency? An Analysis from the Social Perspective of CSR. Sustainability, 12(9), 3865.
- 8. Harrer, K. (2020). The Keys of Heaven in the Hands of Women: History, Hierarchy, and Gender in Early Modern Catholicism. *The Catholic Historical Review*, 106(1), 50-76.
- 9. Jahid, M. A., Rashid, M. H. U., Hossain, S. Z., Haryono, S., & Jatmiko, B. (2020). Impact of Corporate Governance Mechanisms on Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosure of Publicly-Listed Banks in Bangladesh. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(6), 61-71.
- Keener, E. (2015). The complexity of gender: It is all that and more.... In sum, it is complicated. *Sex Roles*, 73(11-12), 481-489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0542-5.
- 11. Nadeem, M., Suleman, T., & Ahmed, A. (2019). Women on boards, firm risk and the profitability nexus: Does gender diversity moderate the risk and return relationship?. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 64, 427-442.
- 12. NURIA R.M. (2014). POSITIVE ACTION IN EU GENDER EQUALITY LAW: PROMOTING WOMEN IN CORPORATE DECISION-MAKING POSITIONS, SPANISH LABOR LAW AND EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS JOURNAL, 3(1), 20-33.
- 13. Pemaratana, S. (2020). Gender and the path to awakening: hidden histories of nuns in modern Thai Buddhism, *Religious studies review*, 46(2), 262-263.
- 14. Pulkkinen, T. (2015). Identity and intervention: Disciplinarity as transdisciplinarity in gender studies. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 32(5-6), 183-205.
- 15. Solal, I., & Snellman, K. (2019). Women Don't Mean Business? Gender Penalty in Board Composition. *Organization Science*, 30(6), 1270-1288.
- 16. Srinidhi, B., Sun, Y., Zhang, H., & Chen, S. (2020). How do female directors improve board governance? A mechanism based on norm changes. *Journal of Contemporary Accounting & Economics*, 16(1), 100181.
- 17. Szydlo, M (2014). Constitutional values underlying gender equality on the boards of companies: how should the EU put these values into practice?, *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, 63 (01); 167 196 DOI: 10.1017/S002058931300050X.
- Timmer, A. S. H., & Senden, L. A. J. (2019). A comparative analysis of gender equality law in Europe 2018: a comparative analysis of the implementation of EU gender equality law in the EU Member States, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Montenegro, Norway, Serbia and Turkey.

- Zaid, M. A., Wang, M., Abuhijleh, S. T., Issa, A., Saleh, M. W., & Ali, F. (2020). Corporate governance practices and capital structure decisions: the moderating effect of gender diversity. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, 20(5), 939-964. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-11-2019-0343
- 20. Zalata, A. M., Ntim, C., Aboud, A., & Gyapong, E. (2019). Female CEOs and core earnings quality: new evidence on the ethics versus risk-aversion puzzle. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 160(2), 515-534.

2.10. DIGITAL LITERACY IN THE GENERATIONS X, Y AND Z IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Jelena Banović¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade

OBJECTIVES

The main objective of this paper is to explain the importance of digital literacy between different generations – X, Y, Z. The aim of this research is to indicate the significance of the possessing of digital skills in different generations.

METHODOLOGY

The author will use the data of the Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia – The usage of ICT in the Republic of Serbia. Data will be processed in SPSS software, to determine the level of digital literacy of different generations – X, Y, Z.

RESULTS

Results should present clear differences and levels of digital skills and digital competencies of people born in different periods, the 1960s to late 1970s for generation X, from the 1980s to the 1990s for generation Y, and from 1995 for generation Z.

IMPLICATIONS

Finding in this paper may be helpful for better understanding the importance of possessing digital skills among citizens of different ages.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Digital literacy is one of the most important phenomena in the XXI century. There is not that much research with a similar topic in the Republic of Serbia, so this research may help in some further research on digital literacy in different generations.

¹ Email address: jelena.banovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

CONTRIBUTION

This research can contribute to the understanding of different levels of digital literacy in different generations in the Republic of Serbia. This topic is important so the policymakers and institutions can correct potential gaps that exist.

KEY WORDS

Digital literacy, digital competencies, generation X, generation Y, generation Z

- 1. Jones, H., Johnson, P., Gruszczynska, A. (2015). *Digital literacy: digital maturity or digital bravery?* Enchancing Learning in the Social Sciences, Vol. 4 (2).
- 2. Barlow-Jones, G., Van der Westhuizen, D. (2013). *Digital literacy in the 21st century: Fact or fiction?*. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education, Waynesville, NC.
- 3. Coombes, B. (2009). *Generation Y: Are they really digital natives or more like digital refugees?* Synergy, Vol 7(1).
- 4. Van Deursen, A., Van Dijk, J. (2010). *Internet skills and the digital divide.* New media & Society, 13(6). 893-911.
- 5. Van Laar, E., Van Deursen, A., Van Dijk, J., Haan, J. (2017). *The relation between 21st-century skills and digital skills: A systematic literature review.* Computers in Human Behavior, 72, 577-588.
- 6. Van Dijk, J. (2008). The digital divide in Europe. The handbook of internet politics
- 7. Eshet-Alkalai, Y., Chajut, E. (2009). *Changes over time in digital literacy.* CyberPsychology & Behavior, 12(6).

2.11. A LONG-RUN RELATION BETWEEN TOURISM AND INTERNATIONAL TRADE: EVIDENCES FROM WESTERN BALKAN

Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović¹ Aleksandar Zdravković²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The main objective of the study is to empirically assess whether a long run relationship exists between receipts from international tourism and export/import in the Western Balkan region. The research is motivated by the concerns about detrimental impact that ongoing downfall in international touristic arrivals (due to COVID-19 pandemic) will have on other macroeconomic variables.

METHODOLOGY

Applied methodology is based on the panel version of standard procedure for cointegration testing in multivariate time-series analysis. It consists of the following steps:

- panel unit root testing the IPS W-stat (Im, Pesaran and Shin, 2003), the Fisher-ADF Chi-square test (Maddala and Wu, 1999) and the Fisher-PP Chi-square test (Choi, 2001).
- panel co-integration testing Johansen test (Johansen, 1988), and;
- estimation of the panel Vector-Error Correction model.

RESULTS

Empirical results support existence of the co-integrating relations both between receipts and import and receipts and export. Also, in both cases the existence of a bidirectional long run causal relationship is evidenced, in line with certain theoretical expectations and predictions. On the other hand, short run Granger causality is indicated only from import to receipts and receipts to export.

¹ Email address: abmartinovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: aleksandar.zdravkovic@ien.bg.ac

IMPLICATIONS

Proper assessment of the relations and causality directions between gains from international tourism and components of international trade contributes to the improved macroeconomic planning. To this end, results of this research that can be further utilized by the policy makers in Western Balkan countries in forward-looking analysis of the possible consequence that collapse in touristic activities will have on flows of international trade.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of the paper is stemming from the methodological approach to analysis of the relationship between tourism receipts and international trade and the scope of countries in the sample. To our best knowledge, a study with same or similar subject and analytical approach has not been previously conducted for the selected group of countries.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the literature that empirically examines the issues of the long run relationship between receipts from international tourism and components of the international trade, especially in the emerging economies. In addition to existing work, it underscores the econometric issues of panel data co-integration analysis and VECM modeling.

KEY WORDS

International tourism receipts, trade, co-integration, VECM, Western Balkan

- Caliskan, U., Saltik, I.A., Ceylan, R., & Bahar, O. (2019). Panel cointegration analysis of relationship between international trade and tourism: Case of Turkey and silk road countries. Tourism Management Perspectives, 31, 361-369.
- 2. Choi, I. (2001). Unit Root Tests for Panel Data. *Journal of International Money and Finance, 20,* 249-272.
- 3. Fischer, C., & Gil-Alana, L.A. (2009). The nature of the relationship between international tourism and international trade: the case of German imports of Spanish wine. *Applied Economics*, *41(11)*, 1345-1359.
- 4. Fisher, R.A. (1932). *Statistical Methods for Research Workers*. Forth Edition, Edinburgh, Oliver and Boyd.
- 5. Fry, D., Saayman, A., & Saayman, M. (2010). The Relationship Between Tourism and Trade in South Africa. *South African Journal of Economics, 78(3),* 287-306.

Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović, Aleksandar Zdravković

- 6. Gautam, V., & Kg, S. (2012). An Empirical Investigation About Relationship Between International Trade and Tourist Arrival: Evidence From India. *Business Excellence and Management, 2(3),* 53-62.
- 7. Im, K. S., Pesaran, M., & Shin, Y. (2003). Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels. *Journal of Econometrics*, *115*, 53-74
- 8. Johansen, S. (1988). Statistical Analysis of Cointegration Vectors. *Journal of Economic and Control 12*, 231-254.
- 9. Kadir, N., & Jusoff, K. (2010). The Cointegration and Causality Tests for Tourism and Trade in Malaysia. *International Journal of Economic and Finance, 2(1),* 138-143.
- 10. Khan, H., Toh, R.S., & Chua, L. (2005). Tourism and Trade: Cointegration and Granger Causality Tests. *Journal of Travel Research*, *44*, 171-176.
- 11. Kulendran, N., & Wilson, K. (2000). Is there a relationship between international trade and international travel?. *Applied Economics*, *32(8)*, 1001-1009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/000368400322057.
- 12. Kumar, M., Prashar, S., & Jana, R.K. (2018). Does international tourism spur international trade and output? Evidence from wavelet analysis. *Tourism Economics*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354816618788392.
- 13. Levin, A., Lin, F., & Chu, CJ. (2002). Unit Root Tests in Panel Data: Asymptotic and Finite-Sample Properties. *Journal of Econometrics, 108*, 1–24.
- 14. Maddala, G. S., & Wu, S. (1999). A Comparative Study of Unit Root Tests with Panel Data and A New Simple Test. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 61*, 631–652.
- 15. Majewska, J., & Mińska-Struzik, E. (2012). In search of the relationship between international tourism and trade: evidence from Poland. *European Trade Study Group*, 1-26.
- 16. Pedroni, P. (2004). Panel Cointegration: Asymptotic and Finite Sample Properties of Pooled Time Series Tests with an Application to the PPP Hypothesis. *Econometric Theory, 20,* 579-625.
- 17. Santana-Gallego, M., Ledesma-Rodríguez, F., & Pérez-Rodríguez, J.V. (2011). Tourism and trade in OECD countries. A dynamic heterogeneous panel data analysis. *Empirical Economics*, *41*, 533. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-011-0477-9.
- 18. Sarmidi, T., & Salleh, N.H.M. (2011) Dynamic Inter-relationship between Trade, Economic Growth and Tourism in Malaysia. *International Journal of Economics and Management*, *5*(1), 38–52.
- 19. Shan, J., & Wilson, K. (2001). Causality between trade and tourism: empirical evidence from China. *Applied Economics Letters, 8(4),* 279-283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/135048501750104114.
- 20. Tsui, W.H.K., & Fung, M.K.Y. (2016). Causality between business travel and trade volumes: Empirical evidence from Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, *52*, 395-404.

2.12. ASSESSMENT OF INNOVATIVE CAPACITY OF BUSINESS ENTITIES IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Sonja Đuričin¹ Isidora Beraha² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The research aims to assess the innovative capacity of business entities in the Republic of Serbia (RS). The subject of the research is the innovative capacity of large and small and medium-sized enterprises and entrepreneurs (SMEE).

METHODOLOGY

Methodology used in the research contains desk (Đuričin et al., 2016) and field (Đuričin & Beraha, 2018) research. Desk research includes analysis of relevant literature, statistical data, and information on various actors of the innovation system of RS. The results of the desk research were used to define the sample of respondents and the content of the questionnaire. Field research was realized by carrying out surveys on the sample of 10 large enterprises and 30 enterprises from the SMEE sector (Beraha & Đuričin, 2020a; Beraha & Đuričin, 2020b). To collect data on innovative capacity, the structured questionnaire containing closed-ended questions was sent to E-mail addresses of selected enterprises.

RESULTS

All large enterprises and 67.74% of SMEEs have innovation goals defined in their strategic documents and/or business plans. When performing business activities, 33% of large enterprises and 58.1% of SMEEs cooperate with scientific research institutions. Innovation is independently developed by 66.7% and 63% of large and SMEEs respectively.

¹ Email address: sonja.djuricin@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: isidora.beraha@ien.bg.ac.rs

Sonja Đuričin, Isidora Beraha

All forms of innovation are represented in the surveyed enterprises, while process innovation is predominantly represented in 43% of large enterprises and 45% of SMEEs.

IMPLICATIONS

The research output could have an economic and wider social influence. The obtained results represent the starting point for improving the technological structure of business entities. The research enabled the identification of business entities that have the capacity to produce higher value effects, improve competitiveness and export. Investing in the development of innovative capacity provides an opportunity to solve problems in the fields of environmental protection, employment of vulnerable groups, digitalization, energy efficiency, etc.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The research has its special significance in the unique database on the innovative capacity of economic entities in the RS. The results presented in this paper are only part of the research conducted within the Perform project funded by the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC) and implemented by HELVETAS Swiss Intercooperation.

CONTRIBUTION

The innovative performance of individual actors of the national innovation system largely depends on their mutual relationship and cooperation. Determining the innovative capacity of business entities contributes to the assessment of their role and position in relation to other actors of the innovation system of RS.

KEY WORDS

Innovative capacity, large enterprises, SMEE, Republic of Serbia

- 1. Beraha, I., & Đuričin, S. (2020a). The Impact of Covid-19 Crisis on Medium-sized Enterprises in Serbia. *Economic Analysis*, 53 (1), 14-27
- Beraha, I., & Đuričin, S. (2020b). Survey on Women's Innovative Entrepreneurship in Serbia. International Journal for economic theory and practice and social issues, 66 (1), 93-104

- 3. Đuričin, S., Savić, S., Bodroža, D., Cvijanović, G., & Đorđević, S. (2016). Climate change impacts on agricultural water management: challenge for increasing crop productivity in Serbia. *Economics of agriculture*, 63 (4), 1333-1346.
- 4. Đuričin, S., & Beraha, I. (2018). Promoting the Intensity of Innovative Activities of SMEs in the Republic of Serbia. *Western Balkans Economies in EU Integration: past, present and future*. CEMAFI International Association, Nica, 188-201

2.13. THE EXPANSION OF FREELANCE WORK IN MONTENEGRO

Mirjana Radović Marković¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Miloš Vučeković² Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The global expansion of freelance jobs is creating a new opportunity for less developed countries to catch up with high performing economies, thus this research aimed to determine the impact of freelance work in Montenegro and the workforce interest in joining the worldwide community of freelancers. Furthermore, the research showcases the demographics of freelancers in Montenegro, including their education level, gender, age, and profession. By using the results of this research, policy creators can make new legislations to support this kind of employment and secure the future for freelance workers.

METHODOLOGY

A group of 150 people from professional social networks as LinkedIn³ and Carmela Montenegro⁴ participated in the email and web questionnaire, with the requirement of working on a freelance platform that directly connects job seekers with employers. The data collected was analyzed using descriptive statistics and Grounded theory to explain the types of jobs completed, skills required for completion, and gender.

RESULTS

The results of the research provided better insights into the advantages and disadvantages of this type of work for freelancers in Montenegro. Most of the respondents have a university degree (22.15%) or have finished high school

¹ Email address: mirjana.radovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: milosvu@gmail.com

(18.2%), with minor involvement of postgraduates or workers with elementary school. When categorized by job type, the biggest number of freelancers work in the research and education industry (44%), software development (21%), and translation services (20%). Furthermore, almost 80% of the participants responded that they would continue working this way with the majority accepting it as a single source of income (56%) and an additional source of income (24%).

To conclude the questionnaire, most of the respondents replied that there are no negative aspects of this kind of work (66.22%).

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this paper may have a significant impact on policymakers and various stakeholders. The freelance community may see the showcased data as a baseline to further developing working conditions this type of employment, worker's legal protections, and social benefits for the employed. Furthermore, the high percentage of people wanting to work as a freelancer is a clear sign of the needed reform within our societies to accept this kind of employment as one of the standards and ensure equal rights and benefits for the employed.

We would like to stress that research does not have a representative sample, but it could be useful for future studies on this topic

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Despite previous research conducted on similar topics, this paper brings value by focusing on the employee demographics, needs and opinions in a small developing country that tries to reach digital maturity of more developed countries in the EU.

CONTRIBUTION

The main contribution of this paper is creating a baseline for further research in this area and help policymakers understand the needs and requirements of the new types of employment that are emerging in Montenegro.

KEY WORDS

Freelance employment, digital entrepreneurship, platform economy

- 1. Gandini, A. (2016). Digital work: Self-branding and social capital in the freelance knowledge economy. Marketing theory, 16(1), 123-141.
- 2. Wheatley, A. C., & Hibbler-Britt, L. M. (2019). The Long Tail of Generation Z and the Future of a Freelance Economy. In Advances in the Technology of Managing People: Contemporary Issues in Business. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- 3. Petriglieri, G., Ashford, S., & Wrzesniewski, A. (2018). Thriving in the gig economy. HBR'S 10 MUST, 109.
- 4. Harper, A. and Winson, R. (2018). Deliveroo workers fight for justice-Legal ruling will impact on employment rights throughout gig economy, New Economics Foundation.
- 5. Kalleberg, A. L., & Dunn, M. (2016). Good jobs, bad jobs in the gig economy. LERA for Libraries, 20(1-2).
- 6. Radović-Marković. M, Brnjas, Z., Simović., V. (2019). The Impact of Globalization on Entrepreneurship, Economic Analysis, Vol. 52, No. 1, str. 56-68.
- 7. Shevchuk, A., & Strebkov, D. (2015). The rise of freelance contracting on the Russianlanguage Internet. Small Enterprise Research, 22(2-3), 146-158.
- Baitenizov, D. T., Dubina, I. N., Campbell, D. F., Carayannis, E. G., & Azatbek, T. A. (2019). Freelance as a creative mode of self-employment in a new economy (a literature review). Journal of the Knowledge Economy, 10(1), 1-17.
- 9. WEF (2018). The Future of Jobs Report 2018. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2018.pdf (accessed on 10 March, 2020).
- 10. Vučeković, M., Radović-Marković, M. and Marković, D. (2020). The Platform Economy and Flexible Working in The Digital Age, Conference, CANU, Podgorica, June 2020.
- 11. Eha, B. P. (2013). The freelance economy is booming. But is it good business. Reuters UK Edition, 10.

2.14. DIGITALIZATION AND THE USE OF DIGITAL MARKETING TOOLS IN THE OLD-SCHOOL TRADITIONAL ANTIQUES AND COLLECTIBLES INDUSTRY: A CASE STUDY

Katerina Fotova Čiković¹

Koprivnica, Republic of Croatia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is to elaborate on the usefulness of digitalization and digital marketing tools in any industry (including the old-school conventional physical-based industries). Other objectives are to analyze the utilized digital platforms and tools such as website analytics, organic and paid social media, Search Engine Optimization (SEO) and Search Engine Marketing (SEM), e-mail marketing, content creation and copywriting and to give insights on how each one affects the business online visibility, brand awareness and differentiation.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology used in this paper is case study analysis, i.e. first-hand insights and information regarding a company from Croatia that has been operating for more than 3 years in this industry as well as an interview with the owner and a conducted survey from a small sample of 100 of the company's current and potential customers (the newsletter list). This is an original study that gives a complete overview and insights of the operations of the company, its marketing tools, stats, data and branding strategies.

RESULTS

Our findings suggest that digitalization, online presence and the use of digital marketing tools have transformed the company's operations, market research procedure, brand recognition, positioning and market reach. Results have shown that the targeted and consistent relevant free content creation in the antiques and collectibles industry in Croatia has created an online community of current and

¹ Email address: katerina.fotova@gmail.com

Katerina Fotova Čiković

potential customers and this gives the company a clear perspective and direct feedback from the target market.

IMPLICATIONS

Digitalization and digital marketing can indeed boost a business online visibility and create an online community of existing and potential customers. The use of digital marketing can enhance a company's knowledge regarding their customers and can be successfully applied in any business and any industry. Although this study provides new insights, the study was not without limitations. The study only analyses one trade and dealer company from Croatia. This could not represent the whole industry neither in the region nor the Republic of Croatia. We expect this paper to be a solid ground for further research on this subject and this industry.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Very little studies have focused on the digitalization and the use of digital marketing tools of the antiques and collectibles industry. There is a gap in the academic research of this rather untypical and very specific industry. The study fills this gap with an overview of how digitalization in general and digital marketing specifically transforms the antiques and collectibles industry, and how SME companies could benefit from online visibility and higher online brand awareness.

CONTRIBUTION

The contribution of this paper is in recognition of the marketing efforts (with a special accent of digital marketing efforts) in such conventional and traditional industries and its effects on company's online visibility and branding. This study is one response to the need to address these issues and to attract more researchers in this field of study. The contribution could be also recognized through advocacy for even further digitalization of this industry in general, as it points out the benefits and possible results from digitalization and digital marketing tools.

KEY WORDS

Digital marketing, digitalization, antiques industry, collectibles

REFERENCES

1. Bleed, P. (2000). Purveying the Past: Structure and Strategy in the American Antiques Trade, Plains Anthropologist, 45:172, 179-188, DOI: <u>10.1080/2052546.2000.11932003</u>

- Bouwman, H., Reuver, M. Shahrokh, N. (2017). The impact of Digitalization on Business Models: How IT Artefacts, Social Media, and Big Data Force Firms to Innovate Their Business Model, 14th Asia-Pacific Regional Conference of the International Telecommunications Society (ITS): "Mapping ICT into Transformation for the Next Information Society", Kyoto, Japan, 24th-27th June, 2017
- Conrad, H. (2016). Managing (Un)certainty in the Japanese antique art trade how economic and social factors shape a market, Japan Forum, 28:2, 233-254, DOI: 10.1080/09555803.2015.1099557
- Douma, M.J. (2015). Sorting the Past: The Social Function of Antique Stores as Centers for the Production of Local History, International Journal of Regional and Local History, 10:2, pp. 101-119, DOI: 10.1080/20514530.2015.1101292
- Gimpel, H., Huber, J., Sarikaya, S., (2016), Customer Satisfaction in Digital Service Encounters: The Role of Media Richness, Social Presence, and Cultural Distance, in: Proceedings of the 24th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), Istanbul, Turkey, 91. Paper, June 2016
- Greguras, M., Klopotan, I., Martincevic, I. (2019). Media and communication aspects at launching an entrepreneurial venture, 42nd International Scientific Conference on Economic and Social Development – London, 12-13 June 2019
- Gribbins, M. L., King, R.C. (2004) "Electronic Retailing Strategies: A Case Study of Small Businesses in the Gifts and Collectibles Industry." *Electron. Mark.* 14, pp. 138-152, DOI: 10.1080/10196780410001675086
- Hänninen, M., Smedlund, A., Mitronen, L. (2017). Digitalization in retailing: Multi-sided platforms as drivers of industry transformation. Baltic Journal of Management. 10.1108/BJM-04-2017-0109.
- Ibrahim, S. A.S., Ganeshbabu, P. (2018). "A Study on Impact of Social Media Marketing Trends on Digital Marketing." Shanlax International Journal of Management, vol. 6, no. S1, pp. 120–125 DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.1461321
- Imran, M., Hameed, W., Haque, A.U. (2018) "Influence of industry 4.0 on the production and service sectors in Pakistan: Evidence from textile and logistics industries", Social Sciences, Vol. 7, No. 12, pp. 246
- Makovicky, N. (2017). The Poetry of Antiques: Trade and/in Knowledge among British Antiques Dealers, ETHNOLOGIA ACTUALIS Vol. 17, No. 2/2017, DOI: 10.2478/eas-2018-0002
- 12. Palmer, E.C., Forsyth. C.J. (2002). Dealers and dealing in an antique mall, Sociological Spectrum, 22:2, pp. 171-190, DOI: 10.1080/027321701753541552
- Rachinger, M., Rauter, R., Müller, C., Vorraber, W., Schirgi, E. (2018). "Digitalization and its influence on business model innovation", Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management, https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-01-2018-0020
- Roster, C.A., Rogers, M.M. (2016). Profits and perils in the antiques and collectibles market: the influence of product knowledge structures on dealer exchange outcomes, The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research, 26:1, pp.1-16, DOI: 10.1080/09593969.2015.1050054

Katerina Fotova Čiković

- Yang, Y., Chen, F., Luo, D., Shafi, M. (2019). The Mediating Effect of Personal Heritage Value and Consumer Knowledge on Agentic Generativity and Purchase Attitude of Collectible Consumers. Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Management Science and Engineering Management, pp. 875-885.
- Yasmin, A., Tasneem, S., Fatema, K. (2015), Effectiveness of Digital Marketing in the Challenging Age: An Empirical Study, International Journal of Management Science and Business Administration Volume 1, Issue 5, April 2015, Pages 69-80 DOI: 10.18775/ijmsba.1849-5664-5419.2014.15.1006
- 17. Mubarak, M.F., Shaikh, F.A., Mubarik, M., Samo, K.A., Mastoi, S. (2019). The Impact of Digital Transformation on Business Performance: A Study of Pakistani SMEs, Engineering, Technology & Applied Science Research Vol. 9, No. 6, pp. 5056-5061.
- 18. Khan, F., Kamran Siddiqui, K. (2013). The importance of digital marketing. An exploratory study to find the perception and effectiveness of digital marketing amongst the marketing professionals in Pakistan, Romanian Economic Business Review, Romanian-American University, vol. 7(2), pages 221-228.

2.15. IMPACT OF DIGITALIZATION ON THE LABOUR MARKET: THE CASE OF NORTH MACEDONIA

Verica Janeska¹ Aleksandra Lozanoska²

Institute of Economics-Skopje, "Ss. Cyril and Methodius" University in Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The impact of digitalization on the labor market is very complex and is manifested in different conditions for job creation and job protection, changed needs for occupations and skills, coping with skill mismatch and labour shortage etc. The aim of the research is to determine the possible implications of digitalization on the labour market in North Macedonia, by analyzing relevant labor market indicators and the results of employees' survey (in public and private sector), based on several hypotheses related to jobs and work.

METHODOLOGY

The methodological approach of the study involves application of desktop research and analysis of quantitative and qualitative data. The labour market indicators for North Macedonia are based on official data sources. For the purpose of the research, a questionnaire related to the impact of digitalization on the jobs and work was created, and the survey was conducted in June-July 2020. The analysis of its results includes answers to individual questions and their intersections with respondent's socio-demographic features.

¹ E-mail: verica@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² E-mail: sandra@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

RESULTS

The analysis of the labor market indicators shows that despite the positive changes, the situation on the Macedonian labor market remains unfavorable (low employment rates, growing skills mismatch and labor shortage in conditions of still high unemployment). The survey results indicate that the digitalization may not cause serious job losses, but it can lead to significant shifts in the employment structure (regarding industries, occupations, skills, nature of jobs, pressure on the lower skill levels etc.). The influence of digitalization on the labour demand will depend on the employment sector and job profile as well as on the investments in technology and relevant experience to use it. Also, digitalization will reduce the labour shortages caused by demographic aging.

IMPLICATIONS

The findings of this research are meaningful for policy makers, state institutions, employers, trade unions and other stakeholders. The digitalization implies need for coherent approach of all involved parties. It will impose the need for reforms in all levels and forms of education, changes in management style, organizational culture, work processes and union organization, as well as application of new business models. So, the role of the state is very important, since creating policies and undertaking appropriate measures is necessary to support the public and private sector in their process of digitalization.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The added value of this research derives from linking the analysis related to labor market implications of digitalization in North Macedonia and survey results on the employees' opinions about its impact on jobs and work. Without the pretense of comprehensiveness, the paper provides grounds to debate on different impacts of digitalization on the labour market in the country. With this research, initial knowledge was gained for various aspects, but their complexity implies further indepth research for some of them.

CONTRIBUTION

The study provides an insight of digitalization's impact on the labour market in North Macedonia, and the findings may help in creation of related policies. The research confirms the complexity of this issue and offer additional knowledge on the ways in which digitalization influence different areas such as labor supply and demand, productivity, labor force aging, job transformation, management style,

organizational culture etc. These findings can be used as guide in determining the necessary to make the digitalization process more efficient.

KEY WORDS

Digitalization, implications, labour market, jobs, work, North Macedonia

- 1. Arntz, M., Gregory, T., Zierahn, U. (2019). *Digitalization and the Future of Work: Macroeconomic Consequences*. Discussion Paper Series. IZA DP No. 12428
- 2. Blazevski, T., Rizaov, G. (2019). *Merit system and digitalization of services a formula for optimal and quality administration*. Metamorphosis Foundation.
- 3. Blix, M. (2017). *The Effects of Digitalisation on Labour Market Polarisation and Tax Revenue*. CESifo Forum 4/2017 December Volume 18.
- 4. Degryse, C. (2016). *Digitalisation of the Economy and its Impact on Labour Markets*. Working Paper in SSRN Electronic Journal February 2016
- 5. European Economic and Social Committee. (2017). *Impact of digitalisation and the ondemand economy on labour markets and the consequences for employment and industrial relations*. Final Study.
- 6. Expert Group on Future Skills Needs. (2018). *Digital Transformation: Assessing the Impact of Digitalisation on Ireland's Workforce*.
- 7. Fossen, F.M., & Sorgner, A. (2018). *The Effects of Digitalization on Employment and Entrepreneurship*.
- Grundke, R., et al. (2018). Which skills for the digital era? : Returns to skills analysis. OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers. No. 2018/09. OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9a9479b5-en.
- 9. ILO. (2016). *Non-standard employment around the world. Understanding challenges, shaping prospects.* Geneva: ILO.
- 10. Jäskeläinen, A. (2015). *Digitalization and Work Life: How new technologies are changing task content and skill demand for five selected occupations.* Department of Economics. Aalto University. School of Business.
- 11. McKinsey Global Institute. (2017). *Technology, jobs, and the future of work*.
- 12. McKinsey Global Institute. (2015). A labor market that works: connecting talent with opportunity in the digital age.
- 13. OECD. (2019). *Preparing for the Changing Nature of Work in the Digital Era*.
- 14. OECD. (2017). *Government at a Glance*. https://www.oecd.org/gov/government-at-a-glance-2017-highlights-en.pdf
- 15. Peña-Casas, R., Ghailani, D., Coster, S. (2018). The impact of digitalisation on job quality in European public services The case of homecare and employment service workers, Final Report.
- 16. Schaible, S., Dr. Fischer, C., Seufert, J., Fuest, K. (2017). *How digitization will affect tomorrow's world of work: 12 hypotheses.* Roland Berger The future of work.

Verica Janeska, Aleksandra Lozanoska

- 17. Government of the Republic of North Macedonia. Ministry of Information Society and Administration. (2020). *Strategic Plan 2020-2022*.
- Vasilescu, MD., Serban, AC., Dimian, GC., Aceleanu, MI., Picatoste, X. (2020). Digital divide, skills and perceptions on digitalisation in the European Union—Towards a smart labour market. PLoS ONE 15(4): e0232032. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232032
- 19. Voss, E., Rego, R. (2019). *Digitalization and public services: a labour perspective*. Summary of the PSI report. Public Services International. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung.
- 20. Walwei, U. (2016). *Digitalization and structural labour market problems: The case of Germany*. ILO Research Paper No. 17. ILO.

2.16. ICT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY OF OLDER WORKERS IN EUROPE: AN ANALYSIS BASED ON SURVEY FOR HEALTH, AGEING AND RETIREMENT

Rui Dang¹ Ninoslav Marina²

University of Information Science and Technology "St. Paul the Apostle", Ohrid, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

ICT skills are becoming increasingly important for the old-aged Europeans. A digital gap in ICT skills remain within the elderly population, among different European countries. This study aims to investigate the computer literacy and internet use behaviors as determents of employability among elderly Europeans, thus providing supporting policy implications for an inclusive society in the ageing Europe, based on the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) Wave 7 of the year 2017.

METHODOLOGY

Our analyses are based on the seventh wave of SHARE. Data were collected in 2017 and provide standardized information on respondents aged 50+ in 12 European countries, including Austria, Belgium, the Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Poland, Spain, Switzerland, and Sweden. The dataset contains information on a wide range of topics, such as demographic information, income, health status, education, occupation, healthy behavior, social support, and physical activities.

¹ Email address: rui.dang@uist.edu.mk

² Email address: rector@uist.edu.mk

RESULTS

Results highlights that gaps among PC skills and Internet use exist widely among older Europeans across different European countries, influenced by individual factors, as well as country-level factors such as level ICT infrastructure. We find that gender in the younger age group (50–65 years) maybe a predictor of PC skills in some countries, and social salience matters for Internet access. We are also able to demonstrate that Computer Skill is correlated by factors on labor market outcomes.

IMPLICATIONS

This analysis suggests that population-wide interventions such as infrastructural ICT-environment, might be helpful to promote the employability and extending working-life among the old Europeans, through promoting PC skills and Internet use among them. Together with sustainability concerns, promoting PC skills and Internet Use and discouraging early exit from the labor market reduces the risk of enduring consequences on individual and household well-being later in life.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Understanding the determinants of employability and working-life extension of oldaged adults has been a long-standing focus of policy makers, given the ageing society in Europe. Population ageing is challenging the sustainability of the social security system and health care system in Europe; the original results of tis analysis, therefore, may promote the labor market participation of older workers via increasing PC skills and Internet Use, which are at the priority of the policy agenda.

CONTRIBUTION

It is expected that results from this analysis will have a high impact on the scientific community devoted to the sustainability of European Welfare States through effective ICT policies, and the project results will contribute to the policy debate on working life extension of European residents and solving the challenges from demographic change. Cost-effective ICT policies could be designed to reduce the health inequalities and promote the solidarity in Europe.

KEY WORDS

PC literacy, Internet use, elderly people, Europe, working life extension

- 1. OECD (2012), "ICT Skills and Employment: New Competences and Jobs for a Greener and Smarter Economy", OECD Digital Economy Papers, No. 198, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/5k994f3prlr5-en.
- 2. Adler, R. (1996). Older adults and computers: Report of a national survey. http://www.seniornet.org/php/default.php?PageID=5476&Version=o&Font=oFrissen
- Atkin, D. J., Jeffres, L. W., Neuendorf, K. A. (1998). Understanding Internet adoption as telecommunications behavior. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 42. http://infotrac.galegroup.com
- 4. Boot, W. R., Charness, N., Czaja, S. R., Sharit, J., Rogers, W. A., Fisk, A. D., et al. (2013). *Computer proficiency questionnaires: Assessing low and high computer proficient seniors*. The Gerontologist. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt117
- 5. Bonfadelli, H. (2002) *The internet and knowledge gaps: a theoretical and empirical investigation*. European Journal of Communication 17, 65–84
- Börsch-Supan, A., Brandt, M., Hunkler, C., Kneip, T., Korbmacher, J., Malter, F., Schaan, B., Stuck, S. & Zuber, S. (2013). *Data Resource Profile: The Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe*. International Journal of Epidemiology DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyt088.
- 7. Korupp, S.E., Szydlik, M.: *Causes and trends of the digital divide*. European Sociological Review 21, 409–422 (2005). http s://doi.org/10.1093 /esr/jci0 30
- König, R., Seifert, A. & Doh, M. Internet use among older Europeans: an analysis based on data. Universal Access in the Information Society 17, 621–633 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-018-0609-5
- 9. Lengsfeld, J.H.B.: An econometric analysis of the sociodemographic topology of the digital divide in Europe. Inf. Soc. 27, 141–157 (2011)
- Malter, F. & A. Börsch-Supan (Eds.) (2017). SHARE Wave 6: Panel innovations and collecting Dried Blood Spots. Munich: Munich Center for the Economics of Aging (MEA).
- 11. Morrell, R. W., Mayhorn, C. B., & Echt, K. V. (2004). *Why older adults use or do not use the Internet*. In D. C. Burdick & S. Kwon (Eds.), Gerotechnology: Research and practice in technology and aging (pp. 71–85). New York: Springer.
- 12. Opalinski, L. (2001). Older adults and the digital divide: Assessing results of a webbased survey. Journal of Technology in Human Services, 18, 203–221.
- 13. Shelia R. Cotten, George Ford, Sherry Ford & Timothy M. Hale. Internet use and depression among older adults, Computers in Human Behavior, Volume 28, Issue 2, 2012, Pages 496-499, ISSN 0747-5632, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.10.021.

2.17. MODERN ORGANIZATIONAL IDENTITY THROUGH DIGITAL MANAGEMENT

Silvana Jovcheska¹

AUE-FON University, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The organization, which understood its audience well, showed good results in an emergency caused by the virus pandemic with COVID 19. In fact many organizations immediately failed to reorganize, make significant decisions in creating a new organizational identity, and successfully present its new digital organizational identity in front of the audience. The most innovative, technologically ready-to-digit ones have momentarily demonstrated the power of risk management using the latest digital innovation in order to respond appropriately to the new global situation. In that newly created global reality, it was not enough to rely solely on the already established favorable image of the not-so-distant past, but it was necessary to find a new way of managing organizations as a whole. Managers had to physically turn organizations into viral, transferring every physical contact necessary for the functioning of organizations to digital. Human resources and the organization's overall resources have instantly become digital images, voices, numbers.

The research conducted for the purposes of this paper envisages an analysis of the situation in terms of creating a new organizational identity, a new organizational image and the willingness of organizations to respond qualitatively to the challenge of the new digital way of managing organizations. The positive and negative sides of the digitalization of organizations will also be considered. To what extent are human resources ready to accept that way of working and whether they would apply it in the future if they are allowed to make a choice between the classic way of working with physical presence and the new online operating?

¹ Email address: sjovceska@yahoo.com; silvana.jovcheska@fon.edu.mk

METHODOLOGY

The research that will be done for the purposes of this paper is based on the study of already existing literary works, issues and research. In that direction, the methods and models of analysis and synthesis of the collected information will be used in order to determine the importance of digitalization of organizations in building a new organizational identity appropriate to the needs of the new global online reality.

The use of the comparative method will allow us to get acquainted with the difference between traditional management practices and the modern online way of managing organizations in this paper is assumed to be a strategic and key factor for quality entry and long-term survival of companies domestically and internationally. market.

In order to conduct the research and prove the hypotheses in this paper, an interview will be conducted with company managers in the countries of the Western Balkans. The questionnaire will be based on a scale of views.

RESULTS

Expected research results:

- To prove the relationship between the degree of digitalization of the organization and the building of a modern organizational identity appropriate to the new global online reality
- To prove the relationship between the modern way of management, emphasizing the online management with the level of efficiency of managers and employees within the organizations in which it is applied during a crisis (crisis management),
- To show the extent to which companies in the Western Balkans monitor and implement their current online business trends, to build new identity organizations and how much they play a strategic role in their approach to both domestic and international markets.
- To show and initiate the need to create quality management staff through integrated processes in the education system following the example of developed modern economies in order to overcome the lack of quality management staff to work in crisis situations.

Silvana Jovcheska

IMPLICATIONS

The paper will contribute to determining the effects of the implementation of digital management on organizations in correlation with its success in the new online global environment. The results of the research would contribute to improving the quality of online management of the organization, in order to build a new organizational climate that will provide the creation of a new organizational identity and create a new image and image in the audience. All this will present an improvement in the success of the company.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of the work is seen in the fact that this research will present a new way of managing orgasms, in a specific so-called a period of crisis that no one but epidemiologists could have imagined would be created, a period of quarantine and social distance. It is this new situation that poses the challenge of managing companies in a very different way than the classic one. In such a situation, managers need to monitor the situation with great concentration and create an organizational climate that will respond positively to the new reality. Creating a new identity for online reality creates a new online image in the audience that has proven to be the most effective in this period.

CONTRIBUTION

The benefits of raising awareness of the need for modern digitalization of organizations and creating a new organizational reality and thus creating a new organizational identity are directly related to the success of organizations and its image. All this leads to significant financial effects on the company's operations. And all this leads to a change in traditional attitudes with the new modern management where the satisfaction of online work of employees on the one hand and online cooperation with consumers, on the other hand, is seen as an investment, not an expense. Therefore, the digitalization of organizations realistically increases the value of the organization itself.

KEY WORDS

Organizational identity, organizational image, online operations, crisis management, new global reality

- 1. Chapman, W. (2010). The 5 Languages of Appreciation in the Workplace, Northfield Publishing, Chicago, USA
- 2. Katzenbach, J.R., Thomas, J., Anderson, G. (2018). *The Critical Few: Energize Your Company's Culture by Choosing What Really Matters*, Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Oakland, USA
- 3. Tuff, C. (2019). The Millennial Whisperer: The Practical, Profit-Focused Playbook for Working With and Motivating the World's Largest Generation, Morgan James Publishing, NY, USA

2.18. CONSUMER'S BEHAVIOR IN THE PERIOD OF PANDEMIC OF COVID-19 AS A POSSIBILITY FOR FOSTERING DIGITAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN REPUBLIC OF NORTH MACEDONIA

Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska¹ Natasha Daniloska² Diana Boshkovska³ Vladimir Petkovski⁴

Institute of Economics-Skopje, University "Ss. Cyril and Methodius", Skopje, Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Demand is depended on the consumer's behavior, which undoubtedly underwent changes caused with Covid-19 pandemic. Consumers are responding to the crisis in different ways; some feel anxious and worried, buying in panic only necessary and basic products; some remain indifferent, despite government and health professionals' recommendations. Objective of this paper is to analyze Macedonian consumer's behavior during the pandemic as a possibility for fostering digital entrepreneurship.

METHODOLOGY

Soon after announcement of the pandemic in North Macedonia, in April 2020, a survey about consumer behavior was conducted, with questionnaire composed of 11 questions, divided in two groups. First group of questions was about the demographic profile and employment status of the respondents, and the second group was questions that provided data about the consumer behavior. The questionnaire was distributed online through Google forms platform, thereby reaching 427 respondents (random sample).

¹ Email address: tatjana@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² Email address: natasha.daniloska@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ Email address: diana@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

⁴ Email address: vladimir@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

RESULTS

In regards of the influence of crises in their lives, 78% of the respondents are aware of their changing consumer habits. For 56% of the respondents consumer behavior is changed in manner that they are buying stocks of products that otherwise they would have not buy in such quantities and 16% of them started buying on-line and/or order by phone, but not in-store.

IMPLICATIONS

Cross tabulation of survey data on employee status of respondents and their concern about Covid-19 was also implemented. It shows that more than half of the respondents who are managers and entrepreneurs (business owners) are seriously worried about keeping their business running against all odds in a time of pandemic crisis. This implies that business will tend to digitalize their existing or newly formed business leading to new and improved initiatives for digital entrepreneurship.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Findings from the survey and evident change in Macedonian consumers' behavior, suggests that Government could take immediate actions to mitigate short-term challenges and enable sustainable solutions for structural constraints. The solutions are about stepping-up the efforts on digital transformation, encouraging the uptake of e-commerce and promotion of the effective and widespread transition of many activities into digital platforms as step forward in developing the digital entrepreneurship.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper could be used as a base for further researches or forecast on consumer behavior, which is important and useful for the companies affected by the pandemic. It identified that in addition to consumption, changes have occurred in the greater application of e-commerce and communication services. Business and companies will need to understand how their own consumers are reacting and seriously consider acquiring ability to leverage digital tools in order to survive the ongoing crisis.

KEY WORDS

Consumer's behavior, digital entrepreneurship, Covid-19 pandemic, Republic of North Macedonia

Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska, Natasha Daniloska, Diana Boshkovska, Vladimir Petkovski

- 1. Blackwell R. J., Miniard P.W., Engel J.F. (2010). Consumer behavior (Macedonian translation). Tabernacle Skopje
- Capgemini research institute. (2020). [online] available at: <https://www.capgemini.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Covid-19-Consumer-Behaviour-in-CPR.pdf> [Accessed April 2020].
- 3. Luke R. (2013). *Entrepreneurial tools.* (Macedonian translation). Kochani: Europe 92.
- 4. Mowen J.C. (1995). *Consumer Behavior*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- 5. Peter JP, Olson J. (2008). *Consumer behavior and marketing strategies* (Macedonian translation). Skopje: Three.
- 6. Rue W.L., Byars L.L. (1992). *Management skills and application*. Boston: Irwin.
- 7. Sheth, J. and Mittal, B., (2004). *Customer Behavior*. Mason, Ohio: Thomson/South-Western.
- John, M. (2020). The Coronavirus Pandemic and US Consumption. [online] available at: https://voxeu.org/article/coronavirus-pandemic-and-us-consumption [Accessed 11. April 2020].
2.19. HOW TO GUIDE MSMES THROUGH CHALLENGING TIMES: A SURVEY ON CONSUMER BEHAVIOR HABITS IN COVID-19 CRISIS

Tatjana Mamula Nikolić¹

Faculty of Management, Belgrade Metropolitan University, Belgrade, Serbia

Karolina Perčić²

Modern Business School, Belgrade, Serbia

Mirjana Nećak³

Digital Sociometrics Lab, Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory at University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Digital revolution and globalization have opened space for new ways of thinking about ensuring sustainable operations of companies. The influence of COVID-19 pandemic on MSME sector has been significant. The objective of this paper is to analyze the potential options for new development strategies according to the customers' needs and provide recommendations to improve e-commerce in Serbia based on the research insights.

METHODOLOGY

To get a better insight into the consumer behavior during the COVID-19 crisis, and future buying intentions, the consumer survey was conducted in Serbia from the 23^{rd} to the 29^{th} of April 2020. The survey sample included 510 respondents and it was harmonized with an online sample population of Serbia. Quantitative statistical methods were used for analysis: descriptive and comparative statistics (χ 2 test, t-test, regression, correlation). The survey data are comparable with the results of the survey by McKinsey & Company conducted in 22 countries across the world.

¹ E-mail address: tatjana.mamula@metropolitan.ac.rs

² E-mail address: karolina.percic@mbs.edu.rs

³ E-mail address: mirjana.necak@gmail.com

Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska, Natasha Daniloska, Diana Boshkovska, Vladimir Petkovski

RESULTS

The results indicate that consumer buying habits have changed in terms of consumption structure and purchasing methods. According to the quarter of respondents in Serbia, the crisis has had a big impact on income, and indirectly on consumption and household savings. Respondents believe that, within the next four weeks from the moment of filling in the questionnaire, there will be increase in purchase of food and non-alcoholic beverages, household chemicals, products for personal hygiene and facial care; and reduction in purchase of clothing and footwear, fuels, personal care services, technical devices and accessories for technical devices, fast food. As many as 75% of respondents in Serbia believe that the acquired habits will remain after the crisis, and 30% believe that the share of ecommerce/online ordering of products will increase after the pandemic. Comparing our research findings with the similar study conducted by McKinsey, we have concluded that consumers in Serbia, just like those in the USA, Italy, India, South Korea and Japan tend to purchase online more often unlike consumers in some European and Latin America countries who are less likely to buy online.

IMPLICATIONS

The condition for the organization to survive and experience a long life cycle is the speed of adaptation to new normal. As many consumer goods retailers have faced challenges during the pandemic, the need to develop new sustainable business models has arisen. As these findings arose in the specific conditions of the pandemic, it is important to raise awareness of the importance of further development of e-commerce among MSMEs. One of the strategies of MSMEs could be a reorientation towards the production of products for which there is a greater demand.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Businesses during pandemic accelerate different and innovative approaches to customers' needs which are presented and explained in the paper. We have researched customers' buying behaviors during COVID-19 and future e-buying intentions in Serbia, which present a guideline for a possible area of production to which MSMEs in Serbia can be redirected, while accelerating introduction of innovation and digital transformation.

CONTRIBUTION

MSMEs with the strategic marketing orientation, aware of the customers' needs in turbulent environment, are more capable to be innovative and have more chances to be competitive. Doing business in the time of pandemic has opened new opportunities for business renovation via e-commerce, as shown by the findings. The contribution is a set of recommendations for MSMEs on how to gain competitiveness and visibility in the digital market. The research results confirm that the adoption of new technologies by consumers has accelerated, and that the processes of innovation and digital transformation have significantly accelerated in general, so they represent an opportunity and condition for the operation of Serbian MSMEs in the future new normal.

KEY WORDS

MSMEs, COVID-19, crisis, innovation, e-commerce, consumers

REFERENCES

1. Allas, T., Chinn, D., Sjatil, P. E. & Zimmerman, W. - McKinsey & Company (2020). *Wellbeing in Europe: Addressing the high cost of COVID-19 on life satisfaction*, June 2020. Available at:

https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Featured%20Insights/Europe/Well% 20being%20in%20Europe%20Addressing%20the%20high%20cost%20of%20COVID%2 019%20on%20life%20satisfaction/Well-being-in-Europe-Addressing-the-high-cost-of-COVID-19-on-life-satisfaction.pdf (29th June 2020)

- Arora, A., Christiani, P., Dreischmeier, R., Libarikian, A. & Yegoryan, H. McKinsey Digital (2020). *Building an e-commerce business: Lessons on moving fast*, 3rd April 2020. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/mckinseydigital/our-insights/building-an-e-commerce-business-lessons-on-moving-fast (5th July 2020)
- Bejatović, G. & Mamula, T. (2018). Innovations as a Key Factor in the Development of E-Commerce, Innovation as an Initiator of the Development, *"Innovation – basis for development" MEFkon 2018, International Thematic Monograph - Thematic Proceedings,* December 6th, Belgrade, 2018, ISBN 978-86-84531-35-5, COBISS-SR-ID 270817036, p. 349-366
- Diebner, R., Silliman, E., Ungerman, K. & Vancauwenberghe, M. McKinsey & Company (2020). Adapting customer experience in the time of coronavirus, April 2020. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/marketing-andsales/our-insights/adapting-customer-experience-in-the-time-of-coronavirus (5th July 2020)
- 5. EUROSTAT (2018). Sales broken down by web sales and EDI-type sales, 2018 (% enterprises). Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska, Natasha Daniloska, Diana Boshkovska, Vladimir Petkovski

explained/index.php?title=File:E-sales_broken_down_by_web_sales_and_EDItype_sales,_2018_(%25_enterprises).png (16th July 2020)

- Internationa Labour Organization ILO (2020). Policy Brief Enabling Environment for Sustainable Enterprises and the Post-COVID-19 Rapid Response, June 2020. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS_750320/lang--en/index.htm (8th July 2020)
- Luo, H. & Galasso, A. Harvard Business School (2020). The One Good Thing Caused by COVID-19: Innovation, 7th May 2020, Available at: https://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/the-one-good-thing-caused-by-covid-19-innovation (1st July 2020)
- Mamula Nikolić T., Popović Pantić S. & Muller, I. (2020). The Impact of ICT and Digitalization on Consumer Purchase Behaviour of Millennials as Emerging Economic and Social Force – the Case of Serbia, *Society and Technology, Opportunities and Challenges*, ICT and social development, Conceptual considerations, Lechman, E. (Ed.), Popowska, M. (Ed.). London: Routledge, 2020, https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429278945
- Market Research Agency MASMI (2016). E-commerce Development Monitoring Study: The research on E-commerce in the MSMEs and Protection of e-Consumers in Serbia, 2016. Available at: http://www.eposlovanje.biz/CMS/ISTRA%C5%BDIVANJE%200%20ETRGOVINI%20U% 20MMSP%20I%20ZA%C5%A0TITI%20EPOTRO%C5%A0A%C4%8CA%20U%20SRBIJI,% 20oktobar%202016.pdf (20th June 2020)
- 10. McKinsey & Company (2020). Consumer sentiment is evolving as countries around the world begin to reopen, 5th June 2020, Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/marketing-and-sales/our-insights/a-global-view-of-how-consumer-behavior-is-changing-amid-covid-19 (28th June 2020)
- 11. McKinsey & Company (2020). COVID-19: Briefing materials, Global health and crisis response, 1st June 2020. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/risk/our%20i nsights/covid%2019%20implications%20for%20business/covid%2019%20may%2027 /covid-19-facts-and-insights-june-1-vf.pdf (28th June 2020)
- 12. McKinsey & Company (2020). *COVID-19: Implications for business*, 25th June 2020. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/risk/our-insights/covid-19-implications-for-business (28th June 2020)
- Mirchevska, T. P., Daniloska, N., Boshkovska, D., Petkovski, V. & Majstoroska, J. (2019). Government institutional support for fostering SME's innovation in Western Balkan Countries, Economic Development, *JOURNAL OF THE INSTITUTE OF ECONOMICS – SKOPJE*, Year. 21, No. 3, p. 9-19, Skopje, December, 2019
- 14. Mitrović, R., Polcyn, J. & Trifunović, D.: Significance of Targeted Investments of Small and Medium Enterprises in Regional Development [Značaj Ciljanih Investicija Malih i Srednjih Preduzeća na Regionalni Razvoj], Zbornik radova sa treće međunarodna naučno – stručne konferencije "Regionalni razvoj i prekogranična saradnja", Srpska akademija nauke i umetnosti - ogranak u Nišu, Grad Pirot, UO Privredna komora Pirot,

PART 2. Trends in Digital Economy

Fakultet za menadžment Zaječar, Univerzitet Metropolitan Beograd, Fakultet za primenjenu ekologiju "Futura" Beograd, decembar 2019. p. 593

- Perčić, K., Perić, N. & Kutlača, Đ. (2019). The Adoption of Internet Media as Marketing Innovations in Serbia, *Management: Journal of Sustainable Business and Management Solutions in Emerging Economies*, Vol. 24, No. 2, p. 63-72. DOI: 10.7595/management.fon.2018.0032
- 16. Sawhney, M., Wolcott, R. C. & Arroniz, I. (2006). The 12 Different Ways for Companies to Innovate. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, Vol. 47, No. 3, p. 74-81.
- Serbian Association of Employers (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Enterprises' Activity in Serbia: Challenges and Expectations, 2020, Available at: https://drive.google.com/file/d/10xElSqLaUB8mibQV06xMZW77L5hrTurA/view (5th July 2020)
- Statista. Share of consumers aged 16 to 75 years old who used online shopping in different countries in Europe from 2017 to 2019. Available at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/915310/e-commerce-use-of-consumers-in-theeuropean-union-by-country/ (24th June 2020)
- 19. Vlašić, G., Gugić, A., Kesić, A. & Keleminić, K. Innovation Institute (2020). *Crisis as Part of Doing Business*. Available at: https://innovation-institute.eu/kriza-kao-dio-poslovanja/ (5th July 2020)
- Von Krogh, G., Kucukkeles, B. & Ben-Menahem, S. M. MIT (2020). Lessons in Rapid Innovation From the COVID-19 Pandemic, 1st June 2020. Available at: https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/lessons-in-rapid-innovation-from-the-covid-19pandemic/ (3rd July 2020)

2.20. USING RECURRENT NEURAL NETWORK TO IMPROVE ONLINE LEARNING

Darjan Karabašević¹

Faculty of Applied Management, Economics and Finance, University Business Academy in Novi Sad, Belgrade, Serbia

Dragiša Stanujkić²

Technical faculty in Bor, University of Belgrade, Bor, Serbia

Gabrijela Popović³

Faculty of Applied Management, Economics and Finance, University Business Academy in Novi Sad, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The main objective of the paper is the application of the recurrent neural network to improve online learning. Accordingly, the application of the recurrent neural network should enable solving problems of short-term prediction in order to obtain a more rational system of online learning. Also, the objective is to increase the quality of short-term prediction using the proposed Jordan-Elman recurrent neural network model regarding online learning.

METHODOLOGY

Increased use of artificial neural networks (ANN) represents an adequate alternative approach to solving logical problems. A recurrent neural network (RNN) represents one of the classes of the ANN. Unlike multilayer neural networks, recurrent neural networks have closed feedback loops. Proposed methodology in this paper is based on the use of Jordan-Elman recurrent neural network model for improving online learning.

¹ Email address: darjan.karabasevic@mef.edu.rs

² Email address: dstanujkic@tfbor.bg.ac.rs

³ Email address: gabrijela.popovic@mef.edu.rs

RESULTS

Obtained results indicate that the application of the artificial neural network model, in our case, Jordan-Elman recurrent neural network model can support and improve online learning. The proposed type and model of RNN have successfully predicted potential problems and in that way to avoid certain expenses and processes that are time-consuming.

IMPLICATIONS

The quality of the model based on artificial neural networks mainly depends on the adequate choice of the architecture of the artificial neural network, i.e. learning algorithms, transfer functions, scope and data distribution. Accordingly, a model based on the application of a recurrent neural network was chosen for the application in the paper.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Originality of this model is reflected to the use of Jordan-Elman (JEN) recurrent neural network model for improving online learning. The proposed JEN model allows to context units to save results while is doing the processing of operation on different entities.

CONTRIBUTION

By applying recurrent neural networks, the existing problem can be solved during online learning, and it is also possible to detect and predict possible future problems that may arise. The application of recurrent neural networks can achieve greater efficiency of models that are not as efficient or cannot perceive and solve problems. Consequently, application of the recurrent neural network could lead to savings of financial resources, time and infrastructure preservation.

KEY WORDS

Recurrent neural networks, artificial neural networks, Jordan-Elman RNN, online learning

REFERENCES

1. Choi, E., Schuetz, A., Stewart, W. F., & Sun, J. (2017). Using recurrent neural network models for early detection of heart failure onset. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 24(2), 361-370.

Darjan Karabašević, Dragiša Stanujkić, Gabrijela Popović

- Chunekar, V. N., & Ambulgekar, H. P. (2009, October). Approach of neural network to diagnose breast cancer on three different data set. In 2009 International Conference on Advances in Recent Technologies in Communication and Computing (pp. 893-895). IEEE.
- 3. Gao, H., Sollacher, R., & Kriegel, H. P. (2007, April). Spiral Recurrent Neural Network for Online Learning. In ESANN (pp. 483-488).
- 4. Gregor, K., Danihelka, I., Graves, A., Rezende, D. J., & Wierstra, D. (2015). Draw: A recurrent neural network for image generation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1502.04623.
- 5. Guo, K., Hu, Y., Qian, Z., Liu, H., Zhang, K., Sun, Y., ... & Yin, B. (2020). Optimized graph convolution recurrent neural network for traffic prediction. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems.
- Hibat Allah, M., Ganahl, M., Hayward, L., Melko, R., & Carrasquilla, J. (2020). Machine Learning Ground States with Recurrent Neural Network Wavefunctions. Bulletin of the American Physical Society.
- Sanderson, M., Bulloch, A. G., Wang, J., Williamson, T., & Patten, S. B. (2020). Predicting death by suicide using administrative health care system data: Can recurrent neural network, one-dimensional convolutional neural network, and gradient boosted trees models improve prediction performance?. Journal of Affective Disorders, 264, 107-114.
- 8. Toqeer, R. S., & Bayindir, N. S. (2003). Speed estimation of an induction motor using Elman neural network. Neurocomputing, 55(3-4), 727-730.



PART 3.

FUTURE OF ACCESS TO FINANCE AND FINTECH

3.1. DEVIATIONS FROM MARKET EFFICIENCY WITHIN THE MAIN STOCK MARKET INDEXES, DURING CRISES

Roxana Ioan¹

Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, West University of Timisoara, Romania

OBJECTIVES

The main goal of this paper is to analyze the evolution of market efficiency during crisis times, such as the current crisis, generated by the Covid-19 pandemic. An efficiency indicator is constructed and furtherly used in order to study the existence of any correlation between certain structural breaks within the market efficiency and certain events in the returns series evolution, for the period of time between 01.01.2020 and 29.07.2020.

METHODOLOGY

A recent approach on measuring capital market efficiency is the one proposed by Kristoufek and Vosvrda (2013) that takes into account the long-term memory and information dimension. Similar to their method, based on the combination between a Hurst Exponent and two different fractal dimension estimates, we construct an efficiency indicator, that will be computed for several major stock market indexes (S&P 500, DAX PERFORMANCE-INDEX, FTSE and Nikkei 225). Furtherly, we analyze the structural breaks of the constructed efficiency indicator.

RESULTS

By using the described methodology, we obtain a dynamic efficiency indicator, revealing large deviations from efficiency in 2020. The structural breakpoints of this indicator seem to be associated, in most of the cases, with certain peaks in the returns time series. Moreover, the structural breakpoints seem to appear prior to a certain extreme return value.

¹ Email address: roxana.ioan@e-uvt.ro

IMPLICATIONS

The results obtained might suggest that most major efficiency shifts correspond to certain shifts in prices, consequently deriving in extreme returns. These facts could lead to the conclusion that there are moments when the lack of efficiency is exploitable and when certain market participants could intentionally influence the efficiency level in order to obtain profits. Thus, additional regulations regarding the maintenance of atomicity within the market might be required.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Our analysis aims to emphasize the behavior of market efficiency during turbulent times and to analyze if certain major changes in efficiency can be associated with any notable evolution of the returns series. On the other hand, we conduct a dynamic efficiency analysis, as we use a moving window to compute the efficiency indicator and we search for those moments when the evolution of the proposed indicator changes dramatically, by determining its structural breaks.

CONTRIBUTION

The analysis starts from the one proposed by Kristoufek and Vosvrda, which is a static analysis. Our paper studies the evolution of efficiency in a dynamic manner, on a moving window, focusing on the 2020 crisis period. Also, the analysis takes into account short term as well as long term memory when measuring efficiency.

KEY WORDS

Market efficiency, Hurst exponent, fractal dimension, structural breaks

- Barunik, J., Kristoufek, L. (2013). On Hurst exponent estimation under heavy-tailed distributions. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications. 389. 3844-3855. 10.1016/j.physa.2010.05.025.
- Eom, C., Oh, G. & Jung, W.-S. (2008). Relationship between efficiency and predictability in stock price change. Physica A Statistical Mechanics and its Applications. 387. 5511-5517. 10.1016/j.physa.2008.05.059.
- Kristoufek, L., Vosvrda, M. (2012). Measuring capital market efficiency: Global and local correlations structure. Physica A Statistical and Theoretical Physics. 392. 184-193. 10.1016/j.physa.2012.08.003.
- Kristoufek, L., Vosvrda, M. (2013). Measuring capital market efficiency: Long-term memory, fractal dimension and approximate entropy. The European Physical Journal B. 87. art. 162. 10.1140/epjb/e2014-50113-6.

Roxana loan

- 5. Mandelbrot, M.M., Ness, J.W. (1968). Fractional Brownian motions, fractional noises and applications. SIAM Rev. 10.
- 6. Percival, D., Walden, A. (2000). Wavelet Methods for Time Series. Wavelet Methods for Time Series Analysis. 10.1017/CBO9780511841040.

3.2. EXPANDING FINANCIAL INCLUSION FOR YOUTH: DOES DIGITALIZATION MATTER?

Isidora Ljumović¹ Dejana Pavlović² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The development of IT, mobile solution and digitalization had high impact in the world of finance. All things considered, it revolutionized the distribution and lowered the costs of providing services contributing to the increased access to finance. The use of mobile technologies is widespread among youth making it possible to catalyse financial inclusion for them. The aim of this paper is to analyse does the digitalization of financial services contributes to the expansion of financial inclusion for youth.

METHODOLOGY

The level of financial inclusion varies across different categories among companies and population. Some categories such as start-ups, youth, disabled find it difficult to approach formal financial system and use services. In order to determine whether the differences in financial inclusion exist among general population and youth we used data from Global Findex database. Since the economic development influences the level of financial inclusion, we have put the emphasis on the analysis of the countries of the Western Balkan (WB) region.

RESULTS

The results show differences among age group, where underbanked are disproportionately young between 15 and 24 years old in all six WB countries. Young people are less likely to own account, debit and credit card or have savings at formal financial institution. They are also less likely to borrow to start business from financial institution, but much more likely to borrow from family or friends.

¹ Email address: Isidora.ljumovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: dejana.pavlovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Isidora Ljumović, Dejana Pavlović

On the other they tend to use internet based financial technologies more often than the general population.

IMPLICATIONS

Although scientific research is the primarily intention of this paper, we want to encourage the discussion among policy makers in order to influence the reach of financial services to those unbanked in order to remove the barriers in the financial sector to help drive development and improve living conditions equally for the individuals and companies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This research extends the scope of analysis related to access to finance for specific group, young people. The results are expected to raise awareness among youth decision-makers and their financial access in the Western Balkans. Also, the analysis of the problem will be important for the future course of research.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper analysis data related to young people that represent specific category and compares the level of their financial inclusion in relation to the general population. On the other hand, the analysis is conducted on a set of countries with similar economic and historical heritage, where economic development is one of the major factors affecting the financial inclusion. Also, the paper sets a solid analysis that can help decision makers in creating data-driven policies to increase the financial inclusion of young people.

KEY WORDS

Financial inclusion, young people, WB region

- 1. Allgood, S. & Walstad, W. (2013). Financial literacy and credit card behaviors: a crosssectional analysis by age. *Numeracy*, Vol. 6 (2), pp. 1-26.
- 2. Atkinson, A. & Messy, F (2012). *Measuring Financial Literacy*. In OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions, No. 15, pp. 73 Publisher: OECD
- 3. Bradić-Martinović, A., Pavlović, D. & Zdravković, A. (2019). *Digitalne veštine studenata u Srbiji*. Proceedings of the Conference TREND, Kopaonik, Serbia, pp. 201-207, 2019.
- Demirgüç-kunt, A. & Klapper, L (2012). *Measuring Financial Inclusion: The Global Findex*. Policy Research Working Paper, No. 6025. Publisher: World Bank, Washington, D.C.

PART 3. Future of Access to Finance and Fintech

- 5. Deuflhard, F., Georgarakos, D. & Inderst, R. (2015). *Financial literacy and savings account returns*. IMFS Working Paper Series No. 88. Publisher: IMF
- 6. Garg, N. & Singh, S. (2018). Financial literacy among youth. *International Journal of Social Economics*, Vol. 45(1), pp. 173-186.
- 7. Hira, T. K. (2012). Promoting sustainable financial behavior: implications for education and research. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, Vol. 36 (5), pp. 502-507.
- 8. Klapper, L., Lusardi, A. & Panos, G.A. (2012). *Financial literacy and the financial crisis*. Discussion Papers No. 03/2012-007, pp. 1-52. Publisher: NETSPAR
- 9. Ljumović, I., Lazić, J., & Vesić, A. (2015): Specifičnosti finansiranja u preduzetništvu, Ekonomski institut, Beograd, Srbija.
- 10. Lusardi, A. (2015). Financial literacy skills for the 21st century: evidence from PISA. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, Vol. 49 (3), pp. 639-659.
- 11. Thiessen, A (2014). *Financial behavior in the V4 countries using the global findex database*. Scientific Papers of the University of Pardubice. Series D, Facu, Vol. 21 (31).
- 12. Van Deursen A. J. & Van Dijk, J. A. (2010). Measuring Internet skills. *International Journal of Human Computer Interaction*, vol. 26, pp. 891–916.

3.3. ANALYSIS OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE IN BANKING AND PUBLIC SECTOR

Jelena Vapa Tankosić¹

Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management in Novi Sad, Novi Sad, Serbia

Snežana Lekić²

Belgrade Business and Arts Academy of Applied Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In order to gain and maintain a competitive position in the market, organizations must regularly monitor the performance of their employees. The objective of the paper is the analysis of employees' performance in banking and public sector in terms of their interrelationships and teamwork. By examining parameters of employees' organizational performance the authors have analyzed the employees' attitudes of based on their skills, synergies, innovation and quality.

METHODOLOGY

The research in this study was conducted by means of an anonymous survey that included a sample of four public companies and banking institutions in the Republic of Serbia. The respondents were asked to rate 32 claims on their interrelationships and teamwork performance on a five-point Likert scale. The final sample consisted of public employees 508 public sector and 478 bank employees. The data were analyzed by applying correlation, factor analysis in the statistical software package SPSS 19.0.

RESULTS

The findings on public sector employees' have shown that the interrelationships and teamwork performance are based on synergy, while in the sample of the bank employees the highest score was assigned to quality. Correlation was statistically significant in both samples. By means of factor analysis the authors explained variability among observed variables in terms of a reduced number of factors and

¹ Email address: jvapa@fimek.edu.rs

² Email address: snezana.lekic@bpa.edu.rs

PART 3. Future of Access to Finance and Fintech

their interrelationships. The findings show that the two samples studied had different factorial structures.

IMPLICATIONS

Human resource managers are recommended to evaluate individual parameters through more frequent employee surveys, so that in accordance with the defined goals, they can redefine their human resource strategies. The employees' performance could be enhanced by workplace learning opportunities and promoting the culture of quality interrelationships and successful teams that promote innovation. Additional training can improve employees' competencies and overall job performance.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The findings are expected to lead towards a deeper understanding of interrelationships and teamwork performance of public sector and bank employees and constitute useful guidelines for human resource managers. Achieving organizational goals is predetermined by the quality of employees' interrelationships and the efficiency of teamwork. In that way, the top managers could create greater employee loyalty and a sense of belonging to the organization which would decrease the intention to turnover.

CONTRIBUTION

These findings can create an opportunity for future research to consider performing a broader research as related studies could be conducted for other kinds of enterprises. As there are a few previous studies on employees' interrelationships and teamwork in the Republic of Serbia, these findings may be of special interest to various stakeholders. The empirical testing is a significant contribution to fill the much-needed gap in the literature towards performing similar studies in the future.

KEY WORDS

Public sector employees, bank employees, performance, interrelationships, teamwork

- 1. Aboelmaged, M. G. (2012). Harvesting organizational knowledge and innovation practices: an empirical examination of their effects on operations strategy. *Business Process Management Journal*, *18*(5), 712–734. doi: 10.1108/14637151211270126
- Bateman, B., Wilson, F. C. & Bingham, D. (2002). Team effectiveness development of an audit questionnsire. *Journal of Management Development*, 21 (3), 215–226. doi: 10.1108/02621710210420282
- 3. Certo, S. & Certo, T. (2009). *Moderni menadžment.* Zagreb: Mate.
- 4. Chesbrough, H. (2003). *Open Innovation: The New Imperative for Creating and Profiting from Technology*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- 5. Das, S. & Joshi, M. (2012). Process Innovativeness and Firm Performance in Technology Service Firms: The Effect of External and Internal Contingencies, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, *59*(3), 401–414. doi: 10.1109/TEM.2011.2157163
- 6. Dodgson, M., Gann, D. & Salter, A. (2008). *The Management of Technological Innovation*. Nex York: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Faems, D., De Visser, M., Andries, P. & Van Looy, B. (2010). Technology Alliance Portfolios and Financial: Value-Encancing Cost-Increasing Effects of Open Innovation. *Journal of Product Innovation Management, 27*(6), 785–796. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5885.2010.00752.x
- Kelley, D., O'Connor, G., Neck, H. & Peters, L. (2011). Building an Organizational Capability for Radical Innovation: The Direct Managerial Role. *Journal of Engineering* and *Technology Management*, 28(4), 249–267. doi: 10.1016/j.jengtecman.2011.06.003
- 9. Лекић, С. и Ерић, И. (2018). *Организационо понашање.* Београд: Београдска пословна школа Висока школа струковних студија.
- 10. Lekić, S. & Rajaković-Mijailović, J. (2017). Innovation as the basis of modern competitive companies. in: *Thematic proceedings / Conference Innovation, ICT and education for the next generation* (pp. 236–251). Novi Sad: Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management.
- 11. Moorhead, G. & Griffin, R. (2010). *Organizational behavior: Managing people and organizations* (9th edition). Boston, MA: South–Western Cengage Learning.
- 12. Porter, M. (2007). Konkurentska prednost. Ostvarivanje i očuvanje vrhunskih poslovnih rezultata. Novi Sad: Asee.
- Sahlberg, P. & Oldroyd, D. (2010). Pedagogy for Economic Competitiveness and Sustainable Development. *European Journal of Education*, 45(2), 280–299. doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3435.2010.01429.x
- 14. Lekić, S. & Vapa-Tankosić, J. (2018). Analiza finansijskog sektora s aspekta organizacione posvećenosti, *Kultura polisa*, 37, 465-475, ISSN 1820-4589, УДК 336:331.103.
- West, J. & Gallagher, S. (2006). Challenges of open innovation: the paradox of firm investment in open-source software. *R & D Management*, 36(3), 319–331. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2006.00436.x
- 16. Williams, C. (2010). *Principi menadžmenta*. Beograd: Data status,

PART 3. Future of Access to Finance and Fintech

- 17. Lekić, N., Vapa-Tankosić, J., Lekić, S. & Rajaković J. (2019). An analysis of factors influencing employee job satisfaction in a public sector. *E* + *M Ekonomie a Management, 22*(3), 83–99. doi: 10.15240/tul/001/2019-3-006.
- Ross, M. T., Jones, E. C. & Adams, S. G. (2008). Can team effectiveness be predicted? *Team Performance Management*, 14(5/6), 248–268. doi: 10.1108/13527590810898518.
- Doolen, T. L., Hacker, M. E. & Van Aken, E. (2006). Managing organizational context for engineering team effectiveness. *Team Performance Management*, 12(5/6), 138–154. doi:10.1108/13527590610687901
- 20. Coyle-Shapiro, J. A-M. & Shore, L. (2007). The employee-organization relationship: Where do we go from here? *Human Resource Management Review*, *17*(2), 166–179. doi: 10.1016/j.hrmr.2007.03.008

3.4. FINANCIAL STRUCTURE OF INNOVATIVE ORGANIZATIONS IN SERBIA

Grozdana Marinković¹

Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

Slavica Stevanović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

This paper aims to analyze the financial structure of organizations engaged in innovation activities in Serbia that are included in the Register of Innovation Organizations. The paper's specific objective refers to the assessment of sustainable financing of innovative organizations classified as development and production centres, research and development centres and innovation centres.

METHODOLOGY

The research methodology includes contents analysis and the financial analysis that is appropriate to the research goal. The paper provides a review of domestic and foreign literature related to innovation organizations' business and their financing. The research is based on the financial structure analysis of 68 innovation organizations in Serbia included in the Register of Innovation Organizations. The financial analysis basis is the publicly available financial reports in the Business Registers Agency for the period 2015-2018.

RESULTS

The analysis results based on aggregate data show that innovation organizations are predominantly financed by their own financing sources (75.4% in 2015; 79.3% in 2018), but approximately half of the individual organizations notice a higher share of liabilities in the total financing sources. The short-term liabilities are dominant in liabilities structure, with a tendency their decrease. Financing of registered innovation organizations by the Innovation fund of Republic of Serbia,

¹ Email address: grozdana.marinkovic@bba.edu.rs

² Email address: slavica.stevanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

PART 3. Future of Access to Finance and Fintech

the other state funds, and international financial organizations' funds to stimulate innovation is treated as short-term liabilities until the defined criteria are realized.

IMPLICATIONS

The authors contribute to the both, innovation organizations' literature and financial structure literature. The paper should be of interest to readers in academic areas, but also to all those engaged in innovation activities. The research results can be useful to various stakeholders - innovation organizations' management, policymakers, financial analysts, and researchers.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of this paper refers to assessing the financial structure quality of organizations in Serbia engaged in research, innovation, development, and marketing of products, services, and technologies. According to our knowledge, similar analysis was not realized in Serbia. The research is relevant because it provides information on funding sources for innovation organizations and the assessment of sustainable funding.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper presents a systematic research of the financial structure quality of organizations included in the national Register of Innovation Organizations. The presented results contribute to the consideration of different possibilities of financing development and production centres, research and development centres and innovation centres. The paper's special contribution is that the analysis is focused on the possibilities of financing innovation organizations from various sources to support innovation.

KEY WORDS

Innovation organizations, financial structure, funds, financial statements, Serbia

- 1. Bartoloni, E. (2013). Capital structure and innovation: causality and determinants. *Empirica*, 40(1): 111-151.
- 2. Beraha, I. (2019). Ocena inovativnih performansi Republike Srbije, *Ekonomski vidici*, 3-4: 137-151.
- 3. Caseiro, C., Simões, M.C. (2019). Business Sector Innovation and Economic Growth a Comparative Analysis Between EU Countries. *Economic Analysis*, 52(1), 1-22.

Grozdana Marinković, Slavica Stevanović

- 4. Casson, P.D., Martin, R., Nisar, T.M. (2008). The Financing Decisions of Innovative Firms, *Research in International Business and Finance*, 22(2): 208-221.
- 5. Czarnitzkia, D., Kraft, K. (2009). Capital Control, Debt Financing and Innovative Activity, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 71(2): 372-383.
- 6. Hall, B, H, (2010). The Financing of Innovative Firms, *Review of Economics and Institutions*, 1(1): 1-30.
- 7. Innovation Fund of the Republic of Serbia, available at: http://www.inovacionifond.rs/info/srbija-i-eu-partneri-u-podrsci-inovacija
- Kamberović, Ž., Rajić, D., Uljarević, J., Sedmak, A. (2015). Značaj naučnih inovacija za privredu, in: XI međunarodni simpozijum Istraživanja i projektovanja za privredu: 124-134, Belgrade: Institute for Research and Design in Industry.
- 9. Kutlača, Đ, Semenčenko, D. (2015). Nacionalni inovacioni sistem u Srbiji: prošlost, sadašnjost, budućnost, Belgrade: The Institute Mihailo Pupin.
- Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, Registar inovacione delatnosti, Spisak registrovanih inovacionih organizacija, available at: http://www.mpn.gov.rs/tehnoloski-razvoj-2/inovacionadelatnost/registar-inovacione-delatnosti/ [retrieved: 12.06.2020].
- Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (2016). Strategy on Scientific and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia for the period 2016 – 2020: Research for Innovation, available at: http://www.mpn.gov.rs/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/STRATEGIJA-naucnog-itehnoloskog-razvoja-RS-za-period-2016-2020..pdf.
- 12. Mosurović Ružičić, M., Semenčenko, D., Kutlača, Đ. (2015). Inovaciona infrastruktura za transfer i difuziju tehnologija u Srbiji, *Marketing*, 45(1): 36-46.
- 13. Official Gazette, Republic of Serbia, Zakon o inovacionoj delatnosti, No. 110/2005, 18/2010, 55/2013.
- 14. Philippe, A, Bond, S., Klemm, A., Marinescu, I. (2004). Technology and Financial Structure: Are Innovative Firms Different? *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 2(2-3): 277-288.
- 15. Serbian Business Registers Agency, Registar finansijskih izvestaja pravnih lica i preduzetnika, available at: http://www.apr.gov.rs_[retrieved: 15.06.2020].
- 16. Stevanović, S. (2015). Finansijsko strukturne promene privrede Srbije i zaštita poverilaca u uslovima finansijske krize, in: Strukturne promene u Srbiji: dosadašnji rezultati i perspektive: 347-361. Belgrade: Institute of economic sciences.
- 17. Vukelic, G., Belopavlovic, G., Stevanovic, S. (2016). Informative Power of Financial Statements in Serbia, in: Europe and Asia: Economic Integration Prospects: 265-276, Nice, France: CEMAFI International.
- Wilson, K. E. (2015). Policy Lessons from Financing Innovative Firms, OECD Science, Technology and Industry Policy Papers, No. 24, Paris: OECD Publishing, available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js03z8zrh9p-en.

3.5. INTELLIGENT DATA ANALYSIS OF COMMERCIAL BANK CUSTOMERS

Hasan Hanić¹ Sonja D. Radenković² Milica Bugarčić³

Belgrade Banking Academy – Faculty of Banking, Insurance and Finance, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Bank data scientists are facing two large challenges: how to capture the huge amount of increasing data and how to extract information for the bank concerning its customers which can help it to create an efficient strategy. The main objective of this paper is to investigate the characteristics of clients' data available to banks, as well as to what extent the artificial intelligence methods, such as machine learning and deep learning are being used in Serbian banks.

METHODOLOGY

The research uses the method of content analysis of relevant theoretical papers and empirical studies which are dedicated to the examination of different aspects of using artificial intelligence and machine learning methods and techniques for the analysis of big data available to banks thanks to the quick development of on-line banking, m-banking, and credit card payment systems. The empirical part of the research uses the face-to-face method of personal interview with 16 respondents (IT and marketing managers) coming from 8 out of 26 commercial banks in Serbia.

RESULTS

The results of the research indicate the following conclusions: the data available to banks are characterized by great quantity, great generating speed and rising complexity; besides the numerical data generated through banking transactions, banks also have at their disposal the soft, unstructured data based on which it is

¹ Email address: hasan.hanic@bba.edu.rs

² Email address: sonja.radenkovic@bba.edu.rs

³ Email address: milica.bugarcic@bba.edu.rs

Hasan Hanić, Sonja D. Radenković, Milica Bugarčić

possible to discover special patterns of client behavior and to create the efficient marketing strategies; the results of the interviews with IT and marketing managers reveal that the banks in Serbia do not use sufficiently the methods of artificial intelligence i.e. machine learning for extracting valuable information from big databases from the residential client sector.

IMPLICATIONS

Compared with traditional banking customer behavior analytics, big data-based banking customer analytics methods represent a superior analytical-predictive tool for modeling bank customer behavior, revealing the new profile, the degree of loyalty, the profit potential, customer classification into homogeneous groups and creating the platform for developing efficient marketing strategies. The superiority of the new analytical models derives from their capacity to use, process and analyze the soft data on bank customers.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Besides the original approach in creating the research plan, this paper contains the original data obtained by the authors by interviewing IT and marketing managers from 8 out of 26 banks from the Serbian commercial bank sector. The personal interview has enabled the authors of this paper to carry out a deep interview and to obtain the information regarding how much the usage of the technique of intelligent data analysis, based on the techniques of artificial intelligence and machine learning is present in the practice of Serbian commercial banks.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper findings indicate the differences between the traditional and contemporary approach in data analysis which are available in commercial banks. There is a special insight into the importance of soft, unstructured data, their sources, the methods of their safe-keeping, processing and analysis. Also, additional information has been pointed out which can be extracted from these data and used for finding client profiles, their identity, the pattern of their behavior, for the classification of clients into homogeneous groups and creating efficient strategies of targeting specific client groups.

KEY WORDS

Data analysis, artificial intelligence, machine learning, big data

- 1. Aasritha, M., Hemavathi, D., & Sujatha, G. (2020). Analysis of Improvisation of Customer Satisfaction in Banking Sector Using Big Data Analytics. In *Artificial Intelligence Techniques for Advanced Computing Applications* (pp. 371-380). Springer, Singapore.
- Bandara, O., Vidanagamachchi, K., & Wickramarachchi, R. (2019). A Model for Assessing Maturity of Industry 4.0 in the Banking Sector. In International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, Bangkok, Thailand, March (pp. 5-7).
- 3. Behari, S., Cater-Steel, A., & Soar, J. (2019). Data science and big data analytics in financial services: A case study. In *Web Services: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications* (pp. 1301-1329). IGI Global.
- 4. García, D. L., Nebot, À., & Vellido, A. (2017). Intelligent data analysis approaches to churn as a business problem: a survey. *Knowledge and Information Systems*, *51*(3), 719-774.
- 5. Hammoud, J., Bizri, R. M., & El Baba, I. (2018). The impact of e-banking service quality on customer satisfaction: Evidence from the Lebanese banking sector. *SAGE Open*, *8*(3), 2158244018790633.
- 6. Hassani, H., Huang, X., & Silva, E. (2018). Digitalisation and big data mining in banking. *Big Data and Cognitive Computing*, 2(3), 18.
- 7. Liua, M., Tripeb, D. W., Jianga, W., Liua, Z., & Chena, W. (2019). Does FinTech Increase or Reduce Commercial Banks' Risk-taking? Evidence from China's Banking Sector.
- 8. Liu, S., Tian, Y., Wang, M., & An, G. (2020). Internet Finance Innovation and Transformation of Traditional Banks in the Era of Big Data. *Financial Engineering and Risk Management*, *3*(1), 52-54.
- 9. Luo, G., Li, W., & Peng, Y. (2020). Overview of Intelligent Online Banking System Based on HERCULES Architecture. *IEEE Access*, *8*, 107685-107699.
- Kaur, N., Sahdev, M. S. L., Sharma, M., & Siddiqui, L. (2020). Banking 4.0:The Influence of Artificial Intelligence on the Banking Industry & How AI is Changing the Face of Modern Day Banks. *International Journal of Management (IJM)*, 11(6).
- 11. King, B. (2018). Bank 4.0: Banking everywhere, never at a bank. John Wiley & Sons.
- 12. Mehdiabadi, A., Tabatabeinasab, M., Spulbar, C., Karbassi Yazdi, A., & Birau, R. (2020). Are We Ready for the Challenge of Banks 4.0? Designing a Roadmap for Banking Systems in Industry 4.0. *International Journal of Financial Studies*, 8(2), 32.
- 13. Patil, P. S., & Dharwadkar, N. V. (2017). Analysis of banking data using machine learning. In 2017 International Conference on I-SMAC (IoT in Social, Mobile, Analytics and Cloud) (I-SMAC) (pp. 876-881). IEEE.
- 14. Sathi, A. (2017). Engaging customers using big data: how marketing analytics are transforming business. Springer.
- 15. Sinha, M. (2017). Artificial intelligence-banks in India. *International Journal in Management & Social Science*, *5*(7), 474-478.

Hasan Hanić, Sonja D. Radenković, Milica Bugarčić

- 16. Sun, N., Morris, J. G., Xu, J., Zhu, X., & Xie, M. (2014). iCARE: A framework for big databased banking customer analytics. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, *58*(5/6), 4-1.
- 17. Tang, S. M., & Tien, H. N. (2020). Impact of Artificial Intelligence on Vietnam Commercial Bank Operations. *International Journal of Social Science and Economics Invention*, 6(07), 296-303.
- 18. Wang, Z. (2020). Influence of Internet Finance on Commercial Bank Financial Services. In International Conference on Application of Intelligent Systems in Multi-modal Information Analytics (pp. 70-75). Springer, Cham.
- 19. Wang, M., & Yang, H. (2020). Research on Customer Credit Scoring Model Based on Bank Credit Card. In *International Conference on Intelligent Information Processing* (pp. 232-243). Springer, Cham.
- Yadav, S., & Thakur, S. (2017). Bank loan analysis using customer usage data: A big data approach using Hadoop. In 2017 2nd International Conference on Telecommunication and Networks (TEL-NET) (pp. 1-8). IEEE.

3.6. PREFERENCES FOR USING PAYMENT CARDS DURING COVID 19 PANDEMIC: THE CASE OF NORTH MACEDONIA

Fanka Risteska¹ Aneta Risteska Jankuloska² Marjan Angleski³

University St. Kliment Ohridski – Bitola, Faculty of Economics, Prilep, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Over the past few months, the coronavirus pandemic has changed the spending habits and way of payment or the use of payment instruments. Hence, the intention of this paper is to perform an analysis of the clients' adaptability and adoptability towards payment habits in these conditions of living. Since the Macedonian commercial banks have well developed infrastructure for conducting financial activities with payment cards, the aim of this paper is to examine the preferences for using payment cards, as well as the readiness and level of acceptance of this payment instrument by the clients' during the Covid-19 pandemic.

METHODOLOGY

The research was conducted with an anonymous survey questionnaire of 25 structured closed-ended questions that generally reflect the perception of respondents regarding their habits, safety and acceptance of payment cards before and during the pandemic. The collection of primary data was carried out electronically in the period from April 29, 2020 to May 21, 2020, the link to the survey was sent to more than 6000 citizens, and a total of 920 respondents responded voluntarily to the survey.

¹ Email address: fance.risteska@uklo.edu.mk

² Email address: aneta.risteska@uklo.edu.mk

³ Email address: marjan.angeleski@uklo.edu.mk

RESULTS

The results show that citizens generally changed their preferences regarding payment methods and the use of payment cards during the pandemic. This situation is due to the fact that most of the banks encouraged their clients to use various bank services without physical presence and some are result of the social distancing recommendations. However, the results indicate that there is still great scope for action by the banks in this regard.

IMPLICATIONS

The research can be a solid basis for further research on this issue, considering that our country and the whole world are facing with this situation for the first time. This will lead to an appropriate way of adjustment of the banking services on the onehandand protection of the citizens' health and respect of state recommendations on the other hand.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

In general, the paper is an authentic study with the original conclusions and recommendations presented through descriptive statistical analyses obtained from the answers in the survey questionnaire, as well as the results of statistical conclusion and the testing of statistical hypotheses for dependence between different indicators.

CONTRIBUTION

The research has great application value, while the recommendations and conclusions, despite being drawn from a case study, can be generalized. Therefore, the main recommendations are that banks should find an appropriate communication channel in order to properly inform their customers about the benefits they offer and also, they should identify the reasons for preferences in different categories of citizens and to offer appropriate educational campaigns.

KEY WORDS

Payment cards, preferences, banks, pandemic

- 1. Bolt, W., & Chakravorti, S. (2008). Economics of payment cards: A status report. *Economic Perspectives*, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 32(4), 15-27.
- 2. Hadžić, M. (2009). Bankarstvo. Beograd, Serbia: Univerzitet Singidunum.

PART 3. Future of Access to Finance and Fintech

- 3. Kripa, E., & Seitaj, M. (2015). Brief Survey on Use of E-Banking in Albania. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 4(2), 407-420. doi:10.5901/ajis.2015.v4n2p407
- Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Muñoz-Leiva, F., & Rejón-Guardia, F. (2013). The determinants of satisfaction with e-banking. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 113(5), 750-767. doi:10.1108/02635571311324188
- 5. Merrouche, O., & Nier, E. (2012). Payment systems, inside money and financial intermediation. *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 21(3), 359-382. doi:10.1016/j.jfi.2012.01.002
- 6. Sunith, C. (2019). Customer Satisfaction in E-Banking Services. *International Journal of Business and Management Invention (IJBMI),* 8(1), 19-24.
- Војновиќ, М К. (2016). Дигитализацијата и банкарскиот сектор: последни трендови, регулаторни и супервизорски предизвици и состојбите во Република Македонија. Retrieved June 28, 2020, from http://www.nbrm.mk/WBStorage/Files/WebBuilder_Digitalizacija_na_bankarskito_s ektor.pdf
- 8. НБРМ. (2020). Платежна статистика. Retrieved June 15, 2020, from http://www.nbrm.mk/platiezhna_statistika.nspx

3.7. ADOPTION OF MOBILE BANKING IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Marija Antonijević¹ Đina Ivanović² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Worldwide, the use of mobile technologies is rapidly increasing among people, spreading these technologies to the banking sector. The aim of this paper is to indicate which factors based on the technology acceptance model (TAM) have the highest impact on the adoption of the mobile banking application. Factors which were analyzed in this paper include information on m-banking, perceived usefulness, technological proficiency and conditions, perceived security, and perceived ease of use.

METHODOLOGY

In this research, we used the survey explicitly designed to capture factors influencing the adoption of new technologies in the banking sector. The population included young and middle-aged adults who currently use the mobile banking application. The survey was conducted in the period of June—July 2020. Factor analysis with the principal component method and varimax rotation was used to group defined questions into the five-factor structure. In order to predict the factors that influence the most on the adoption of mobile banking services, we used a binary logistic regression model. The dependent variable was the intention to use the mobile banking application in the future coded from Likert scale into binary classes: 0 - not sure about using in the future, and 1- sure about future use, while we used defined factors as independent variables.

¹ Email address: marija.antonijevic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² Email address: djina.ivanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Factor analysis identified five factors which are in line with the previous research (Lukić et al., 2019). The binary logistic model satisfied all assumptions. The goodness of fit was measured by R Square (33.2%). The statistically significant factors were "information on m-banking" (p=0.046), "perceived usefulness" (p=0.000) and "perceived security" (p=0.008). The research, however, found no statistical significance for the factors "perceived ease of use" and "technological proficiency and conditions" (with p > 0.05).

IMPLICATIONS

The potential for using mobile banking services in Serbia is high. Data from the Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia show that 79.8% of population access the Internet by mobile phone. This percent emphasize the importance of the use of new mobile technologies in the banking sector. The significance of the mobile banking services is also supported by the data provided from the National Bank of Serbia that show that the number of mobile payments in Serbia is increased for more than 3.5 times in the period of 2016-2020.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Having in mind the pace of technological revolution, the subject of this research is in line with modern science related to the adoption of mobile technologies. The researchers are making efforts to determine the factors that can predict intentions to use mobile banking services. However, in Serbia, only sporadic researches have been done. This research extends the scope of the previous research since this analysis included young adults as well as the middle-aged group.

CONTRIBUTION

Scientific literature covering the subject of the adoption of mobile services is sporadic, even in countries with developed financial system. This research should contribute to unveil factor that can predict intentions to use mobile banking services in the context of support to decision-makers from the banking sector to improve their services or to create new services that can meet customers' needs.

KEY WORDS

The banking sector, mobile banking application, adoption, TAM model, Serbia

Marija Antonijević, Đina Ivanović

- 1. Akturan, U., & Tezcan, N. (2012). Mobile banking adoption of the youth market. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 30(4), 444-459.
- 2. Alalwan, A. A., Dwivedi, Y. K., Rana, N. P., & Williams, M. D. (2016). Consumer adoption of mobile banking in Jordan. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29(1), 118-139.
- 3. Al-Jabir, I. M., & Sohail, M. S. (2012). Mobile banking adoption: Application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 13(4), 370-391.
- 4. Kovačević M., Pavlović K., & Šutić V. (2018). Upotreba informaciono-komunikacionih tehnologija u Republici Srbiji, Republički zavod za statistiku.
- 5. Luarn, P., & Lin, H. H. (2005). Toward an understanding of the behavioral intention to use mobile banking. *Computers in human behavior*, 21(6), 873-891.
- 6. Lukić, V., Čolić, L., & Prica, I. (2019). Perspectives and adoption of mobile banking in Serbia: The case of young adults. *Ekonomika preduzeća*, 67(*5-6*), 334-344.
- Munoz-Leiva, F., Climent-Climent, S., & Liébana-Cabanillas, F. (2017). Determinants of intention to use the mobile banking apps: An extension of the classic TAM model. Spanish Journal of Marketing-ESIC, 21(1), 25-38.
- 8. Shaikh, A. A., & Karjaluoto, H. (2015). Mobile banking adoption: A literature review. *Telematics and informatics*, 32(1), 129-142.
- 9. Soleša, K., & Brkić, I. (2019). Analysis of the mobile banking services market in the Republic of Serbia. *Ekonomija: teorija i praksa*, 12(3), 1-17.
- 10. Todić, M., & Dajić, M. (2018). Perspektive mobilnog bankarstva u Srbiji. Časopis za ekonomiju, 8(1), 19-36.

3.8. CROWDFUNDING: GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION IN SEE REGION

Ismail Musabegović¹

Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

Milena Lazić²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The importance of crowdfunding in today's business practice is tremendous taking into account that it represents very potent alternative to the traditional sources of financing. Crowdfunding represents one of the fastest growing industry all over the world due to its potential for both investors (or individuals) and businesses looking for funding. The purpose of this paper is to identify and describe the adequate investment model of crowdfunding in SEE region with special emphasis on Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

According to the purpose of this paper, standard desk research method and the analysis and comparison of the secondary data have been conducted in order to adequately describe the global and regional crowdfunding landscape as well as to identify main success factors, problems and challenges related to corporate governance, investor relations, reporting and risks and legal and regulatory hurdles of crowdfunding implementation.

RESULTS

One of the main findings is that fundraising success strongly depends on the attributes of the product or service, followed by selected aspects of the founders' motivation and commitment. Since 2017 there has been several attempts to establish crowdfunding practice in Serbia. The main constraint that has been identified refers to the deficiency of legal framework for crowdfunding establishment, followed by the lack of recognition of payments related to

¹ Email address: ismail.musabegovic@bba.edu.rs

² Email address: milena.lazic@ien.bg.ac.rs

Ismail Musabegović, Milena Lazić

fundraising by domestic banks and deficiency of legislative regulation of tax status of the received funds.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of the research conducted in this paper are primarily intended for the policy makers in Serbia, but also for the businesses in search for the new opportunities for fundraising. Paper also discusses the implications for investors and entrepreneurs as well as platform organizers and policy makers in SEE region.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Taking into account the raising popularity and the importance of crowdfunding worldwide, the paper puts an emphasis and provides a detailed description of the current landscape of crowdfunding in SEE region. Original value of this paper is found in analysis of constraints related to crowdfunding implementation in Serbia and provided recommendations for policy makers.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper provides extensive survey of the global crowdfunding environment based on the analysis of existing literature with special emphasis on SEE region and Serbia. Taking into account the scarcity of literature in this area especially related to domestic practice, the main contributions of the paper can be found in its actualization as well as policy recommendations.

KEY WORDS

Crowdfunding, entrepreneurial finance, startups, SEE region, Serbia

- 1. Agrawal, A., Catalini, Ch. (2014). *Some Simple Economics of Crowdfunding*, NBER: Innovation Policy and the Economy, Vol, 14(1), pp. 63-97.
- 2. Atanasijević, J., Tošić, B., Pavlović, O., Todorović, J. (2018). Reward based crowdfunding in Serbia: Analysis of practices and recommendations for improving the legal framework for greater social and economic effect, Working paper.
- 3. Babich, V., Marinesi, S., Tsoukalas, G. (2019). *Does Crowdfunding Benefit Entrepreneurs and Venture Capital Investors?*, Retrieved from: Does-Crowdfunding-Benefit-Entrepreneurs-and-Venture-Capital-Investors.pdf.
- 4. Belleflamme, P., Lambert, Th. (2014). *Crowdfunding: Some Empirical Findings and Microeconomic Underpinnings*. In: Forum financier : revue bancaire et financière, Vol. 2014, No.4, pp. 288-296.
- 5. Belleflamme, P., Lambert, Th., Schwienbacher, A. (2012). *Individual Crowdfunding Practices*, Retrieved from: http://hdl.handle.net/2078/127729.
- 6. Belleflamme, P., Lambert, Th., Schwienbacher, A. (2014). *Crowdfunding: Tapping the right crowd*, Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 29, No. 5, pp. 585-609.
- 7. Bruton, G., Khavul, S., Donald, S., Wright, M. (2014). *New Financial Alternatives in Seeding Entrepreneurship: Microfinance, Crowdfunding, and Peer-to-Peer Innovations,* Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice, Vol. 39(1), pp. 9-26.
- 8. Ellman, M., Hurkens, S. (2019). *Optimal crowdfunding design,* Journal of Economic Theory, Vol. 184, pp. 1-36.
- 9. Hemer, J. (2011). *A snapshot on crowdfunding*, Arbeitspapiere Unternehmen und Region, No. R2/2011 Working Papers Firms and Region No. R2/2011, Fraunhofer ISI, Karlsruhe.
- 10. P2P Market Data (2019). *Crowdfunding in Europe: Market Size by Country & Finance Model*, Retrieved from: https://p2pmarketdata.com/crowdfunding-europe/.

3.9. CONSUMER PROTECTION IN THE AGE OF INSURTECH

Klime Poposki¹

University of St. Kliment Ohridski, Ohrid, Republic of North Macedonia

Ksenija Dencic-Mihajlov² University of Nis, Faculty of Economics, Nis, Serbia

Desislav Danov³

Fintechguardian NGO, Sofia, Bulgaria

OBJECTIVES

Insurtech still does not enjoy a universally accepted labelling and content. In the same time it is bringing profound changes not only to the insurance value chain per se but to the whole insurance business model bringing certain concepts to obsolescence and creating plethora of new challenges.

The purpose of this article is to provide overview of the recent trends in insurance supervisory approaches on how innovations work and how they apply supervisory actions to safeguard the fair treatment of customers in advanced markets and lessons to be learn for proper and adequate response by the supervisory authorities in the region of the South Eastern Europe (SEE countries).

METHODOLOGY

The research is based on analysis of international scientific literature in the area of digitalization of the insurance industry and comparative analysis of the measures, undertaken by international and global insurance standard setting bodies. In order to investigate the attitudes of the supervisory authorities from the SEE and their views on necessary supervisory actions that should be taken for encouragement of the insurtech landscape, an interview and questionnaire will be used. Finally, the method of concretization will be used in order to strike a balance between

¹ Email address: klime.poposki@uklo.edu.mk

² Email address: ksenija.dencic-mihajlov@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

³ Email address: desislsav.danov@gmail.com

enhancing insurance innovation and ensuring a well-functioning consumer protection framework and financial stability.

RESULTS

The results of the research conducted within this paper suggest that the insurance supervisory authorities from CEE region has recognized the importance of insurtech development, that is in early stage of presence but in the same time acknowledge the urgent need for advance in preparatory work for supervisory and regulatory actions. The importance of this research and its results lies in the fact that the proper balance between consumer protection and insurance digitalization can move in parallel by adequate regulatory and supervisory actions.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this research are especially important for public policy makers since they encompass the measures and the effects of those measures undertaken in advanced countries thus representing a specific roadmap for decision makers at the insurance supervisory authorities among the CEE. This paper and its results are also important to map the insurtech ecosystem in the region, looking for key success factors as specific guidelines for their future endeavors.

CONTRIBUTION

The main contribution of this research lies in the fact that, to our knowledge, there is no available data on similar researches which are identifying and analyzing the key success factors in building favorable insurance regulatory framework and supervisory actions on insurtech development. To adjust to the digital age and foster innovation, supervisors need to balance the risks of new innovations against the benefits for policyholders and the insurance sector as a whole.

KEY WORDS

Insurtech, consumer protection, regulation, supervision, insurance industry

REFERENCES

- 1. Cappiello, A. (2018). *Technology and the Insurance Industry*. Palgrave Pivot.
- 2. European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority, (2020). (Re) insurance value chain and new business models arising from digitalization. *Discussion paper, available at: https://www.eiopa.europa.eu/content/discussion-paper-reinsurance-value-chainand-new-business-models-arising-digitalisation_en.*

Klime Poposki, Ksenija Dencic-Mihajlov, Desislav Danov

- European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority. (2019). *Big data analytics in motor and health insurance. Thematic review.* https://www.eiopa.europa.eu/content/eiopa-reviews-use-big-data-analytics-motor-and-health-insurance_en.
- Federal Insurance Office, U.S. Department of the Treasury. (2016). Protection of Insurance Consumers and Access to Insurance. https://www.treasury.gov/initiatives/fio/reports-andnotices/Documents/2016_FIO_Consumer_Report.pdf.
- Greineder, M., Riasanow, T., Böhm, M. & Krcmar, H. (2020). The Generic InsurTech Ecosystem and its Strategic Implications for the Digital Transformation of the Insurance Industry. In Mayr, H. C., Rinderle-Ma, S. & Strecker, S. (Ed.), 40 Years EMISA (pp. 119-132). Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V.
- Holliday, S. (2019). How Insurtech Can Close the Protection Gap in Emerging Markets. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/32366 License: CC BY-NC-ND 3.0 IGO.
- 7. International Association of Insurance Supervisors. (2018). Increasing Use of Digital Technology in Insurance Business and its Impact on Fair Consumer Outcomes and Conduct of Business Supervision. Issues Paper. https://www.iaisweb.org/page/supervisory-material/issues-papers.
- 8. Marano, P. (2019). Navigating InsurTech: The digital intermediaries of insurance products and customer protection in the EU. *The Maastricht Journal of European and Comparative Law*, 26(2), 294-315.
- 9. Swiss Re Institute. (2020). *Data-driven insurance: ready for the next frontier?*. Sigma report No 1. https://www.swissre.com/institute/research/sigma-research/sigma-2020-01.html.
- 10. Wilamowicz, A. (2019). The Great FinTech Disruption: InsurTech. Banking & Finance Law Review, 34 (2), 215-238.
- 11. Yan, T.C., Schulte, P., Lee, D., & Chuen., K. (2018). Handbook of Blockchain, Digital Finance, and Inclusion. Eslevier.

3.10. IDENTIFICATION OF THE SUCCESS FACTORS FROM INNOVATIVE FINTECH INITIATIVES TO THE BUSINESS MODELS

Dario Gechevski¹ Klimentina Poposka²

Institute of Economics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Financial technologies (FinTech), as benchmark of innovation and digitalization in financial services, leads fundamental changes in that sector enabling customers to access in faster and customer-friendly manner (Arner et. al, 2019). FinTech companies (FTCs) are the trigger for new era of fast-growing digital financial products & services (DFP&Ss) and operate usually as new startups offering own innovative products in payment, lending or crowdfunding. Identification the factors of FTCs' business model (BM) (Gomber et al, 2017) with highest impact on the venture success is focus of the paper.

METHODOLOGY

Research methodology has applied in two phases: analysis of literature for BM concepts (Chesbrough, 2017) taking into consideration their interconnection with information technologies (IT) applied in business processes, where identified four fundamental components are: value identification, value architecture, value network and value finance. In synthesis phase, the focus was digital innovative BM, specific for FTCs, with identified key components: customer value proposition, technologies of production and revenue mechanisms.

RESULTS

In the context of FinTech, BMs are developed around implementation of novel IT technology for producing customer centric DFP&Ss with different mechanisms for revenue generation. The scientific literature has not yet agreed on a universal

¹ Email address: dariogece@gmail.com

² Email address: klimenti@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

Dario Gechevski, Klimentina Poposka

success factors (SFs) for FinTech BMs. Based on analyzed FinTech BM components: dominant used technology, delivery channel, revenue stream, customer value proposition and P&S offering, this research have suggested six SFs: customer centricity, low profit margin, agility, scalable, innovative and compliance easy BMs.

IMPLICATIONS

FinTech startups have innovative BMs, eliminate intermediaries in financial system with agile organizations and reduce costs with digital technologies such as blockchain, cloud infrastructure, big data and complex algorithms. Financial industry has interest to invest in FTCs and finding SFs that can contribute in evaluation process of BMs relating FinTech venture success is more than useful tool for investors.

ORIGINAL VALUE

Theoretical analysis of key components for FinTech BMs and contribution in research of SFs, as open question in literature, are in line with scientific research gap for new high-tech venture. Numerous papers (Drover & Busenitz, L., 2017) have identified that product specific factors represent crucial determinants of venture success that rely on innovation to generate competitive advantages, as it is also the case for FinTech companies.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes in the field of research of digital innovation and their implementation as FinTech products in financial sector. Given that FinTech products are mainly results of FinTech startup companies, finding SFs for evaluation of FinTech BM in order to determine potential success of a FinTech venture, can be contributed through venture lifecycle.

KEY WORDS

Financial technologies (FinTech), digital innovation, success factor, business model

REFERENCES

- 1. Arner, D., Barberis, J., Buckley, R. (2019). FinTech, RegTech and the Reconceptualization of Financial Regulation. *Northwestern Journal of International Law & Business, 20*(2), pp.143-150.
- 2. Accenture (2015). Growth in Fintech Investment Fastest in European Market.

- 3. Bertoni, F., Massimo, G.C., Luca, G. (2014). Venture Capital Financing and the Growth of High-Tech Start-Ups: Disentangling Treatment from Selection Effects. *Research Policy* 40, 1028–1043.
- 4. Cai, H., Zhang, K., Wang, M., Li, J., Sun, L. and Mao, X. (2019). Customer centric cloud service model and a case study on commerce as a service. *2019 IEEE international conference on cloud computing* (pp. 57-64).
- 5. Chishti, S. and Barberis, J., 2016. The Fintech book: *The financial technology handbook for investors, entrepreneurs and visionaries.* John Wiley & Sons.
- 6. Chesbrough, H., & Rosenbloom, R. S. (2002). The role of the business model in capturing value from innovation: evidence from Xerox Corporation's technology spin-off companies. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 11(3), 529-555.
- 7. DaSilva, C. M., & Trkman, P. (2014). Business model: what it is and what it is not. *Long Range Planning*, 47(6), 379-389.
- 8. Drover, W., Busenitz, L. (2017). A Review and Road Map of Entrepreneurial Equity Financing Research: Venture Capital, Corporate Venture Capital, Angel Investment, Crowdfunding, and Accelerators. *J. of Management* 43, 1820–1853.
- 9. Gomber, P., Koch, J.-A., Siering, M. (2017). Digital Finance and FinTech: Current Research and Future Research Directions. *J. of Bus. Eco.* 87, 1–44.
- 10. Gulamhuseinwala, I (2016). UK FinTech An Evaluation of the International FinTech Sector. *Technical Report, EU*.
- Koch, J.-A., Siering, M. (2015). Crowdfunding Success Factors: The Characteristics of Successfully Funded Projects on Crowdfunding Platforms. In: 23rd European Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1–15. ECIS Proceedings, Münster (2015)
- 12. Mention, A., Torkkeli, M. (2014). *Innovation in financial services: A dual ambiguity*. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- 13. Nielsen, C., & Lund, M. (2014). A Brief history of the business model concept, McGraw-Hill Book.
- 14. Skan, J et al. (2018): Top 5 European Regions for FinTech Investment for Activity, *Report, Accenture.*
- 15. Siegel, G. (2016). Report for financial services in last 25 years, PWC.
- 16. Vermeulen, P. (2014). Managing product innovation in financial services firms. *European Management Journal*, 22(1), pp.43-50.

3.11. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE BASED MODEL IN THE PROVISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Jovanka Damoska Sekuloska¹ Ninoslav Marina²

University of Information Science and Technology "St. Paul the Apostle", Ohrid, Republic of North Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The application of Artificial Intelligence (AI) technology is changing the way of provision of financial services. As one of the FinTech innovations the AI technology has been disrupting the financial industry. The paper identifies the AI tools enabling the financial institutions to automate the processes and boost analytical capacities. The main aim of the paper is to create a model that will make visible the influence of AI technology in the provision of financial services.

METHODOLOGY

Al technology has been transforming and revolutionizing the process of providing financial services. The financial services represent a range of banking and insurance services, capital trading and investment management decisions. The paper analyzes the employmen of a variety of Al technologies in the provision of financial services. The main focus of research is directed to modeling the process of making the investment decision based on the Al systems of creation the knowledge.

RESULTS

The main result of the paper is the creation of a data-knowledge-decision model employing AI techology in the process of making an investment decision. The AI has transferred the process of making the investment decision into a data-driven process. The model embraces all sources and forms of data from the micro and

¹ Email address: jovanka.damoska@uist.edu.mk

² Email address: rektor@uist.edu.mk

macro-economic environment. On the base of data is created AI-based knowledge resulting in an investment decision.

IMPLICATIONS

The capacity of AI tools to perform cognitive tasks and functions are highly applicable in the financial sector. The proposed model in the paper suggests AI technology as an engine of getting insight into the available historic and real-time data of the micro and macro-economic environment. It will help the financial institutions and investors to enhance the understanding and prediction about the stewardship of the company in the highly dynamic internal and external business environment.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Cognitive technologies like the AI, add new value in the process of provision of financial services. The Data-knowledge-decision model presented in the paper makes visible the AI-based transformation process of making an investment decision.

CONTRIBUTION

The advanced technologies like AI empower the users and providers of financial services with valuable data and knowledge. The contribution of the paper is twofold. Firstly, it considers and analyzes the application of AI tools to a range of financial services. The most dynamic environment is overloaded with large amounts of data making it difficult for the investment decision process. The suggested model emphasizes the importance of AI tools in the process of gathering data, processing the information, and creation of knowledge about the potential investment decision.

KEYWORDS

Financial services, AI technology, Investment decision, model, data

REFERENCES

 Athey, S. (2018). The Impact of Machine Learning on Economics. In NBER (Ed.), The Economics of Artificial Intelligence (pp. 507-547). National Bureau of Economic Research Inc Retrieved from: http://governance40.com/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Athey.pdf

Jovanka Damoska Sekuloska, Ninoslav Marina

- 2. Bahrammirzaee, A. (2010). A comparative survey of artificial intelligence applications in finance: artificial neural networks, expert system and hybrid intelligent systems. *Neural Computing and Applications*, 19 (8), 1165-1195
- Bagherpour, A. (2017). Predicting Mortgage Loan Default with Machine Learning Methods, University of California, Riverside. Retrieved from: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a4e5/3d7255dd397da78242c4ad41213a404cb51e. pdf
- Bazarbash, M. (2019). FinTech in Financial Inclusion: Machine Learning Applications in Assessing Credit Risk. *IMF Working Paper* WP/19/109 Retrieved from: https://www.cutter.com/article/fintech-empowerment-data-science-ai-andmachine-learning-501881
- 5. Buchanan, B. G. (2019). *Artificial intelligence in finance*, The Alan Turing Institute Retrieved from: https://www.turing.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2019-04/artificial_intelligence_in_finance_-_turing_report_0.pdf
- Chan, C., Chow, C., Wong, J., Dimakis, N., Nayler, D., Bermudes, J., Raman, J., Lam, R. & Baker, M. (2019). Artificial Intelligence Applications in Financial Services: Asset management, banking and insurance, *Oliver Wyman*. Retrieved from: https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliverwyman/v2/publications/2019/dec/ai-app-in-fs.pdf
- CGFS & FSB. (2017). FinTech Credit: Market Structure, Business Models and Financial Stability Implications, Bank for International Settlements and Financial Stability Board. Retrieved from: https://www.bis.org/publ/cgfs_fsb1.pdf
- Danielson, J., Macrae, R. & Uthemann, A. (2017). Artificial intelligence, financial risk management and systemic risk, *Systemic Risk Centre Special Paper*, SP 13. Retrieved from: http://www.systemicrisk.ac.uk/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/SP-13.pdf
- 9. Das, S.R. (2019). The future of Fintech. *Financial Management*. 48:981–1007. Retrieved from: https://srdas.github.io/Papers/fintech.pdf
- Deloitte (2018). The new physics of Financial Services: Understanding how artificial intelligence is transforming the financial ecosystem. Retrieved from: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/financialservices/deloitte-uk-world-economic-forum-artificial-intelligence-summaryreport.pdf
- 11.Fernandez, A. (2019). Artificial intelligence in financial services. Economic Bulletin 2.BancodeEspana.Retrievedfrom:https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3366846
- 12. Financial Stability Board (FSB). 2017. Artificial intelligence and machine learning in financial services: Market development and financial stability implications. Retrieved from: https://www.fsb.org/wp-content/uploads/P011117.pdf
- Frame, W. S., Wall, L. D., & White, L. J. (2018). Technological Change and Financial Innovation in Banking: Some Implications for Fintech. In Berger, A., Molyneux, P & J.O. Wilson (Eds.), Oxford Handbook of Banking, 3rd ed. Retrieved from:

http://w4.stern.nyu.edu/economics/docs/workingpapers/2018/FrameWallWhiteban kinginno.pdf

- 14.Institute of International Finance (IIF) (2016). Digitizing Intelligence: AI, Robots and the
Future of Finance. Retrieved from:
https://www.iif.com/portals/0/Files/private/ai_report_copy.pdf
- 15. International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS). (2017). *Report on FinTech Developments in the Insurance Industry*. Retrieved from: https://www.iaisweb.org/page/supervisory-material/issues-papers
- 16. International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO). (2017). *Research Report* on *Financial Technologies (Fintech)*. Retrieved from: https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD554.pdf
- 17. Lessmann, S., Baesens, B., Seow, H.V. & Thomas, L. (2015). Benchmarking state-of-the art classification algorithms for credit scoring: An update of research, *European Journal of Operational Research* 247(1): 124-136.
- 18. Philippon, T. (2016). The Fintech Opportunity. *NBER Working Paper* 22476. Retrieved from: http://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~tphilipp/papers/FinTech.pdf
- Yuan, X., Yuan, J., Jiang, J. & Ul Ain, Q. (2020). Integrated Long-term stock selection models based on feature selection and Machine Learning Algorithms for China Stock Market, *IEEE Access* Vol. 8. Retrieved from: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp.jsp?arnumber=8968561
- 20. WEF and Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance, (2020). *Transforming Paradigms: A Global AI in Financial Services Survey. Retrieved from:* http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_AI_in_Financial_Services_Survey.pdf

CIP - Каталогизација у публикацији Народна библиотека Србије, Београд

330.341.1(082)(0.034.2) 338:339.137.2(082)(0.034.2) 336(082)(0.034.2) 001.895(082)(0.034.2) 004(082)(0.034.2)

INTERNATIONAL scientific conference Emerging trends in business economics: towards competitiveness, digitalization and financial innovation (2020 ; Beograd)

Book of abstracts [Elektronski izvor] / International scientific conference Emerging trends in business economics: towards competitiveness, digitalization and financial innovation, 28-29 October, 2020, Belgrade ; editors Isidora Ljumović, Vladimir Simović, Darko Marjanović. - Belgrade : Institute of Economic Sciences, 2020 (Beograd : Donat graf). - 1 elektronski optički disk (CD-ROM) ; 12 cm

Tiraž 200. - Preface / editors.

ISBN 978-86-89465-55-6

а) Привреда -- Конкурентност -- Зборници б) Финансије -- Зборници в)
Економски развој -- Информациона технологија -- Зборници г)
Дигитализација -- Зборници д) Иновације -- Зборници

COBISS.SR-ID 25105417



